
PLEASE NOTE: IN ACCORDANCE WITH ADA REGULATIONS, ANYONE WHO NEEDS A SPECIAL ACCOMMODATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE MEETING 

SHOULD NOTIFY THE PLANNING & NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT AT 704‐920‐5152 AT LEAST TWENTY‐FOUR (24) HOURS PRIOR THE 

MEETING. 

 

 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Tuesday, April 19th, 2022 at 6:00 P.M. Meeting Agenda 

City Council Chambers – 35 Cabarrus Ave. West 
 
 

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER – Chair 
II. RECOGNITION OF NEW MEMBERS 
III. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
IV. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES- Motion, second, and vote needed. 
V. OLD BUSINESS - NONE 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

 
 

1. Z(CD) -34-21 (Legislative Hearing) 
Brian Pace, Pace Development, has submitted a Zoning Map Amendment application for 
+/- 2.387 acres of property located at 10515 and p/o 10435 Poplar Tent Road from Cabarrus 
County LDR (Low Density Residential) to RV-CD (Residential Village Conditional District) 
in order to develop up to 11 townhomes as an expansion of the Skybrook Corners townhome 
neighborhood to the north.   PIN p/o 4671-73-1211. 
 

a. Open Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed.  
b. Staff Presentation  
c. Staff Recommendation  
d. Applicant’s/Proponent’s Testimony  
e. Opponent’s Testimony  
f. Close Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed.  
g. Approve Statement of Consistency by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed.  
h. Approve/Deny Zoning Amendment by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed.  

 
2. Z(CD) -07-21 (Legislative Hearing) 

Tyler Jones, Robinson Weeks Partners, has submitted a Zoning Map Amendment 
application for +/- 54.8519 acres of property located at 4208 Davidson Highway from MX-
CC1 (Mixed-Use Commercial Center Small) to C-2 (General Commercial) and I-1-CD (Light 
Industrial Conditional District) in order to create an undeveloped commercial parcel PINs 
5601-77-8447, and p/o 5601-87-7425 and to develop two (2) Industrial Buildings totaling up 
to 419,000 square feet.   PINs 5601-88-8181, 5601-87-9077, and p/o 5601-87-7425. 
 

a. Open Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed.  
b. Staff Presentation  
c. Staff Recommendation  
d. Applicant’s/Proponent’s Testimony  
e. Opponent’s Testimony  
f. Close Public Hearing by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed.  
g. Approve Statement of Consistency by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed.  
h. Approve/Deny Zoning Amendment by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed.  

 
 
 



PLEASE NOTE: IN ACCORDANCE WITH ADA REGULATIONS, ANYONE WHO NEEDS A SPECIAL ACCOMMODATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE MEETING 

SHOULD NOTIFY THE PLANNING & NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT AT 704‐920‐5152 AT LEAST TWENTY‐FOUR (24) HOURS PRIOR THE 

MEETING. 

 

 
VII. PETITIONS AND REQUESTS –NO PUBLIC HEARINGS REQUIRED PRESENTATIONS AND DISCUSSION   

 
1. TA-12-21 – Administrative Text Amendment to Concord Development Ordinance Article 7 

“Base Zoning Districts,” relative to Townhouse/Townhome regulations. 
a. Staff Presentation 
b. Approve Statement of Consistency by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
c. Recommend Approval/Denial to City Council by Motion - Motion, second, and 

vote needed. 
 

2. TA-03-22 - Administrative Text Amendment to Technical Standards Manual, Articles II and 
III (Streets and Pedestrian Paths and Driveways). 

a. Staff Presentation 
b. Approve Statement of Consistency by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
c. Recommend Approval/Denial to City Council by Motion - Motion, second, and 

vote needed. 
 

3. TA-05-22 - Administrative Text Amendment to Concord Development Ordinance Table 8.1.8 
“Use Table” relative to warehouse and freight movement and utilities  

a. Staff Presentation 
b. Approve Statement of Consistency by Motion - Motion, second, and vote needed. 
c. Recommend Approval/Denial to City Council by Motion - Motion, second, and 

vote needed. 
 
 

VIII. RECOGNITION OF PERSONS REQUESTING TO BE HEARD  
IX. MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 

 
 



Case Z(CD)-34-21(A) 

  1 

                                                                                                         Staff Report 
 Planning and Zoning Commission 
DATE:    April 19, 2022 
 
CASE #:  Z(CD)-34-21 (A) 
 
ACCELA CASE #:  CN-RZC-2022-00003 
 
DESCRIPTION:  Zoning Map Amendment from Previous 

  Cabarrus County LDR (Low Density Residential) to City RV- 
CD (Residential Village Conditional District)  

   
APPLICANT:  Brian Pace, Page Development 
 
OWNER:   Skybrook, LLC 
 
LOCATION:  10515 and p/o 10435 Poplar Tent Rd  
 
PIN#: p/o 4671-73-1211 
 
AREA:   +/- 2.387 acres for rezoing-.214 acre future right-of-way     

              separating 
 

ZONING: Unzoned (Previously County LDR (Low Density Residential) 
zoning expired) 

 
PREPARED BY:   Starla Rogers, Planning & Development Manager 

 

Note: Because this rezoning request is pertaining to a recently annexed property, a City zoning 
classification must be adopted. 

BACKGROUND 
The subject property consists of a portion of (1) parcel, comprising approximately +/- 2.38 acres 
located at 10515 and p/o 10435 Poplar Tent Rd on the southwest side of the Poplar Tent Rd and 
Huntersville-Concord Rd intersection.  A previously annexed future street/right-of way consisting 
of +/ .214 acres and zoned RV (Residential Village) splits the development. The property is 
owned Skybrook, LLC and is currently vacant.  The applicant seeks a rezoning to RV-CD 
(Residential Village Conditional District) for the purpose of constructing townhomes.  

HISTORY 
The owner of the subject property is also the developer of the various Skybrook neighborhoods 
within both Cabarrus County and Mecklenburg.  The +/- 6.6-acre property directly to the north is 
also owed by Skybrook LLC and is currently under development for a 52-unit townhome 
community named Skybrook Corners.  The project was developed by-right under the existing RV 
(Residential Village) zoning classification and was granted sewer/wastewater flow acceptance by 
City Council in February.  On November 10th, 2020, Skybrook LLC was granted annexation of a 



Case Z(CD)-34-21(A) 

  2 

50ft wide and +/- 188ft long strip of the parent parcel (4671-73-1211) in order to establish a 
future City street connecting the forthcoming Skybrook Corners development to the north with 
the stub street within the Parkside at Skybrook neighborhood to the south. The annexation was 
approved and the 50ft strip was subsequently rezoned to RV (Residential Village) in December of 
2020.  The applicant has now acquired the entire parcel and is processing a two-part 
annexation/rezoning request.  As can be seen on the attached maps, a portion of the parcel is in 
Mecklenburg County and is not part of the subject rezoning request.  It will be considered for 
annexation and potentially rezoning at a later date in accordance with the Annexation Agreement 
between Huntersville and Concord.  The 50ft right-of-way is also not part of the request and will 
remained zoned RV. 
 
Because this rezoning request is pertaining to a recently annexed property, a City zoning 
classification must be adopted.  Should the Planning and Zoning Commission decide to deny the 
rezoning request, an alternative zoning designation must be applied, giving consideration to Land 
Use Plan consistency. 
 
SUMMARY OF REQUEST 
The subject property is proposed to be rezoned in order to develop it as an expansion of the 
Skybrook Corners townhome project to the north.  As can be seen on the submitted site plan, 11 
townhome units are proposed on the Cabarrus County side of the parcel.  Three (3) additional 
townhomes are proposed as part of the project on area of the parcel within Mecklenburg County’s 
jurisdiction but are not under consideration by the City at this time.  No part of this rezoning plan 
or rezoning request pertains or applies to property outside the jurisdiction of the City of 
Concord.  The site plan has been designed so that if annexation of the property in Mecklenburg 
does not occur, all City standards regarding open space, density, etc is will be met on the 
Cabarrus County/Concord side, allowing the development to stand alone.  It should be noted that 
the site data provided on the site plan includes both information regarding the anticipated overall 
site data, including the portion in Mecklenburg County, as well as data solely pertaining to the 
subject +/- 2.3 acres currently under consideration.  The future street right-of-way is not propose 
dfo rezoning, however, all transportation and access improvements association with connection to 
the future street will be required to meet City Standards.  With regard to the proposal, only the 
site data addressing the portion within Cabarrus County is subject to review and possible 
approval.  
 
The subject property under consideration is +/- 2.3 acres, with 11 units at 4.2 dwelling units per 
acre (du/a).  At most, density would be 4.7 du/a if the future street right-of-way is included for 
calculation purposes only, given that the roadway has not yet been final platted and remains part 
of the subject parcel.  Because the future road is zoned RV (Residential Village) there are no 
concerns with calculating density based on either the 2.3 acres or the acreage including the future 
street.  The maximum density for the RV zoning district is 8 du/a. A minimum of 20% (0.52 
acres) open space is required and the applicant has indicated that 21.15% or .55 acres is provided.  
No specific detail has been provided as to how the open space will be utilized.  As can be seen on 
the plan, the majority of open space is located off the stubbed fire truck turn around.  Other open 
space is located within buffers and around the residential lots.  The location of the open space on 
the southwest side of the development acts as a buffer for a majority of the adjacent lot.  
Additionally, the SCM (Stormwater Control Measure) on the eastern side of the site also buffer 
the proposed structures from the home to the south. Standards for density and open space have 
been met. 
 
As proposed, the request also meets the CDO standards related to parking with 22 spaces and 
dimensional standards, including setbacks.  It should be noted that corner lots require two (2) 



Case Z(CD)-34-21(A) 

  3 

front setbacks.  In the case of RV (Residential Village) zoning, one setback would be 24ft and the 
other would be 20ft.  However, lot 59 is setback approximately 12-15ft from the sidewalk.  The 
applicant has designed the site with open space between lot 59 and the street right-of-way.  
Therefore, the setback would be considered a side yard setback resulting in a minimum distance 
of 7ft, as provided on the plan.  It is also noteworthy to mention that lot 56 is adjacent to the 
single-family detached parcels to the south.  This structure fronts on Ambercrest Ct., meaning lot 
56 is required to have a side yard setback from the adjacent lot line to the south. The CDO 
requires that properties zoned RV (Residential Village) or conditional district variations of RV 
(Residential Village), have a minimum side yard setback of 7ft.  However, the required Type A 
landscape buffer between developments takes precedent ensuring the building will be setback a 
minimum of 8ft from the property line.  The standard Type A landscape buffer is 8ft wide and 
must contain a minimum of one (1) shade tree every 100ft along with other plantings to meet 
minimum plant point totals. The Type A buffer is proposed long the entire southern property line, 
adjacent to the Parkside at Skybrook North single-family detached neighborhood.  Because the 
project is being proposed as an extension of the Skybrook Corners neighborhood to the north, no 
buffer is required between projects.   
 
The portion of the development on the east side of Ambercrest Ct., contains one building with 
three (3) units and the SCM (stormwater control measure).  Further east, along Poplar Tent Rd, is 
a 50ft wide Tyoe D street yard buffer. In accordance with the CDO, new subdivisions must have 
a Type D thoroughfare buffer which would be designed as either 50ft wide or, alternatively, 25ft 
wide with a 6ft tall berm.   
 
The property is surrounded by either developed property or developing sites.  RV (Residential 
Village property to the north is in the process of developing with townhomes.  The future street 
right-of-way is also zoned RV (Residential Village). Properties to the south, east and west are all 
developed with single-family detached dwelling and zoned RV-CU (Residential Village 
Conditional Use), RM-2 (Residential Medium Density), County LDR (Low Density Residential) 
or Huntersville residential.  Skybrook LLC, is the owner/developer of the subject site and is 
responsible for the other developments to the north, south, and west. 
 
In accordance with the CDO, all reviewing departments of the DRC (Development Review 
Committee) have signed off on the rezoning plan.  Should rezoning be approved, the next step 
would be for the applicant to apply for preliminary plat approval. It should be noted that the 
subject plan is not designed to preliminary plat standards and therefore, any intended or perceived 
deviation from technical standards resulting from the somewhat conceptual nature of the plan 
shall not constitute approval to deviate from, or negate, technical standards within the Concord 
Development Ordinance, Technical Standards Manual, or any other regulatory document.  Due to 
sewer capacity limitations at the Rocky River Wastewater Treatment Plant, it is now a 
requirement that projects obtain Preliminary Sewer allocation from City Council prior to the 
submittal of construction drawings.  Should sewer allocation be granted for this project, the 
applicant would need to ensure civil construction drawings are approved within one year of 
granting allocation.  
 
The applicant held a required neighborhood meeting on Tuesday, January 19th via Zoom. 
According to the summary, 18 neighbors attended. A summary provided by the application has 
been included in the Commission’s packets.   



Case Z(CD)-34-21(A) 

  4 

 
COMPLIANCE WITH 2030 LAND USE PLAN 
 
The 2030 Land Use Plan (LUP) designates the subject property as “Suburban Neighborhood,” for 
which RV and Conditional District variations are considered compatible zoning districts to the 
Land Use Category.  
 
Applicable LUP Guidance: 
 

From the 2030 Land Use Plan – “Suburban Neighborhood” (SN):  

The Suburban Neighborhood (SN) Future Land Use category includes single-family areas that 
are formed as subdivisions or communities, with a relatively uniform housing type and density 
throughout. They may support a variety of single-family detached residential types, from low-
density single-family homes to denser formats of smaller single-family homes. In areas 
designated Suburban Neighborhood, homes are typically oriented interior to the 
neighborhood and are typically buffered from surrounding development by transitional uses 
or landscaped areas. Single-family attached dwellings are an option for infill development 
within the suburban neighborhood future land use category. These neighborhoods are often 
found in close proximity to suburban commercial, office, and industrial centers, and help 
provide the consumers and employment base needed to support these centers. Lots at 
intersections of collector and arterial streets within or at the edges of suburban 
neighborhoods may support small-scale, neighborhood serving, pedestrian-oriented 
commercial or service uses such as coffee shops, cafes, beauty salons and light retail. 
Pedestrian oriented uses exclude uses with drive-in, drive-through or automobile related 
services. 

  
 
 

Existing Zoning and Land Uses (Subject Parcel) 
Current 
Zoning of 
Subject 
Property 

Zoning Within 500 Feet 
Land Uses(s) 

of Subject 
Property 

Land Uses within 500 Feet 

Unzoned 
(County 
LDR 
zoning 
expired) 
 
Note: 
Bisecting 
Future 
Street-
Right-of-
Way is 
zoned RV 
(Residential 
Village) 

North 
 
RV (Residential 
Village) 

Single-Family 
Detached  

 

North 
Single Family Attached 

(Skybrook Corners) 

South 

RV-CU 
(Residential 
Village 
Conditional Use) 

South 
Single-Family Detached 
(Parkside at Skybrook 

North) 

East 
Huntersville R 
(Single Family 
Detached) 

East Single-Family Detached 
(Parkside at Skybrook 

North) 

West 

Cabarrus County 
LDR (Low 
Density 
Residential) 

West 
Single-Family Detached 
Residential (Moorecrest) 



Case Z(CD)-34-21(A) 

  5 

Policy Guidance: 
Objective 1.6: Provide a diverse mix and range of housing options throughout the City 

that will accommodate the current and future needs of the citizens of 
Concord.  

 
Policy Guidance for Objective 1.6: 
 
ꞏ Infill Housing:  Promote a variety of compatible infill housing types in areas with access to  
adequate facilities and services.  
 
ꞏ Housing Balance:  Ensure that zoning allows for a mix of housing types at a variety of prices 
to meet the demands of existing and future residents.  
 

Goal 4: Ensure compatibility between neighboring land uses. 

Objective 4.1: Use a combination of land use transitions, intensity gradients, buffering 
and design to ensure that land use transitions are compatible. 

 
SUGGESTED STATEMENT OF CONSISTENCY 

 The subject property is approximately +/- 2.387 acres and is currently unzoned as the 
Cabarrus County LDR (Low Density Residential) zoning expired on April 5th.  

 
 The subject property was annexed on November 12th 2020 and is currently vacant. 

 
 The proposed zoning amendment is consistent with the 2030 Land Use Plan (LUP) as RV 

(Residential Village) and conditional district variations are considered corresponding 
zoning classifications to the “Suburban Neighborhood” Land Use Category. The 
proposed zoning is a comparable extension of RV-CU (Residential Village Conditional 
Use) zoning to the south and the standard RV (Residential Village) zoning bisecting the 
parcel, the RV (Residential Village) zoning to the north.  Furthermore, rezoning the 
subject property to RV-CD (Residential Village Conditional District) would permit an 
expansion of an infill single-family attached housing option not found within the general 
vicinity, implementing guidance detailed in Objective 1.6 of the 2030 Land Use Plan 
related to providing a variety of housing options. 
 

 The zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest as it would permit infill 
development of single-family attached dwellings with similar dimensional standards to 
the developing adjacent townhome development to the north.  The townhome housing 
type is not currently found within the general vicinity and thus the proposal would 
increase housing type options.  Property to the south is zoned for moderate density 
single-family detached. While the residential uses are classified differently, the 
conditional nature of the proposed zoning would limit the construction of buildings 
higher than two-stories ensuring visual compatibility between the single and two-story 
single-family homes to the south.   Finally, the proposal provides for either open space or 
an SCM adjacent to most of the southern property line.  The distance between the 
existing property lines and the proposed structures provides for a reasonable transition.  

 
SUGGESTED RECOMMENDATION AND CONDITIONS  
The staff finds the request is consistent with the 2030 Land Use Plan, and has no objections to the 
petition.   



Case Z(CD)-34-21(A) 

  6 

 
PROCEDURAL CONSIDERATIONS 
SUGGESTED RECOMMENDATION AND CONDITIONS  
The staff finds the consistent 2030 Land Use Plan and staff has no objections to the petition.  If 
approval is desired, staff recommends the following conditions agreed upon by the applicant: 
 

1. Compliance with Sheets RZ-1 and RZ-2 of the “Rezoning Case # Z(CD)-34-
21(A) Skybrook Corners Expansion,” with revision date of 4/12/22. 
 

2. The subject plan is not designed to preliminary plat standards and therefore, any 
intended or perceived deviation from technical standards resulting from the 
somewhat conceptual nature of the plan shall not constitute approval to deviate 
from, or negate, technical standards within the Concord Development Ordinance, 
Technical Standards Manual, or any other regulatory document.   

 
3. Driveway separation shall be a minimum of 10ft and all required Transportation 

improvements shall be adhered to in accordance with the TSM. 
 

4. No more than 11 units shall be developed as part of the current phase of the 
project. 

 
5. No portion of the project indicated on the Sheets RZ-1 and RZ-2 of the 

“Rezoning Case # Z(CD)-34-21(A) Skybrook Corners Expansion,” with revision 
date of 4/12/22, located outside the City Concord’s municipal jurisdiction is 
granted approval.  The .507 acres indicated in Mecklenburg County will require 
annexation and rezoning within the City of Concord prior to potential inclusion 
within this subdivision. 
 

6. Technical site plan review and approval is required including all approvals from 
outside local, state and federal agencies. 

 
PROCEDURAL CONSIDERATIONS 
This particular case is a rezoning, which under the CDO, is “legislative” in nature.  Legislative 
hearings DO NOT require the swearing or affirming of witnesses prior to testimony at the public 
hearing.   
 



Application for 
Zoning Map Amendment 

Owner Name, Address, Telephone Number:S __ k
=--
yb_ r_o_o_k_, _L_L_C _________ _ 

PO Box 38, Holly Springs, NC 27540 

Project Location/Address: 10515 and 10435 Poplar Tent Road, Huntersville , NC 28078

P.I.N.: 4671-73-1211

Area of Subject Property (acres or square feet): 2.894 AC (.507 Meck. Co. & 2.387 Cab. Co)

Lot Width: ..... 1
,_
9

.....,
3_• ___ _ Lot Depth: _._7_.1_...5_' _____ _ 

Current Zoning Classification: LOR (Cabarrus County) 

Proposed Zoning Classification: _R_V_-C_D _____ _ 

Existing Land Use: residential -vacant 

Future Land Use Designation: suburban neighborhood 

Surrounding Land Use: North townhomes 

East single family 

South single family 

West single family 

Reason for request: Ia develop the site with town homes in the same fashion as 

the adjacent site Skybraak Corners 

Has a pre-application meeting been held with a staff member? Held on 12/16 DRC 

Staff member signature: ____________ Date: _____ _ 

Planning & Neighborhood Development 
35 Cabarrus Ave W • P. 0. Box 308 • Concord, NC 28025 

Phone 704-920-5152 • Fax 704-920-6962 • www.concordnc.gov 
Page 2 of6 

Staff note: 2 part rezoning due to
pending annexation of .507 acres 

Staff note: Z(CD)-34-21(A) to include Cabarrus County property only - 2.387 acres (future ROW divides)/ 
Z(CD)-34-21(B) to include .507 acres in Mecklenburg IF annexed by City Council

Staff note: 2 part rezoning will require p/o PIN  and not full PIN - See Metes & Bounds

Staff Note: does not include 0.214 acre
for future street ROW not yet 
dedicated.  See metes and bounds



�

ORTH CAROLINA 

High Performance Living 
11111111111 

Application for 
Zoning Map Amendment 

THIS PAGE APPLICABLE TO CONDITIONAL DISTRICT REQUESTS ONLY 

(Please type or print) 

I. List the Use(s) Proposed in the Project:

Town homes

2. List the Condition(s) you are offering as part of this project. Be specific with each description.

(You may attach other sheets of paper as needed to supplement the info1mation):

See Sheets RZ-1 and RZ-2 for Skybrook Corners Expansion.

No more than 14 townhome lots.

I make this request for Conditional district zoning voluntarily. The uses and conditions described above are 

offered of my own free will. I understand and acknowledge that if the property in question is rezoned as 

requested to a Conditional District the property will be perpetually bound to the use(s) specifically authorized 

and subject to such conditions as are imposed, unless subsequently amended as provided under the City of 

Concord Development Ordinance (COO). All affected property owners {or agents) must sign the application. 

Sig re of Applicant Date 

�" 5�br°"/. Lt. C

Planning & Neighborhood Development 
35 Cabarrus Ave W • P. 0. Box 308 • Concord, NC 28025 

Phone 704-920-5152 • Fax 704-920-6962 • www.concordnc.gov 
Page 3 of6 

Staff note:  2 part rezoning.  No more than 11 townhomes in Phase 1.  See applicant's site plan dated 4/12/22



�OR<H CAROLINA 

High Performance Living 
■■111111111

Certi.ication 

Application for 

Zoning Map Amendment 

I hereby acknowledge and say that the information contained herein and herewith is true, 

and that this application shall not be scheduled.for official consideration until all of the 

required contents are submitted in proper form to the City of Concord Development 

Services Department. 

Date:_____.,{_. t
_
l{
_
,..
_
�
_
2-__

Applicant Signature: __ ___._n----;,F--=-��£--� .... �-"""'=zri.---------
r � ..... Slap:> ,-.,.Jc � {(!

Property Owner or Agent of the Property Owner Signature: 
9-e.�-xr 

Planning & Neighborhood Development 
35 Cabarrus Ave W • P. 0. Box 308 • Concord, NC 28025 

Phone 704-920-5152 • Fax 704-920-6962 • www.concordnc.gov 
Page 4 of6 







January 19, 2022 

To: Starla Rogers, City of Concord 

From: Scott Moore, Skybrook Project Manager 

RE: Community Meeting Minutes for Z(CD) 34-21 “Stinson Phase II” 

The Z(CD)-34-21 “Stinson Phase II” community meeting was held virtually on Zoom, Tuesday, January 19, 
2022 and was opened at 5:30 PM.  

In attendance, representing the Petitioners:  
Scott Moore – Skybrook Project Manager 
Brian Pace – Pace Development Group 
Matt Langston, Scott Wilson, & Steve Wilson – Landworks Design Group, PA. 

Representing the Adjacent Property Owners (Huntersville):  
Aaron Attwood – 15108 Skypark Dr. 
Brian Keith – 15120 Skypark Dr. 
Will & Deandra Henry- 15125 Skypark Dr. 
Michael Costello – 15138 Skypark Dr. 
Bradley Frazee – 15204 Skypark Dr. 
Holly Lyndon – 15216 Skypark Dr. 
Evelyn Cromartle & Joann Perry (Sisters) – 14832 Long Iron Dr. 
Chuck Parker – 14835 Long Iron Dr.   
Hal Bankirer – 17206 Linksview Ln. 
Wattie Bennett – 16612 Grassy Creek Dr. 

Representing the Adjacent Property Owners (Concord):  
Carrie Gibson – 10378 Ambercrest Ct. NW 
Darrin & Heather Hucks – 10409 Ambercrest Ct. NW 
Michael & Jacqueline Fackrell – 10424 Ambercrest Ct. NW 
Milan Bekich – 11345 Fullerton Place Dr. NW 

** All applicants identified themselves either by updating their name on zoom or through verbal conveyance. 

Scott Moore provided an overall review of Skybrook’s history and accounted for all the review processes of the 
Stinson’s property with the following highlights:  

o The petitioner is the original developer of the Skybrook community and golf course.  The approval
processes started in 1998 with Cabarrus County and the Town of Huntersville.  Over the course of 19
years, they assembled tracts totaling just above 500 acres and built 1153 homes with construction
concluding in 2017.

o During that timeframe, the developer also assembled tracts to the north of the Skybrook property which is
known as Skybrook North.  They are developing and have developed under four approved site plans
including the Villages, Parkside, and the Oaks at Skybrook North.  Their team also obtained approval
from the City of Concord to develop 52 town home lots in 2021 at the corner of Poplar Tent and
Huntersville-Concord Road which is known as Skybrook Corners.

o The current request for annexation and rezoning is for a 3.11-acre parcel that abuts single family homes in
Parkside on the southern and western borders.  The property has road frontage along Poplar Tent on the
eastern side, and is adjacent to the Skybrook Corners on the northern side.

Staff Note: Applicant held meeting and informed
neighbors of overall plan to include property in 
Mecklenburg County.  The subject rezoning
request does not apply to any portion of the 
parcel that is located outside Cabarrus County or 
the City of Concord.

rogerss
Text Box
Applicant's Neighborhood Meeting Document 



o As a part of this request, there are no proposed revisions to the previously approved Skybrook Corners
property.  Regardless of what transpires with the 3-acre proposal, the Skybrook Corners development will
take place.  From a historical perspective, the Skybrook Corners tract is zoned RV (Residential Village)
which permits townhomes by right.  The development team received preliminary plat approval in
February 2021 and started preliminary grading back in July 2021.  The goal of the development team is to
start back construction on March 1st, 2022 and start building townhomes near the end of this year.

o On November 12, 2020, the developer received annexation and rezoning approval from Concord City
Council for the Road Right of Way on the Stinson property.  This allows a public street connection to be
built from Ambercrest Court and to Cart Path Lane within the Parkside community.  During this time, the
property owners (who were Myra & Larry Stinson) were only willing to sell the right of way so the
developer could build the connector street but they had no plans or intentions in selling the residual land
on either side of the newly created road.  The developer learned late last year that Mrs. Stinson (co-owner
of the property) contracted Covid and sadly passed away.  Shortly thereafter, the family reached back out
to the developer indicating they were willing to sell all the remaining property to them outright.

o The developer looked at several of options for the 3.11 acre tract, but ultimately decided that extending the
development pattern of the Skybrook Corners approval would be the best option given current marketing
conditions and overall development costs.  The current proposal (on the Stinson property) is for 14 town
home units, with 7 units along the Ambercrest public street extension and 7 units on a private internal
street.  The eastern side of the project will contain the water quality basin and shall adhere to all of the
City of Concord requirements.

o One of the many concerns that residents typically have is how townhome projects can maintain the
existing standard and blend in with the aesthetic of the community.  The developer has experience and
success in integrating all housing types including within the existing Skybrook community.  When
reviewing the overall Skybrook development plan, you’ll see that their team has built 249 TH alongside
904 SF homes within 3 townhome phases in Skybrook community.  Two of these phases were built
internally at the very heart of the community, while the third was placed next to the main entrance.  The
developer stated that if they felt townhomes were going to be hinderance to the value of the community,
they never would have built them and wouldn’t have given them such a prominent location.

o Scott reviewed each of the three townhome designs and layouts in the Skybrook Community.  He
provided detail to the building design, location, and noted the high visibility within the community
including at the main entrance.

o Scott explained that one of the items that separates their townhome developments from other communities
is that they provide a HOA and dues structure that delivers upkeep for all the landscaping, the common
grounds, and the exterior maintenance of the buildings themselves including the maintenance of any
private streets that serve the residents.  This is the same approach that they took with all three of the
Skybrook townhome communities.  With many attendees of this community meeting being Parkside
residents, all of them share a common characteristic, and that is their home purchase within a Skybrook
community.  Part of that experience is buying into the community aesthetic that their team has built.  Scott
stated that their team is going to do everything they can to continue to uphold the brand and develop to the
Skybrook standard.

o Scott wrapped up the presentation and encouraged all attendees to visit all three of the Skybrook
townhome communities as they will see that their team is here to make sure a great product is provided in
a great community.  Scott opened the floor to questions.

rogerss
Text Box
Applicant's Neighborhood Meeting Document 



The adjacent owners in attendance provided the following questions and/or feedback: 

Q: This proposal will increase traffic internally along Ambercrest Court and we have safety concerns.  Can 
you provide any measures of traffic calming along this road? 
A: With this being such a short run of street we do not plan on providing any traffic calming measures. 
The Ambercrest public road extension provides access to both Parkside entrances, so there will be two 
ways for residents to ingress and egress the site.  The closest entrance to the bulk of the units will be on 
Huntersville-Concord Road and we anticipate that most traffic will be in that direction.  We have not 
received any feedback from staff that this would be a concern, however there would be a process to follow 
with the city should issues arise in the future, but since we are not anticipating any issues, nothing further 
will be provided at this time.   

Q: Was there a notice and public input process for the adjacent Skybrook Corners approval? 
A: The Skybrook Corners tract is zoned RV (Residential Village) and townhomes are a use allowable by 
right.  This means that all review processes are administratively reviewed and approved by staff.  There is 
no public review process, as a part of this review, that provides feedback as the zoning ordinance supports 
and allows this use by right.     

Q: Can you provide us with details on exterior elevations including facia, product sizes, pricing, and 
Landscaping?   
A:  Matt Langston (Landworks) explained the dimensions of the units on the site plans and the sizing of the 
driveways and placement of the garages for one and two cars respectively.  Scott had mentioned that 
pricing was still be evaluated but will likely fall in the $300,000 range.  The exterior elevations were also 
still under consideration and would be finalized during the construction review process.  Scott is happy to 
provide these elevations to the residents once all the details are complete.   

Q: Was there any traffic study conducted on the adjacent Skybrook Corners property?   
A: Yes, the developer hired a traffic engineer to review the site and provide the Concord Transportation 
staff and NCDOT their findings.  Given the number of homes (and related trips per day) being proposed, no 
other road improvements were warranted outside of providing a cross walk and pedestrian signal on Poplar 
Tent Road.  That will be provided during the construction process.   

Q: Can you tell us what the meeting dates for the annexation and rezoning and keep us updated if any 
changes are made? 
A: The annexation is on February 10, 2022 with City Council and the Planning and Zoning Commission 
will review the rezoning on March 15, 2022.  All of this was provided on the community meeting notice 
and Scott will provide updates to the HOA if changes occur.   

With there being no further questions, the community meeting was adjourned at 6:03 PM. 

All neighborhood meeting notifications, materials, and minutes were delivered to Concord Planning Staff on 
1/20/2022. 

rogerss
Text Box
Applicant's Neighborhood Meeting Document 



rogerss
Text Box
Applicant's Neighborhood Meeting Document 



rogerss
Text Box
Applicant's Neighborhood Meeting Document 

rogerss
Text Box
Applicant's Neighborhood Meeting Document 



RM-2

POPLAR TENT RD

MARTHAS VIEW DR

HUNTERSVILLE-CONCORD RD

AMBERCREST CT NW

SAMUELS WAY DR

FULLERTON PLACE DR NW

I-8
5

BR AN T LE Y R D

MO R E HE A D R D

ALE X AN D ER  RD

DE
R

IT
A 

RD

OD
E

LL
 S

CH
O

O
L 

RD

PI TT S S CH O O L RD

WIL SH I RE  AV E

ZI ON  C HU R C H R D

OL
D 

C
H

AR
LO

T
TE

 R
D

PLU M  R D

RO G E RS  LAK E  R D

RO C K H IL L CH U R CH  R D

LIN
C

O
LN

 S
T

MC G I LL AV E

TU
RK

E
Y R

D

CH U RC H  ST  N

NC
 3

US  H WY  29

PI TT S S CH O O L RD

P O PL A R T EN TR D

W
IN

D
Y 

R
D BO Y  S C OU T  C A MP RD

P
EN

N
IN

G
E R

RD

BR U TO N  S M I TH  B LV D

B RO
O KW

OO
D

AV
E

OA
K W

OO
D A

V E

BRA NCH V
IEW

D
R

S
E

TR IN I TY  C H U RC H  R D

B
URR

AG
E

R
D

N E

OL
D C

H
AR

LO
T

TE
 R

D

CO N C OR D M IL LS B LVD

CE N TE RG R O VE  RD

MA
LL

 D R
 N E

WAR R EN  C C O LE M AN  BLV D

W
IN

E
CO

F
F 

S
CH

O
O

L 
RD

C O PP ER FIE
L D

B LV
D

NE

TU
CK

A S
E E

G E
E R

D

CO
X

 M
I LL

 R
D

CA
BA

R RU
S  A VE

DA LE E AR NHA RDT
B LV

D

GE O R GE  W LI LE S PK WY  N W

LIT
TL

E 
TE

X
AS

 R
D

CO R BA N   AV E

MID
LA

KE
 AV

E

NC  136  M O O R ES V IL LE R D

IN
TE

R
NA

TI
O

N
AL

 D
R

NC  HW Y 49

RO
C

KY
 RI V

ER
 RD

RO B ER TA  R D

UN I ON  ST  S

NC  3

WE D DI N G TO N R D

CO
N

C
OR

D
 PA

RK
W

AY
 N

LAN E  S T

H
A R

RIS
RD

NC  HW Y 73

CO N C OR D  PK WY  S

US INTERSTATE 85
 S

NC HWY 49 S

MOORESVILLE RD

DAVIDSON HWY

S MAIN ST

ODELL SCHOOL RD

RO
CK

Y 
RI

VE
R 

RD

RA
NK

IN
 R

D

CO
X 

MI
LL

 R
D

UNTZ RD

PINE ST

EVA DR NW

E C ST

TOM QUERY RD

AZALEA AVE

STALLINGS RD

²
0 15075

Feet

Subject Property
Parcels
City of Concord
County Line

10515 Poplar Tent Rd
PIN: 4671-73-1211 (part of)

Subject
Property

Z(CD)-34-21
AERIAL

Rezoning application from
Cabarrus County LDR

(Low Density Residential)
to

RV-CD (Residential Village
- Conditional District)



RV

RV-CU

RM-2

RM-2-CU

R

TR(CD)

County LDR

County LDR

POPLAR TENT RD
AMBERCREST CT NW

MARTHAS VIEW DR

HUNTERSVILLE-CONCORD RD

SAMUELS WAY DR

BYRUM WAY ST

MARTHAS VIEW DR NW

FULLERTON PLACE DR NW

FULLERTON PL NW

FULLERTON PLACE DR NW

I-8
5

BR AN T LE Y R D

MO R E HE A D R D

ALE X AN D ER  RD

DE
R

IT
A 

RD

OD
E

LL
 S

CH
O

O
L 

RD

PI TT S S CH O O L RD

WIL SH I RE  AV E

ZI ON  C HU R C H R D

OL
D 

C
H

AR
LO

T
TE

 R
D

PLU M  R D

RO G E RS  LAK E  R D

RO C K H IL L CH U R CH  R D

LIN
C

O
LN

 S
T

MC G I LL AV E

TU
RK

E
Y R

D

CH U RC H  ST  N

NC
 3

US  H WY  29

PI TT S S CH O O L RD

P O PL A R T EN TR D

W
IN

D
Y 

R
D BO Y  S C OU T  C A MP RD

P
EN

N
IN

G
E R

RD

BR U TO N  S M I TH  B LV D

B RO
O KW

OO
D

AV
E

OA
K W

OO
D A

V E

BRA NCH V
IEW

D
R

S
E

TR IN I TY  C H U RC H  R D

B
URR

AG
E

R
D

N E

OL
D C

H
AR

LO
T

TE
 R

D

CO N C OR D M IL LS B LVD

CE N TE RG R O VE  RD

MA
LL

 D R
 N E

WAR R EN  C C O LE M AN  BLV D

W
IN

E
CO

F
F 

S
CH

O
O

L 
RD

C O PP ER FIE
L D

B LV
D

NE

TU
CK

A S
E E

G E
E R

D

CO
X

 M
I LL

 R
D

CA
BA

R RU
S  A VE

DA LE E AR NHA RDT
B LV

D

GE O R GE  W LI LE S PK WY  N W

LIT
TL

E 
TE

X
AS

 R
D

CO R BA N   AV E

MID
LA

KE
 AV

E

NC  136  M O O R ES V IL LE R D

IN
TE

R
NA

TI
O

N
AL

 D
R

NC  HW Y 49

RO
C

KY
 RI V

ER
 RD

RO B ER TA  R D

UN I ON  ST  S

NC  3

WE D DI N G TO N R D

CO
N

C
OR

D
 PA

RK
W

AY
 N

LAN E  S T

H
A R

RIS
RD

NC  HW Y 73

CO N C OR D  PK WY  S

US INTERSTATE 85
 S

NC HWY 49 S

MOORESVILLE RD

DAVIDSON HWY

S MAIN ST

ODELL SCHOOL RD

RO
CK

Y 
RI

VE
R 

RD

RA
NK

IN
 R

D

CO
X 

MI
LL

 R
D

UNTZ RD

PINE ST

EVA DR NW

E C ST

TOM QUERY RD

AZALEA AVE

STALLINGS RD

²
0 200100

Feet

Subject Property
Parcels

Zoning
RM-2
RM-2-CU
RV
RV-CU
not-yet-zoned

County Zoning
LDR

Huntersville Zoning
R
TR(CD)
City of Concord
County Line

10515 Poplar Tent Rd
PIN: 4671-73-1211 (part of)Subject

Property

Z(CD)-34-21
ZONING

Rezoning application from
Cabarrus County LDR

(Low Density Residential)
to

RV-CD (Residential Village
- Conditional District)



Suburban Neighborhood

POPLAR TENT RD
AMBERCREST CT NW

MARTHAS VIEW DR

HUNTERSVILLE-CONCORD RD

SAMUELS WAY DR

BYRUM WAY ST

MARTHAS VIEW DR NW

FULLERTON PLACE DR NW

FULLERTON PL NW

FULLERTON PLACE DR NW

I-8
5

BR AN T LE Y R D

MO R E HE A D R D

ALE X AN D ER  RD

DE
R

IT
A 

RD

OD
E

LL
 S

CH
O

O
L 

RD

PI TT S S CH O O L RD

WIL SH I RE  AV E

ZI ON  C HU R C H R D

OL
D 

C
H

AR
LO

T
TE

 R
D

PLU M  R D

RO G E RS  LAK E  R D

RO C K H IL L CH U R CH  R D

LIN
C

O
LN

 S
T

MC G I LL AV E

TU
RK

E
Y R

D

CH U RC H  ST  N

NC
 3

US  H WY  29

PI TT S S CH O O L RD

P O PL A R T EN TR D

W
IN

D
Y 

R
D BO Y  S C OU T  C A MP RD

P
EN

N
IN

G
E R

RD

BR U TO N  S M I TH  B LV D

B RO
O KW

OO
D

AV
E

OA
K W

OO
D A

V E

BRA NCH V
IEW

D
R

S
E

TR IN I TY  C H U RC H  R D

B
URR

AG
E

R
D

N E

OL
D C

H
AR

LO
T

TE
 R

D

CO N C OR D M IL LS B LVD

CE N TE RG R O VE  RD

MA
LL

 D R
 N E

WAR R EN  C C O LE M AN  BLV D

W
IN

E
CO

F
F 

S
CH

O
O

L 
RD

C O PP ER FIE
L D

B LV
D

NE

TU
CK

A S
E E

G E
E R

D

CO
X

 M
I LL

 R
D

CA
BA

R RU
S  A VE

DA LE E AR NHA RDT
B LV

D

GE O R GE  W LI LE S PK WY  N W

LIT
TL

E 
TE

X
AS

 R
D

CO R BA N   AV E

MID
LA

KE
 AV

E

NC  136  M O O R ES V IL LE R D

IN
TE

R
NA

TI
O

N
AL

 D
R

NC  HW Y 49

RO
C

KY
 RI V

ER
 RD

RO B ER TA  R D

UN I ON  ST  S

NC  3

WE D DI N G TO N R D

CO
N

C
OR

D
 PA

RK
W

AY
 N

LAN E  S T

H
A R

RIS
RD

NC  HW Y 73

CO N C OR D  PK WY  S

US INTERSTATE 85
 S

NC HWY 49 S

MOORESVILLE RD

DAVIDSON HWY

S MAIN ST

ODELL SCHOOL RD

RO
CK

Y 
RI

VE
R 

RD

RA
NK

IN
 R

D

CO
X 

MI
LL

 R
D

UNTZ RD

PINE ST

EVA DR NW

E C ST

TOM QUERY RD

AZALEA AVE

STALLINGS RD

²
0 200100

Feet

Subject Property
City of Concord
County Line
Parcels

Land Use Plan
Suburban Neighborhood

10515 Poplar Tent Rd
PIN: 4671-73-1211 (part of)Subject

Property

Z(CD)-34-21
LAND USE PLAN

Rezoning application from
Cabarrus County LDR

(Low Density Residential)
to

RV-CD (Residential Village
- Conditional District)



Page | 1 
 

 
 Staff Report 
______________________________________________        Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
 
DATE:                                                           April 19th, 2022 
 
DESCRIPTION:                                              Zoning Map Amendment from City of Concord MX-

CC2 (Mixed Use - Commercial Center Large 
District) to C-2 and I-1-CD (General Commercial and 
Light Industrial Conditional District) 

 
CASE NUMBER:               Z (CD)-07-21          
 
APPLICANTS Tyler Jones, Robinson Weeks Partners 
 
LOCATION:   4208 and 4515 Davidson Hwy 
 
PARCEL PIN: PINs 5601-77-8447, 5601-88-8181, 5601-87-9077 and 5601-

87-7425 
 
AREA:      +/-54.8519 Acres 
 
ZONING:                                                      MX-CC2 (Mixed Use-Commercial Center Large) 
        
REPORT PREPARED BY:  Kristen Boyd-Sullivan, Senior Planner 
 
BACKGROUND 
  
The subject property is located on the north side of Davidson Highway (also referred to as Highway 
73), just east of the I-85 interchange, and is +/- 54.8519 acres.  It lies along the Highway 73 
Corridor, at the northeast corner of International Drive and Highway 73.   The International 
Business Park is located in close proximity to the southwest, as well as I-85, which also borders 
the projects’ northern boundary.  The property is currently vacant. 
    
HISTORY 
The subject property was annexed into the City on June 30, 1992 as part of a City initiated 
annexation. After annexation, the property was administratively zoned a combination of Residential 
Medium and High Density (R-3 and R-4).  After the adoption of the Concord Development 
Ordinance in 2000, the R-3 and R-4 zonings became RC and RV zoning, which is their functional 
equivalent.   A portion of the property was rezoned to Conditional Use Light Industrial (CUI-1) at 
some point after 1995, however the staff could not locate background information on that zoning 
case.  
 
On August 21, 2007, a rezoning request from CUI-1 (Light Industrial Conditional Use), RV 
(Residential Village) and RC (Residential Compact) to Mixed Use – Commercial Center Large 
(MX-CC2) was approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission (Case Z(CD)-33-07). The 
approved plan proposed a mixed-use development comprised of approximately 250,000 square feet 



Page | 2 
 

of office and 250,000 square feet of commercial uses.   Due to the economic climate following the 
approval of the 2007 rezoning to MX-CC2, the proposed development was never constructed. 
 
The previously approved site plan, conditions and design standards are included with this staff 
report.  
 
SUMMARY OF REQUEST 
The applicant is requesting a rezoning of the subject property from Mixed-Use Commercial Center 
Large (MX-CC2) to Light Industrial Conditional District (I-1-CD) and General Commercial (C-2) 
for a proposed Industrial Development (on 49.8510 Acres), and 5.0009 acres designated for a 
General Commercial (C-2) parcel. There are no proposed plans for the proposed C-2 parcel at this 
time, and since the C-2 parcel is not a conditional district, any uses allowed in the C-2 zoning 
district would be permitted if the rezoning is approved. Any development of the site would be 
required to meet all applicable standards of the CDO as well as the Technical Standards Manual. 
 
As part of the conditional district rezoning, a detailed site plan, elevations, list of prohibited uses 
as well as development conditions have been provided for the I-1-CD portion. According to the 
applicant, an office, warehouse, distribution and light industrial business park are the possible uses 
for the development.  These uses are all permissible within the I-1 zoning district. However, if the 
applicant does decide to move forward with warehousing and distribution as previously 
indicated, a Special Use Permit would be required.  Warehouse and distribution facilities 
are only permitted within I-1 zoning classifications with the issuance of a Special Use 
Permit from the Planning and Zoning Commission.  It should be noted that the City has 
received an application for a Special Use Permit for the portion of the subject site requested 
for I1-CD zoning, including a site plan and elevations that adhere to the current zoning 
petition.  The Special Use Permit public hearing cannot be heard until after a rezoning to 
I-1 becomes effective.  It is possible that a Special Use Permit could be heard, if the 
rezoning is approved and becomes effective by then next Planning and Zoning Commission 
meeting in May.  However, the applicant has not officially indicated whether they intend 
to move forward with the Special Use Permit request, delay it, or withdraw the petition. 
 
 
SITE DETAILS 
As depicted on the submitted site plan, two (2) Industrial Buildings, Building A (+/- 178,500 sq. 
ft.) and Building B (+/- 240,500 sq. ft.), associated parking, loading areas, two (2) amenity areas, 
and landscape buffers are proposed for the I-1-CD portion of the project.  The site has quite a bit 
of topography which will result in the front building (Building “B”) sitting approximately 15-20’ 
below the elevation of Hwy 73, as well as the single-family neighborhood to the east (Cambridge 
Commons).  Therefore, parking areas and internal roads will be less visible, and noise as well as 
ambient light may lessened by the lower elevation. The second building at the back of the site 
(Building “A”), will sit at a higher elevation, with more visibility from I-85 than Hwy 73.  The 
building is oriented toward the northwest portion of the site, further from the adjacent residential 
uses.  A stream with undisturbed buffers provides additional buffering and separation from the front 
of the site along Hwy 73.   
 
As this is a conditional rezoning request, the applicant is proposing additional enhancements for 
the project.  The previous approval included a condition to provide a 50’ Class “D” buffer along 
the property boundary shared with Cambridge Commons. This condition has been modified to 
include all vegetation 8” in caliper or greater within the 50’ buffer to be preserved where indicated 
on the plan.  The condition further states that the developer will meet with the City Arborist (or 



Page | 3 
 

authorized designee) to tag all trees 8” in caliper or greater in these buffer areas and to establish 
limits of disturbance for the east perimeter. There are two (2) areas within the 50’ Type D buffer 
where grading may interfere with this condition, and these two areas are depicted on the 
accompanied site plan.  As requested by staff, a section drawing illustrating the proposed Type D 
buffer between the proposed development and the Cambridge Commons Subdivision is provided 
on the site plan.  Existing vegetation that does not meet the requirements for a Type D buffer will 
be supplemented with evergreen trees and shrubs.  
 
In addition to the standard parking lot and street yard requirements along Hwy 73, a 4’ tall black 
powder-coated aluminum decorative fence with evergreen shrubs planted 5’ O.C. on the street-side 
of the fence will be installed between the street yard and parking lot yard. Two (2) employee 
amenity areas are depicted on the plans, which include, at a minimum, benches and picnic tables. 
The development also preserves a good amount of open space, although not required for Industrial 
Zoning.  Maximum impervious area for I-1 zoning is 80%, while the proposed impervious area for 
this development is shown as 42.8%, almost half of what is allowable.  
 
ELEVATIONS 
The submitted elevations which accompany this staff report specify primarily tilt-up scored 
concrete in contrasting vertical pattern along the front facades, metal panel accents, metal awnings, 
glass windows and doors at the main entrances of the two buildings.  All elevations meet the C.D.O. 
standards as required in Article 7.11.  The proposed buildings are proposed to be a maximum of 
50’ in height, while the maximum building height in I-1 allows up to 72 feet.  
 
TRAFFIC MITIGATION 
Traffic continues to be a concern with residents and commuters who travel Highway 73, and was 
also brought up at the neighborhood meeting. The TIA has been approved by Transportation  for 
the Industrial portion only. According to the “Transportation Mitigation Agreement” as part of the 
Traffic Impact Analysis, improvements include: 
 

 Construct a southbound right-turn lane with 150 of storage on Rhylma Place/International 
Drive. 

 Construct/stripe the southbound approach of Westgate Circle to contain a single ingress 
lane, a single egress lane, stop control and a 100-internally protected stem.  Construct a 
westbound right-turn lane with 100 feet of storage.  

 
Phase II, which includes the development of the C-2 parcel, will require a separate approval at the 
time of development, and will require the Phase II mitigation requirements to be completed at that 
time. It is not clear if Hwy 73 will be widened in these areas to accommodate the any turn lanes, 
however, any improvements are required to meet all NCDOT and City technical requirements. 
Westgate Circle will be a full movement intersection with a stop sign, not a traffic signal.  As 
discussed with previous rezoning proposals off of Highway 73, the NCDOT widening project 
schedule appears to be quite fluid, and there does not appear to be a definite start date for any future 
widening, so it is imperative that this project does not impede traffic any further.  
 
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING 
As required per the C.D.O., the applicant chose to hold a neighborhood meeting via ZOOM on 
Tuesday, November 30, 2021 at 6:30 p.m.  According to the applicant, five (5) representatives from 
the developer were in attendance, with seven (7) attendees not associated with the development 
team.  Two (2) of the attendees posed questions/concerns regarding the landscape buffer (or lack 
thereof) between the proposed development and the Cambridge Commons Subdivision, as well as 
traffic concerns.  The primary concern of one of the attendees was the potential for noise from 



Page | 4 
 

tractor trailers, and lights, and general overall buffering between this proposed use and the 
residential homes to the east.  Concerns around traffic included the question about an additional 
traffic signal for the second (easterly) entrance.   
 

 
   

Existing Zoning and Land Uses 

Zoning of 
Subject 

Property 
Zoning Within 500 Feet 

Land 
Uses(s) of 
Subject 

Property 

Land Uses Within 500 Feet 

 
Residential 

Village (RV), 
Residential 
Compact 

(RC), 
Conditional 
Use Light 
Industrial 
(CU-I1) 

North 
General 
Commercial (C-2) 

 
Vacant 

North Interstate Highway 85 

East Residential 
Compact (RC), 
Residential Village 
(RV) 

East 
Single Family 
Detached Residential 

South General 
Commercial (C-2), 
General 
Commercial 
Conditional 
District (C-2-CD) 
Residential Village 
(RV), Planned 
Unit Development 
(PUD), 
Conditional Use 
Residential 
Compact (CU-RC) 

South 

Multi-family, 
Townhomes, Mobile 
Homes, Large Lot 
Single Family 
Residential 

West General 
Commercial (C-2) 

West Commercial 

 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH 2030 LAND USE PLAN 
 
The 2030 Land Use Plan (LUP) designates the subject property as a “Industrial Employment” for 
which the I-1 (Light Industrial) and C-2 (General Commercial) are listed as corresponding zoning 
districts to the Land Use Category.  
 
 Industrial/Employment Land Use Category Details: 

The intent of the Industrial/Employment (IE) Future Land Use category is to identify those areas 
that have either already developed as industrial or are suited for additional industrial development 
due to the presence of infrastructure and access to transportation routes, such as major highways 
and railroads.  These industrial areas should be preserved for employment uses to generate jobs 
for the community.  

Industrial uses have already developed in several areas throughout the community, most of which 
are light industrial in function and impact. The 2030 Plan identifies the need to protect industrial 
lands, and to encourage additional growth in industrial/employment uses in designated areas, 



Page | 5 
 

particularly around Concord Regional Airport, and along I-85 between Pitts School Road and 
Rocky River. Additionally, some light industrial/employment uses are encouraged to locate in 
Mixed-Use Districts, depending upon their intensity, as identified earlier in this section. 
  

Industrial/Employment Land Use Plan detail and guidance includes: 

5.2 (General Guidance)  

Providing adequate infrastructure and services for residents and businesses, both now and in 
the future. In addition to adequate transportation infrastructure, development requires utilities, 
stormwater facilities and a variety of services to function properly. As the City grows, it must 
coordinate the expansion of its infrastructure and services with growth in ways that maintain 
adequate levels of service for existing and new development in a fiscally sustainable manner.    

 Policy Guidance for Objective 1.2: 

� Future Land Use Map Amendments: Prior to amending the Future Land Use Map, make 
findings that the proposed amendment will: 

-  Be consistent with the Plan goals and objectives; 

-  Be compatible with future land uses for surrounding areas; 

-  Not create a shortage of any category of residential or non-residential land; and 

-  Enhance the overall quality of life in the community. 

  

Objective 1.3: Ensure that the Future Land Use Map allows sufficient development opportunities 
to meet existing and projected needs for residential, commercial, industrial and 
other land uses.   

Objective 1.4: Protect existing and future industrial sites from encroachment of development that 
would limit their intended uses.  

Policy Guidance for Objective 1.4:   

� Adjacent Development: Ensure that adjacent development and street networks are designed 
to safely and compatibly accommodate planned industrial uses and resulting traffic. 

� Site Development: Limit non-industrial uses to those that are accessory to existing uses or 
uses to be developed concurrently with the accessory uses.  

  

Goal 4:  Ensure compatibility between neighboring land uses. 

Objective 4.1: Use a combination of land use transitions, intensity gradients, buffering and 
design to ensure that land use transitions are compatible. 

Objective 4.2: Ensure that industrial and commercial developments are designed to limit 
encroachment of incompatible traffic, noise, odors and lighting into nearby 
residential areas.   

 
 
 
 



Page | 6 
 

SUGGESTED STATEMENT OF CONSISTENCY 
 
 The subject property is located on the north side of Davidson Highway (also referred to 

as Highway 73), just east of the I-85 interchange, is +/- 54.8519 acres, and is currently 
vacant.   
 

 The subject property was voluntarily annexed on December 31, 1995 and on April 17, 
2007 the property was rezoned to MX-CC2.   The rezoning included a site plan, technical 
standards, and architectural renderings/illustrations for the proposed development.   
 

 The proposed I-1-CD (Light Industrial Conditional District) and C-2 (General 
Commercial) zoning classifications are considered corresponding to the 2030 Land Use 
Plan’s Industrial/Employment land use category.  The proposal meets the intent of the 
Industrial/Employment (IE) Future Land Use category by developing an industrial use 
suited for additional industrial development due to the presence of infrastructure and 
access to transportation routes, such as major highways and railroads.  Furthermore, 
Industrial Uses such as the International Business Park and other industrial uses have 
already developed in close proximity.  

 The zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest as the petition proposes an 
Industrial Use in close proximity to I-85 where most tractor trailer traffic will be routed to 
and from, minimizing the impact on traffic along Highway 73, and allows the property to 
develop as an Industrial Use which is consistent with the area.     

 
SUGGESTED RECOMMENDATION AND CONDITIONS  
The Planning Staff finds the request consistent with the 2030 Land Use Plan. The plan also 
meets/exceeds the requirements of the Concord Development Ordinance. As this petition is a 
conditional district request, the Commission, should they decide to approve the request, may, 
according to Section 3.2.8.E of the CDO, suggest “reasonable additional conditions or augment 
those already provided with the petition, but only those conditions mutually agreed upon by 
the petitioner and the Commission or Council may be incorporated into the approval.  Any 
such condition should relate to the relationship of the proposed use to surrounding property, 
proposed support facilities such as parking areas and driveways, pedestrian and vehicular 
circulation systems, screening and buffer areas, the timing of development, street and right-
of-way improvements, water and sewer improvements, storm water drainage, the provision 
of open space and other matters that the Commission or Council may find appropriate.”   
 
The petitioner has consented to the following conditions (which apply only to the I-1-CD Parcel 
and not the C-2 Parcel): 
 

1. Substantial compliance with the “Hwy 73 Industrial” Rezoning Plans, sheets RZ-1 and RZ-
2 revised 04/13/22, “North Elevation – Building A, and South Elevation Building A and 
East & West Elevation, Building A” dated March 21, 2022, also “South Elevation Building 
B, North Elevation Building B, and East & West Elevation Building B”, dated March 11, 
2022.   
 

2. All uses permitted in the I-1 Zoning District as outlined in the City of Concord CDO shall 
be permitted excluding those listed below: 

a. Agricultural Uses 



Page | 7 
 

b. Resource Extraction Uses 
c. Educational Uses 
d. Government Facilities 
e. Passenger Terminals 
f. Indoor Recreation Uses 
g. Outdoor Recreation Uses 
h. Retail Sales and Services 
i. Vehicle Sales and Service 
j. Commercial Parking as a Principle Use 
k. Heavy Industrial Uses 
l. Self-Service Storage 

 
3. A 50’ buffer will be placed along the east property boundary, which adjoins the Cambridge 

Commons neighborhood, with any existing vegetation 8 inches in diameter or greater shall 
be preserved to the greatest extent possible. Prior to any land disturbing activities on the 
site, the developer will meet with the City Arborist or authorized designee to tag all trees 
8” or greater and to establish limits of disturbance along the eastern property line. 

 
4. A maximum of two principle buildings may be developed on the site, with a maximum 

Gross Floor Area of 419,000 square feet. 
 

5. The maximum height of any building constructed on the site shall be 50 feet as measured 
under the Concord Development Ordinance (C.D.O.). For each foot of height over 35 feet, 
two (2) additional feet of setback shall be provided when abutting residentially zoned 
property in accordance with Article 7.11.9. of the C.D.O.  
 

6. All rooftop and above-ground mechanicals shall be screened from view to the greatest 
extent possible, considering the existing grade relative to the existing grades surrounding 
the property. This may be achieved through parapets on buildings, other structural 
screening, and/or landscaping.  
 

7. A 4’ tall black powder-coated aluminum decorative fence with evergreen shrubs planted 
5’ O.C. on the street-side of the fence will be installed between the street yard and parking 
lot yard. 

 
8. Compliance with all minimum requirements relative to landscaping, stormwater, 

transportation, and Fire protection; and  
 

9. Technical site review and approval plan shall be required.  
 

10. The subject plan is not designed to preliminary plat or technical site plan standards and 
therefore, any intended or perceived deviation from technical standards resulting from the 
somewhat conceptual nature of the plan shall not constitute approval to deviate from, or 
negate, technical standards within the Concord Development Ordinance, Technical 
Standards Manual, or any other regulatory document.   
 

 
 
 



Page | 8 
 

PROCEDURAL CONSIDERATIONS 
This particular case is a rezoning to a conditional district, which under the CDO, is “legislative” in 
nature.  Legislative hearings DO NOT require the swearing or affirming of witnesses prior to 
testimony at the public hearing. 





















DAVIDSON HWY

US INTERSTATE 85 S

US INTERSTATE 85 N

RUSTIC LN NW

RURAL DR NW

ORPHANAGE RD
INT

ER
NA

TIO
NA

L D
R N

W

CAMBRIDGE HE IG HTS P LN W

PIN E B OU
GH

LN

BR
AN

SO
N R

D 
NW

DEERFIELD DR NW

DAVIDSON HWY RAMP TO I-85 N

RH
YL

MA
 PL

 N
W

I-8
5

BR A N T L E Y R D

MO R E H E A D  R D

AL E X A N D E R  R D

D
ER

I T
A

 R
D

O
D

E
LL

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

PI T T S  S C H O O L R D

WI L SH I R E  A VE

ZI O N  C H U R C H  R D

O
LD

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
TE

 R
D

PL U M  R D

R O G E R S  LA K E  R D

R O C K  H IL L C H U R C H  R D

LI
N

C
O

L
N

 S
T

M C G I LL  AV E

TU
R

K
E

Y
 R

D

C H U R C H  ST  N

N
C

 3

U S H W Y  29

PI T T S  S C H O
O L R D

P O P L A R T EN T
R D

W
IN

D
Y

 R
D BO

Y S C O U T  C A MP  R D

P
E

N
N

IN
G

E
R

R
D

BR U T O N  S M I T H  B LV D

B R O
O KW

O
O

D
A

V
E

F
LO

W
E S

S
TO

R
E

R
D

O A
KW

OO
D  A

V E

B R A
N CH V

I E
W

D
R

S E

TR I N I T Y C H U R C
H  R D

BU
R

R A
G

E
R

D

N E

O
LD

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
TE

 R
D

C O N C O R D
M I L LS BL VD

C EN T E R G R O V E R
D

MA
LL

 D
R  N

E

WA R R E N  C  C O LE M A N  B L V D

W
IN

E
C

O
F

F
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

C O P P ER FI E L
D

B
LV

D
N

E

TU
C K

A S
E E

G E
E  

R D

C O N C O R D -S
A LI S

B U R Y
R D

C
O

X
 M

I LL
 R

D

C AB
A R R U S  A

VE

D A L E E AR N
H AR

D T
B

L V
D

G E O R G E  W L I LE S  P K WY  N W

LI
T

TL
E

 T
E

X
A

S
 R

D

C O R B A N   A V E

M
ID

LA
K

E
 AV

E

N C  1 3 6 M O O R E S VI L LE  R D

IN
T

E
R

N
A

TI
O

N
AL

 D
R

N C  H W Y  49

R
O

C
K

Y
 R

I V
E

R
 R

D

R O B E R TA  R D

U N IO
N  S T  S

N C  3

W ED D IN G TO N R D

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
 P

A
R

KW
A

Y
 N

LA N E  S T

H
A R

R IS
R D

N C  H W Y  73

C O N C O R D  P K WY  S

US INTERSTATE 85
 S

NC HWY 49
 S

MOORESVILLE RD

ROBERTA RD

S MAIN ST

DAVIDSON HWY

UNION ST S

RA
NK

IN
 R

D

CO
X 

MI
LL

 R
D

UNTZ RD

PINE ST

W
IN

DY
 R

D

EVA DR NW

ORPHANAGE RD

E C ST

HI
LT

ON
 LA

KE
 R

D

COOK ST

FA
LC

ON DR

SU
NR

ISE
 D

R

BE
LT

 R
D

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

Z(CD)-07-21
AERIAL

Application for
Zoning Map Amendment

MX-CC2
(Mixed-Use Commercial Center Large) 

to
C-2 (General Commercial)
& I-1-CD (Light Industrial

Conditional District)

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

²
0 400200

Feet

Subject Properties
City of Concord
Parcels

Subject
Properties

4208 Davidson Hwy
PIN's: 5601-88-8181, 5601-87-9077,

5601-87-7425, 5601-77-8447



C-2

RVMX-CC2

RV

RV

RC

C-2
RL

I-1-CD
C-2-CD PUD

RC-CU

Kannapolis PUD

Kannapolis RC

Kannapolis RVKannapolis RM-2

Kannapolis C-2

Kannapolis I-1

Kannapolis RC

DAVIDSON HWY

US INTERSTATE 85 S

US INTERSTATE 85 N

RUSTIC LN NW

RURAL DR NW

ORPHANAGE RD

IN
TE

RN
AT

IO
NA

L D
R N

W

CAMBRIDGEHE IGHT SP L NW

BR
AN

SO
N R

D 
NW

DEERFIELD DR NW

WE
ST

GA
TE

CI
R

NWDAVIDSON HWY RAMP TO I-85 N

RH
YL

MA
 PL

 N
W

DA
VID

FU
DGE PL NW I-8

5

G O LD
 H I L

L R
D

BR A N T L E Y R D

MO R E H E A D  R D

AL E X A N D E R  R D

O
D

E
LL

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

PI T T S  S C H O O L R D

WI L SH I R E  A VE

ZI O N  C H U R C H  R D

O
LD

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
TE

 R
D

PL U M  R D

R O G E R S  LA K E  R D

R O C K  H IL L C H U R C H  R D

LI
N

C
O

L
N

 S
T

M C G I LL  AV E

TU
R

K
E

Y
 R

D

C H U R C H  ST  N

N
C

 3

U S H W Y  29

PI T T S  S C H O
O L R D

P O P L A R T E N T
RD

BO
Y S C O U T  C A MP  R D

P
E

N
N

I N
G

E
R

R
D

BR U T O N  S M I T H  B LV D

BR O
OK W

O
O

D
A

V
E

F
LO

W
ES

S
T O

R
E

R
D

O A
KW

OO
D  A

V E

BR A
NC HV

IE
W

D
R

S E

TR I N I T Y C H U R C
H  R D

C
R

E
S

T
M

O
N

T
D

R

BU
R

R A
G

E
R

D

N E

O
LD

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
TE

 R
D

C O N C O RD
M I LLS B LV D

C EN T E R G R O V E R
D

MA
LL

 D
R  N

E

WA R R E N  C  C O LE M A N  B L V D

W
IN

E
C

O
F

F
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

C O PP E R FI EL
D

B
L V D

N
E

TU
C K

A S
E E

G E
E  

R D

C O N C O R D -S
A LI S

B U R Y  R
D

C AB
A R R U S  A

VE

D A LE EA R N
H AR

DT
B

LV
D

G E O R G E  W L I LE S  P K WY  N W

N C  7 3

LI
T

TL
E

 T
E

X
A

S
 R

D

C O R B A N   A V E

M
ID

LA
K

E
 AV

E

N C  1 3 6 M O O R E S VI L LE  R D

O LD  A I R P O R T R D

IN
T

E
R

N
A

TI
O

N
AL

 D
R

N C  H W Y  49

R
O

C
K

Y
 R

I V
E

R
 R

D

R O B E R TA  R D

U N IO
N  S T  S

N C  3

W E D D I N G T O N R D

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
 P

A
R

KW
A

Y
 N

LA N E  S T

C O N C O R D  P K WY  S

US INTERSTATE 85
 S

NC HWY 49
 S

ROBERTA RD

S MAIN ST

SA
PP

 R
D

MOORESVILLE RD

UNION ST S

DAVIDSON HWY

US HWY 601 S

RA
NK

IN
 R

D

UNTZ RD

PINE ST

CENTERGROVE RD

EVA DR NW

ORPHANAGE RD

E C ST

SIMPLICITY RD

COOK ST

BE
LT

 R
D

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

Z(CD)-07-21
ZONING

Application for
Zoning Map Amendment

MX-CC2
(Mixed-Use Commercial Center Large) 

to
C-2 (Light Commercial

and Office District)
I-1(CD)

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

²
0 500250

Feet

Parcels
Subject Properties
City of Concord

Concord Zoning
MX-CC2
C-2
C-2-CD
I-1-CD
PUD
RC
RC-CU
RL
RV

Kannapolis Zoning
C-2
I-1
PUD
RC
RM-2
RV

Subject
Properties

2050 Kannapolis Hwy
PIN: 5612-91-1305



Industrial-Employment

Urban Neighborhood

Suburban
Neighborhood

Suburban
Neighborhood

DAVIDSON HWY

US INTERSTATE 85 S

US INTERSTATE 85 N

RUSTIC LN NW

RURAL DR NW

ORPHANAGE RD
IN

TE
RN

AT
IO

NA
L D

R N
W

CAMBRIDGEHE IGHT SP L NW

PIN E B OU
GH

LN

BR
AN

SO
N R

D 
NW

DEERFIELD DR NW

WE
ST

GA
TE

CI
R

NWDAVIDSON HWY RAMP TO I-85 N

RH
YL

MA
 PL

 N
W

DA
VID

FU
DGE PL NW I-8

5

G O LD
 H I L

L R
D

BR A N T L E Y R D

MO R E H E A D  R D

AL E X A N D E R  R D

O
D

E
LL

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

PI T T S  S C H O O L R D

WI L SH I R E  A VE

ZI O N  C H U R C H  R D

O
LD

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
TE

 R
D

PL U M  R D

R O G E R S  LA K E  R D

R O C K  H IL L C H U R C H  R D

LI
N

C
O

L
N

 S
T

M C G I LL  AV E

TU
R

K
E

Y
 R

D

C H U R C H  ST  N

N
C

 3

U S H W Y  29

PI T T S  S C H O
O L R D

P O P L A R T E N T
RD

BO
Y S C O U T  C A MP  R D

P
E

N
N

I N
G

E
R

R
D

BR U T O N  S M I T H  B LV D

BR O
OK W

O
O

D
A

V
E

F
LO

W
ES

S
T O

R
E

R
D

O A
KW

OO
D  A

V E

BR A
NC HV

IE
W

D
R

S E

TR I N I T Y C H U R C
H  R D

C
R

E
S

T
M

O
N

T
D

R

BU
R

R A
G

E
R

D

N E

O
LD

 C
H

A
R

L
O

T
TE

 R
D

C O N C O RD
M I LLS B LV D

C EN T E R G R O V E R
D

MA
LL

 D
R  N

E

WA R R E N  C  C O LE M A N  B L V D

W
IN

E
C

O
F

F
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

C O PP E R FI EL
D

B
L V D

N
E

TU
C K

A S
E E

G E
E  

R D

C O N C O R D -S
A LI S

B U R Y  R
D

C AB
A R R U S  A

VE

D A LE EA R N
H AR

DT
B

LV
D

G E O R G E  W L I LE S  P K WY  N W

N C  7 3

LI
T

TL
E

 T
E

X
A

S
 R

D

C O R B A N   A V E

M
ID

LA
K

E
 AV

E

N C  1 3 6 M O O R E S VI L LE  R D

O LD  A I R P O R T R D

IN
T

E
R

N
A

TI
O

N
AL

 D
R

N C  H W Y  49

R
O

C
K

Y
 R

I V
E

R
 R

D

R O B E R TA  R D

U N IO
N  S T  S

N C  3

W E D D I N G T O N R D

C
O

N
C

O
R

D
 P

A
R

KW
A

Y
 N

LA N E  S T

C O N C O R D  P K WY  S

US INTERSTATE 85
 S

NC HWY 49
 S

ROBERTA RD

S MAIN ST

SA
PP

 R
D

MOORESVILLE RD

UNION ST S

DAVIDSON HWY

US HWY 601 S

RA
NK

IN
 R

D

UNTZ RD

PINE ST

CENTERGROVE RD

EVA DR NW

ORPHANAGE RD

E C ST

SIMPLICITY RD

COOK ST

BE
LT

 R
D

Source: City of Concord
Planning Department

Z(CD)-07-21
LAND USE PLAN

Application for
Zoning Map Amendment

MX-CC2
(Mixed-Use Commercial Center Large) 

to
C-2 (Light Commercial

and Office District)
I-1(CD)

These maps and products are designed for general
reference only and data contained herein is subject 
to change. The City Of Concord, it's employees or 
agents make no warranty of merchantability or fitness 
for any purpose, expressed or implied, and assume no 
legal responsibility for the information contained therein. 
Data used is from multiple sources with various scales 
and accuracy. Additional research such as field surveys 
may be necessary to determine actual conditions.

Disclaimer

²
0 500250

Feet

Parcels
Subject Properties
City of Concord

Land Use Plan
Suburban Neighborhood
Urban Neighborhood
Industrial-Employment

Subject
Properties

2050 Kannapolis Hwy
PIN: 5612-91-1305





sullivank
Text Box
SEE 8 1/2" X 11" SHEETS AS PART OF STAFF REPORT FOR LEGIBILITY - TITLED "DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS"



FINISH FLOOR
0"

10111213

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

T/WALL NORTH
40' - 0"

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

METAL COPING CONCRETE TILT PANEL

HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

WALL PACK, TYPICAL CLERESTORY WINDOW

CURTAIN WALL GLAZING PUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

VERTICAL FORMLINER 
ACCENT PANEL

PREFINISHED OFFICE ENTRY METAL CANOPY

FINISH FLOOR
0"

23456789

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

T/WALL NORTH
40' - 0"

METAL COPINGCONCRETE TILT PANEL

HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

WALL PACK, TYPICALCLERESTORY WINDOW

KNOCK-OUT FOR FUTURE OFFICE CURTAIN WALL GLAZINGPUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

VERTICAL FORMLINER 
ACCENT PANEL

PREFINISHED OFFICE ENTRY METAL CANOPY

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

FINISH FLOOR
0"

2345678910111213

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

T/WALL NORTH
40' - 0"

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

KEY PLAN

21 MARCH 2022HIGHWAY 73 INDUSTRIAL PARK, CONCORD, NORTH CAROLINA 2021404.00



FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - GUTTER
33' - 4"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

METAL COPING PREFINISHED METAL GUTTER

BULLNOSE CANOPY DOCK DOOR

CONCRETE TILT PANEL ROOF ACCESS 
LADDER

HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 
AND GALVANIZED STAIR AND LANDING

PREFINISHED METAL DOWNSPOUT 
AND PROTECTOR

WALL PACK, TYPICAL CLERESTORY WINDOW

SECTIONAL DRIVE-IN DOOR

LOUVER

FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - GUTTER
33' - 4"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

10 11 12 13

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

ROOF ACCESS 
LADDER

PUMP/ELECTRICAL ROOMS

METAL COPINGPREFINISHED METAL GUTTER

BULLNOSE CANOPYDOCK DOOR

CONCRETE TILT PANEL

HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 
AND GALVANIZED STAIR AND LANDING

PREFINISHED METAL DOWNSPOUT 
AND PROTECTOR

WALL PACK, TYPICALCLERESTORY WINDOW

SECTIONAL DRIVE-IN DOOR

LOUVER

FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - GUTTER
33' - 4"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

KEY PLAN

21 MARCH 2022HIGHWAY 73 INDUSTRIAL PARK, CONCORD, NORTH CAROLINA 2021404.00



FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

B C D E

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

WALL PACK, TYPICAL CLERESTORY WINDOW

PUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

METAL COPING

CONCRETE TILT PANELHOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

VERTICAL FORMLINER 
ACCENT PANEL LINE OF ROOF BEYOND

FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

BCDE

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

WALL PACK, TYPICALCLERESTORY WINDOW

PUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

METAL COPING

CONCRETE TILT PANEL HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

VERTICAL FORMLINER 
ACCENT PANELLINE OF ROOF BEYOND

KEY PLAN

21 MARCH 2022HIGHWAY 73 INDUSTRIAL PARK, CONCORD, NORTH CAROLINA 2021404.00



FINISH FLOOR
0"

10111213

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

T/WALL NORTH
40' - 0"

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

METAL COPING CONCRETE TILT PANEL

HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

WALL PACK, TYPICAL CLERESTORY WINDOW

KNOCK-OUT FOR FUTURE OFFICECURTAIN WALL GLAZING PUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

VERTICAL FORMLINER 
ACCENT PANEL

PREFINISHED OFFICE ENTRY METAL CANOPY

FINISH FLOOR
0"

234567891011

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

T/WALL NORTH
40' - 0"

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

METAL COPINGCONCRETE TILT PANEL

HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

WALL PACK, TYPICALCLERESTORY WINDOW

KNOCK-OUT FOR FUTURE OFFICE CURTAIN WALL GLAZINGPUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

VERTICAL FORMLINER 
ACCENT PANEL

PREFINISHED OFFICE ENTRY METAL CANOPY

FINISH FLOOR
0"

2345678910111213

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

T/WALL NORTH
40' - 0"

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

KEY PLAN

11 MARCH 2022HIGHWAY 73 INDUSTRIAL PARK, CONCORD, NORTH CAROLINA 2021404.00



FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - GUTTER
33' - 4"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

METAL COPING PREFINISHED METAL GUTTER

BULLNOSE CANOPY

LOUVER

DOCK DOOR

CONCRETE TILT PANEL ROOF ACCESS 
LADDER

HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 
AND GALVANIZED STAIR AND LANDING

PREFINISHED METAL DOWNSPOUT 
AND PROTECTOR

WALL PACK, TYPICAL CLERESTORY WINDOW

SECTIONAL DRIVE-IN DOOR PUMP/ELECTRICAL ROOMS

FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - GUTTER
33' - 4"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

10 11 12 13

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

ROOF ACCESS 
LADDER

METAL COPINGPREFINISHED METAL GUTTER

BULLNOSE CANOPY

LOUVER

DOCK DOOR

CONCRETE TILT PANEL

PUMP/ELECTRICAL ROOMS HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 
AND GALVANIZED STAIR AND LANDING

PREFINISHED METAL DOWNSPOUT 
AND PROTECTOR

WALL PACK, TYPICALCLERESTORY WINDOW

SECTIONAL DRIVE-IN DOOR

FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - GUTTER
33' - 4"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

MA
TC

HL
IN

E

KEY PLAN

11 MARCH 2022HIGHWAY 73 INDUSTRIAL PARK, CONCORD, NORTH CAROLINA 2021404.00



FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

B C D E

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

CONCRETE TILT PANEL HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

WALL PACK, TYPICAL CLERESTORY WINDOW

PUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

LINE OF ROOF BEYONDMETAL COPING

CONCRETE TILT PANEL HOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

WALL PACK, TYPICAL CLERESTORY WINDOW

PUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

VERTICAL FORMLINER 
ACCENT PANEL LINE OF ROOF BEYOND

FINISH FLOOR
0"

TRUCK COURT
-4' - 0"

T/WALL - SIDE
39' - 4"

BCDE

T/WALL ENTRY
44' - 6"

METAL COPING

CONCRETE TILT PANELHOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

WALL PACK, TYPICALCLERESTORY WINDOW

PUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

VERTICAL FORMLINER 
ACCENT PANELLINE OF ROOF BEYOND

CONCRETE TILT PANELHOLLOW METAL PERSONNEL DOOR 

WALL PACK, TYPICALCLERESTORY WINDOW

PUNCHED STOREFRONT WINDOW

VERTICAL FORMLINER 
ACCENT PANELLINE OF ROOF BEYOND

KEY PLAN

11 MARCH 2022HIGHWAY 73 INDUSTRIAL PARK, CONCORD, NORTH CAROLINA 2021404.00



13823555v3

 

 

   

 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

  April 13, 2022  
 
 

1. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
A. These Development Standards form a part of the Rezoning Plan associated with the 

Application for Zoning Map Amendment filed by Robinson Weeks Partners (the 
“Applicant”) for an approximately 49.85 acre site (excluding right of way) located on 
the north side of Highway 73 (Davidson Highway), east of the Highway 73 – Interstate 
85 interchange, which site is more particularly depicted on the Rezoning Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Site”).  The Site is comprised of all of Parcel Nos. 
5601888181 and 5601879077 and a portion of Parcel No. 5601877425. 

 
B. The development and use of the Site will be governed by the Rezoning Plan, these 

Development Standards and the applicable provisions of the Concord Development 
Ordinance (the “Ordinance”). 

C. Unless the Rezoning Plan or these Development Standards establish more stringent 
standards, the regulations established under the Ordinance for the I-1 zoning district shall 
govern all development taking place on the Site. 

D. Future amendments to the Rezoning Plan and/or these Development Standards may be 
applied for by the then owner or owners of the Site in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 3 of the Ordinance.  Minor amendments to the Rezoning Plan are subject to 
Section 3.2.9.H of the Ordinance. 

 
2. PERMITTED USES/DEVELOPMENT LIMITATIONS 
  
A. Subject to the limitations set out below, the Site may be devoted to: 

(1) any use or uses permitted by right in the I-1 zoning district;  

(2) any use or uses permitted with supplemental regulations in the I-1 zoning district;  

(3) any special use or uses permitted in the I-1 zoning district upon the issuance of a special 
use permit in accordance with Article 6.2 of the Ordinance;   

(4) any special use or uses with supplemental regulations permitted in the I-1 zoning district 
upon the issuance of a special use permit in accordance with Article 6.2 of the Ordinance; 
and 

(5) any incidental or accessory uses associated with the uses set out above that are permitted 
under the Ordinance in the I-1 zoning district. 

B. Notwithstanding the terms of paragraph 2.A above, the uses set out below that are listed 
in the Table of Uses (Section 8.1.8 of the Ordinance) shall be prohibited on the Site.  

sullivank
Text Box
AS SHOWN ON SHEET RZ-2 DATED 04-13-2022

sullivank
Text Box
INDIVIDUAL SHEETS AS SHOWN ON RZ-2 04-13-22



13823555v3

 

 

   

 
2

  
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  

 

    
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

(1) Agricultural uses.

(2) Resource Extraction uses.

(3) Educational uses.

(4) Government Facilities.

(5) Passenger Terminals.

(6) Indoor Recreation uses.

(7) Outdoor Recreation uses.

(8) Retail Sales and Services.

(9) Vehicle Sales and Service.

(10) Commercial Parking as a Principal Use.

(11) Heavy Industrial uses.

(12) Self Service Storage.

C. A maximum of two principal buildings may be developed on the Site.

D. A  total  maximum  of 419,000 square  feet  of  gross  floor  area  may  be  developed  on  the
Site.

E. There  are  two building  envelopes  depicted  on  the  Rezoning  Plan  that  are  designated  as
Building  Envelope  A and Building  Envelope  B. Minor  adjustments  to  the  locations  of 
these building envelopes shall be allowed during the permitting process.

F. Each principal building constructed on the Site shall be located in one of the two  
            building envelopes depicted on the Rezoning Plan.

G.        All rooftop and above-ground mechanical equipment shall be screened from view to the 
            greatest extent possible, taking into account the existing grade relative to the existing 
            grades surrounding the property.  This may be achieved through parapets on buildings, 
            other structural screening, and/or landscaping.

H.        A 4' tall black powder-coated aluminum fence with evergreen shrubs planted 5' O.C. on 
            the street-side of the fence will be installed between the street yard and parking lot yard.

I.         Technical Site Plan approval required.

J.        Compliance with all minimum requirements relative to landcaping, stormwater,
           transportation, and fire protection.

 

sullivank
Text Box
AS SHOWN ON SHEET RZ-2 DATED 04-13-2022



13823555v3

 

 

   

 
3

3.  
 
A. 

 
  

 
B.  

 
 
C. 

 
 
D. 

 
 
E. 

 
 
4.  
 
A. 

  
 
B.  

 
 
5.  
 
A.   

  

  
 

B. 
 

 
6.  
 
A.   

TRANSPORTATION

Vehicular access shall be as generally depicted on the Rezoning Plan. The placement and 
configuration of the access points are subject to any minor modifications required by the 
City of Concord and/or the North Carolina Department of Transportation (“NCDOT”).

The alignments of the internal drives and vehicular circulation areas may be modified by 
Applicant  to  accommodate  changes  in  traffic  patterns,  parking  layouts  and  any
adjustments required for approval by the City of Concord and/or NCDOT.

Internal sidewalks and pedestrian connections shall be provided on the Site as generally
depicted on the Rezoning Plan.

Off-street  parking  shall  be  provided  on  the  Site  in  accordance  with  the  requirements  of
the Ordinance.

Curb,  gutter  and  sidewalk  shall  be  installed  along  the  Site’s  frontage  on  Davidson
Highway as generally depicted on the Rezoning Plan.

DENSITY AND DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS/SETBACK

The development of the Site shall comply with the density and dimensional standards set
out in Table 7.6.2.A of the Ordinance.

The development of the Site shall comply with the setback requirement set out in Table
7.6.2.B of the Ordinance.

DESIGN STANDARDS

The maximum height of any building constructed on the Site shall be 50 feet as measured 
under the Ordinance. For each foot of height over 35 feet, two (2) additional feet of 
setback shall be provided when abutting residentially zoned property in accordance with
Article 7.11.9 of the Ordinance.

The  development  of  the  Site  shall  comply  with the  Supplemental  Design  Standards  and
Requirements for Industrial Districts set out in Section 7.11 of the Ordinance.

BUFFER YARDS

Buffer yards shall be established on the Site as required by the Ordinance and as depicted 
on the Rezoning Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 

sullivank
Text Box
AS SHOWN ON SHEET RZ-2 DATED 04-13-2022



13823555v3

 

 

   

 
4

7. AMENITY AREA 
 
A. An amenity area shall be provided on the Site in the location generally depicted on the 

Rezoning Plan, and this amenity area shall contain, at a minimum, benches and picnic 
tables. 

 
8. BINDING EFFECT OF THE REZONING DOCUMENTS AND DEFINITIONS 
 
A. If this Application for Zoning Map Amendment is approved, all conditions applicable to 

the use and development of the Site imposed under these Development Standards and the 
Rezoning Plan will, unless amended in the manner provided under the Ordinance, be 
binding upon and inure to the benefit of Applicant and the current and subsequent owners 
of the Site and their respective successors in interest and assigns. 

 
B. Throughout these Development Standards, the term “Applicant” shall be deemed to 

include the heirs, devisees, personal representatives, successors in interest and assigns of 
Applicant or the owner or owners of the Site from time to time who may be involved in 
any future development thereof. 

 
C. Any reference to the Ordinance herein shall be deemed to refer to the requirements of the 

Ordinance in effect as of the date this Application for Zoning Map Amendment is 
approved. 

 

SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH THE “HWY 73 INDUSTRIAL” REZONING PLANS, SHEETS RZ-1 AND 
RZ-2 REVISED 04/13/22, “NORTH ELEVATION – BUILDING A, AND SOUTH ELEVATION BUILDING A AND 
EAST & WEST ELEVATION, BUILDING A” DATED MARCH 21, 2022, ALSO “SOUTH ELEVATION 
BUILDING B, NORTH ELEVATION BUILDING B, AND EAST & WEST ELEVATION BUILDING B”, DATED 
MARCH 11, 2022. 

THE SUBJECT PLAN IS NOT DESIGNED TO PRELIMINARY PLAT OR TECHNICAL SITE PLAN 
STANDARDS AND THEREFORE, ANY INTENDED OR PERCEIVED DEVIATION FROM TECHNICAL 
STANDARDS RESULTING FROM THE SOMEWHAT CONCEPTUAL NATURE OF THE PLAN SHALL NOT 
CONSTITUTE APPROVAL TO DEVIATE FROM, OR NEGATE, TECHNICAL STANDARDS WITHIN THE 
CONCORD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL, OR ANY OTHER 
REGULATORY DOCUMENT. 

sullivank
Text Box
AS SHOWN ON SHEET RZ-2 DATED 04-13-2022



sullivank
Text Box
APPROVED SITE PLAN FOR Z(CD)-33-07



sullivank
Text Box
PREVIOUS APPROVAL UNDER Z(CD)-33-07



APPROVED CONDITIONS UNDER Z(CD)-33-07:  
 
 
 

Uses Proposed: 
1) The proposed uses are limited to commercial and office.  
 
Offered Conditions: 
1) The architecture will follow the motif presented in the attached color 

elevations.  
2) A 50’ Class “D” buffer will be provided along the east property boundary with 

Cambridge Commons.  
3) Building locations shall follow what is depicted on the approved conceptual 

master plan. 
4) Developer agrees to not establish restaurant use on the building along the east 

property boundary adjoining the Cambridge Commons subdivision. 
 



   
 
 

                                                                                                        Staff Report             
 Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
DATE:   April 19, 2022 
 
CASE: TA-12-21 Text Amendment (Article 7 - Townhomes) 
 
PREPARED BY: Kevin Ashley, AICP –Deputy Planning Director 
  
BACKGROUND 
 
As the Commission is aware, the staff has been in the process of revising the Concord 
Development Ordinance (CDO) to respond to the recommendations contained in the 2030 
Land Use Plan.   We have been incrementally working on the revisions with the assistance 
of Tindale Oliver and Michael Lauer Planning.    
 
One of the remaining items is the revision to the townhome requirements.   As we have 
discussed previously, townhome developments (single family attached) pose challenges 
that are not present with single family detached developments.   These challenges include, 
but are not limited to utility provision (water, sewer, etc.), garbage collection, parking and 
maneuvering and landscaping.     
 
This item has been in process for quite a while, and has been recently revised to allow an 
option for front-load units based upon a concern with statutory compliance.     
 
The item has been posted for comment and notice of the amendment was sent to nearly 
300 persons via email.   The amendment has been posted on the City’s webpage for 
comment.  As of the date of this report, no comments have been received.  
 
The Executive Summary (which was posted online) and the proposed ordinance is 
attached.   
 
The City’s staff will provide a thorough presentation of the recent changes to ensure that 
the Commission understands the changes.   
 
At the consensus of the Commission, the item can be referred to City Council for public 
consideration at the May meeting.    
     



1 

                                                                                                        Staff Report             
 Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
DATE:   March 22, 2022 
 
CASE: Executive Summary for Townhome/Townhouse 

Development Regulations 
 
PREPARED BY: Kevin Ashley, AICP –Deputy Planning Director 
  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
This memorandum is intended to serve as a summary to describe the proposed 
revisions to Article 7 (Base Zoning Districts) as they relate to minimum standards 
for townhome development.   (Note that the NC Building Code designates them as 
“townhouses”.) The CDO defines a townhome (or townhouse) as “A single-family 
dwelling unit constructed in a series, group or row of attached units separated by 
property lines and with a yard on at least two sides.  (Source:  North Carolina State 
Building Code, Vol. 1, § 201.2 and Vol.  VII, § 202).   
 
The nature of townhome development, coupled with our zoning regulations, pose 
several challenges related to administration.   These include: 
 

• Closely spaced prominent driveways which lead to safety concerns on front 
load units; 

• Lack of front yards and landscaping; 
• Difficulty in provision of public services such as trash and garbage 

collection; 
• Smaller lot sizes which, which coupled with driveway location, lead to utility 

conflicts; and  
• Inability to provide enough space for healthy street trees due to the above 

factors. 
 
In terms of development styles, townhomes are typically either developed as “front-
load” or “rear-load” units.   Front-load units have their driveways and/or garages 
from a major street at the front of the homes whereas rear-load units take access 
off of an alley or a common parking area.   
 
The City initially proposed an ordinance amendment to require all townhomes to 
be served by a rear alley.   After further examination it was determined that the 
North Carolina General Statutes’ prohibition of the regulation of the location of 
garage doors would preclude this requirement.   
 



2 

The staff has examined a way to alleviate the above issues related to front-load 
units.  The proposed amendment retains the majority of the previously proposed 
design language that applies to alley loaded units and proposes new standards for 
front-load units. 
 
The amendment changes Section 10.3.1 to clarify that minimum driveway 
coverage requirements are also applicable to front load townhouse units.   The 
existing 30% maximum coverage for front yard driveways is proposed to be 
increased to 40% and the amendment specifies that all minimum technical 
standards must be met (such as driveway spacing, utility separation and street 
trees).  Townhouse units that utilize a 20 -foot wide driveway (two car widths) are 
allowed to exceed the 40% requirement if all other technical standards as 
discussed above, are met.  Note that the increase from 30% to 40% is also 
applicable for single family detached units, and not just townhomes.  
 
Section 7.7.4 is proposed to be amended to add a section for front-load 
townhomes that refers to the revised Section 10.3.1.   This section reiterates that 
all technical standards must be met and refers to the Technical Standards Manual 
(TSM) for specifics.        
 
The previously developed design requirements for rear load units are proposed to 
remain when those units are developed.    
 
SUMMARY 
 
Main features of the proposed revisions to Section 7.7.4 include: 
 

• All attached homes are required to front on a public or private street, or an 
open space such as a town square  

• Two off-street parking spaces are required per unit and may be provided 
within a garage.   In lieu of providing parking on the individual parcel, part 
or all of the required parking may be provided on-street or within a common 
parking area.   Additional parking (for visitors) is required at the rate of one 
space per two units and may also be provided on-street or within a common 
parking area.  Visitor parking is not required for front-load units with the 
wider two-car driveways. 

• Alleys are to be constructed to a minimum width of twelve (12) feet for one-
way traffic and sixteen (16) feet for two-way traffic.  

• Minimum setbacks for rear-load units are ten (10) feet from all streets.   
Setbacks from the alley to the garage are also a minimum of ten (10) feet. 
Groups of structures are proposed to be a minimum of fifteen (15) feet apart. 

• Rear-load units are required to provide off-street parking along one side of 
the main street.   Curb extensions are required on the street to provide 
adequate room for street trees.   

• Duplex and triplex projects, which have shared driveways and are on 
existing lots of record, as of the date of adoption of the ordinance, are 
exempt from these requirements.    



3 

 
These changes are intended to provide clear guidance relative to new townhome 
development and to ultimately achieve safer and more efficient design.  The 
changes are also intended to help the City achieve safe and simpler provision of 
public services/utilities and to provide for the establishment of a desirable street 
tree canopy.         



O:\Development Services\P and Z Commission\P and Z Cases\2021\TA-12-21 Townhomes\3.22 
changes\Townhomes 3.22 draft.docx 

10.3. PARKING AND LOADING 

10.3.1. General Standards 
A. Applicability 

The provisions of this Section shall apply to any application for Zoning 
Clearance or Site Plan approval, except for developments in the CC 
district: 
 

1. Detached single-family dwellings or duplex developments on 
individual lots of record (except that single-family units and 
duplexes shall maintain an improved area large enough to 
accommodate two off-street parking spaces not to exceed 30 
percent  of the area of the front yard); or 
2. All developments in the CC district. 
 

B. Front Yard Parking Standards 

1. Applicability 
Parking is permitted in the front yards of any single family 
(detached or attached), duplex, triplex or quadplex dwellings in 
any zoning district other than agricultural.  
 
2. General 
No person shall park or store any motor vehicle, boat, trailer or 
recreation vehicle in the front yards (between the street and a line 
drawn parallel to the street from the point of the dwelling that is 
closest to the street) other than completely upon an improved 
driveway or improved parking pad. 
 
3. Coverage of Improved Area 
Improved parking and drive areas shall be limited in size to 18 feet 
by 18 feet and shall not exceed 430% of the structure’s front yard, 
except that front-load townhouse units with 20-foot wide 
driveways may exceed 40% maximum provided that all other 
development regulations in this Ordinance and the infrastructure 
requirements of the Technical Standards Manual (TSM) are met.  
(See Section 7.7.4.E).  Access to the improved front yard area shall 
be limited to properly approved curb cuts or other approved access 
points.  Improved parking and drive areas shall be maintained in a 
safe and sanitary condition, and shall not contribute to soil erosion 
or tree damage. Proposed improved parking area shall be installed 
so as to avoid creating standing water conditions, diverting runoff 
onto neighboring property owners, or adversely impacting 
stormwater water quality. 

 



O:\Development Services\P and Z Commission\P and Z Cases\2021\TA-12-21 Townhomes\3.22 
changes\Townhomes 3.22 draft.docx 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4. Surfacing 

Improved parking or vehicular use areas shall be surfaced with 
asphalt, concrete, brick or other suitable pavers.  Gravel or crushed 
stone may be used if  the gravel is at least two (2) inches deep 
throughout the vehicular use area, and the vehicular use area has 
a visible and definable edge made of landscape timbers, metal 
edging, vegetation such as low shrubs or decorative grasses, or 
similar technique to distinguish the vehicular use area from the 
front or corner side yard area. 
 

5. Exceptions 
a. Parking in the front yard may be allowed for a special 
event or circumstance but will require a permit issued by the 
Chief of Police for such event or circumstance.  Permitted 
events will be limited to two per year per residence.  

Max. Vehicle Use 
Area 4030% 

Max. Vehicle 
Use Area 
4030% 

 

Note: Parking areas shall be 
surfaced and shall have a 
visibly discernable edge. 

 



O:\Development Services\P and Z Commission\P and Z Cases\2021\TA-12-21 Townhomes\3.22 
changes\Townhomes 3.22 draft.docx 

b. The prohibitions shall not apply to emergency and 
public service vehicles whose operators are performing 
services for which they are responsible, nor do these 
prohibitions apply to vehicles belonging to persons under 
contract with the City to perform a public service.  However, 
this exception shall apply only when an emergency situation 
requires that such vehicles park in the prohibited area. 

 
E. Special Standards for Townhouses 

 
 

Purpose:   The City of Concord recognizes that the physical characteristics 
of townhouse developments pose a distinct set of service challenges as 
compared to traditional detached single-family developments.   The 
following standards are intended to provide for 1) the safe movement of 
vehicles and pedestrians; 2) an adequate amount of resident and visitor 
parking; 3) the safe provision of public utilities and services; 4) the 
provision of green space; and 5) the creation of a functional, healthy and 
sustainable permanent shade tree canopy.   
 
Townhouses may have vehicular access on a principal street (front-load) 
or on an alley (rear-load).   

 Requirements for front-load townhouses.    

a. Townhouse driveways are prohibited on streets that are 
functionally classified as collectors or higher. 

b. All new townhouse developments with driveways on public or 
private streets shall meet the minimum provisions of Section 
10.3.1, as well as all other minimum infrastructure 
requirements of the Technical Standards Manual (TSM), 
including but not limited to driveway spacing, utility location, 
and street tree planting.   

c. Two off-street parking spaces shall be required per unit, and 
may be provided within a garage.   

d. In addition to the required parking spaces for each unit, 
parking to accommodate visitors shall be provided at a rate of 
one space for each two units with driveways less than 20 feet 
in width, and may be provided either as on-street spaces or 
within a common off-street parking area (or a combination 
thereof).  Visitor parking shall not be required for townhouses 
with 20 foot-wide driveways.   

 
 Requirements for rear-load townhouses. 

a. All townhouse units shall front on a public or a private street or 
on an improved open space such as a town square, park or a green 
and shall be served by a rear alley or common parking area. Alleys 



O:\Development Services\P and Z Commission\P and Z Cases\2021\TA-12-21 Townhomes\3.22 
changes\Townhomes 3.22 draft.docx 

shall be at least twelve (12) feet in paved width to accommodate 
one-way traffic and at least sixteen (16) feet in paved width to 
accommodate two-way traffic. Individual driveways for dwelling 
units are permissible only on alleys.   Parking within the 
pavement of the alley shall be prohibited.   

b. Per Section 10.2.5 all private streets shall be constructed to 
public street standard with the exception of alleys.  Construction 
details for alleys are included in Article 2 of the Technical 
Standards Manual (TSM). 

c.  Alleys shall be designed with a minimum turning radius of thirty 
(30) feet where they intersect streets and shall be constructed in 
such a manner as to allow service vehicles to complete turns 
within the boundary of the alley.   Alleys shall be designed in such 
a manner as to be interconnected to allow through traffic and to 
avoid dead ends.   

d. Side yards are not required for interior townhouses, but a 
minimum street setback of ten (10) feet shall be provided along 
front and corner yards, and building separation requirements of 
fifteen (15) feet shall be maintained for all groups of townhouse 
units.  Where lot lines are not established or where units are 
condominiumized, the building setback shall be measured from 
the back of sidewalk. 

e. Driveways from the rear alley shall be no closer than three (3) 
feet from the interior side property line.  Where interior lot lines 
are not established or where units are condominiumized, six (6) 
feet is required between driveways;   

f. Two off-street parking spaces shall be required per unit, and may 
be provided within a garage.  In lieu of providing the required 
parking spaces on the individual parcel, either a portion of, or all 
of the required spaces may be provided on-street or within a 
common off-street parking area.   

g. In addition to the required parking spaces for each unit, parking 
to accommodate visitors shall be provided at a rate of one space 
for each two units, and may be provided either as on-street 
spaces or within a common off-street parking area (or a 
combination thereof).   

h. Fences and/or walls on the site shall be constructed in such a 
manner as to allow unobstructed access to all utility meters and 
easements.    

i. On street parking shall be provided along at least one side of the 
public or private street.   On the side(s) of the street where 
parking occurs, the planting strip for street trees may be 
eliminated, but the sidewalk shall still be required.   In lieu of 
the eliminated planting strip, foundation plantings comprised of 
woody shrubs with a mature height of no more than four (4) feet 



O:\Development Services\P and Z Commission\P and Z Cases\2021\TA-12-21 Townhomes\3.22 
changes\Townhomes 3.22 draft.docx 

shall be installed at a four (4) foot spacing along the building 
foundation.    

j. On the side of the street where no parking is proposed, street 
trees shall be planted in accordance with Section 11.7.4.  In order 
to provide a traffic calming measure and to ensure a street tree 
canopy, curbs shall be extended out in the areas of required 
building separation between groups of structures to create 
“bump-outs *” for the planting of street trees.  Street trees shall 
be installed in bump outs at the end of parallel parking spaces.        

k. The minimum setback from the alley (for the garage) is ten (10) 
feet measured from the exterior building wall of the structure to 
the edge of pavement. No minimum side setbacks are required 
for detached garage structures.     

 
l. All gas, electric service meter points and fiberoptic services shall 

be located in the rear.  City owned water meters or sewer 
cleanouts shall not be installed within the limits of the townhouse 
driveway.   

m. Adequate space shall be provided along the alley for safely 
storing garbage and recycling receptacles without interfering 
with the maneuvering area within the alley.   

 
 
*Bump-out:   A curb extension on residential or low volume streets that 
create an effect to calm traffic and to slow traffic speeds considerably.    

 



   
 
 

                                                                                                        Staff Report             
 Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
DATE:   April 19, 2022 
 
CASE: TA-03-22 Text Amendment (Articles 2 and 3 of the TSM) 
 
PREPARED BY: Kevin Ashley, AICP –Deputy Planning Director 
  
BACKGROUND 
 
As the Commission will recall the Technical Standards Manual (TSM) is part of the 
Concord Development Ordinance (CDO) which contains engineering 
specifications and technical requirements which are more complex than traditional 
land use regulations.   The TSM includes technical requirements for transportation 
(including the recently adopted section for traffic impact analysis) , stormwater, 
water, wastewater, electric and landscaping.    
 
The City’s Transportation and Engineering Departments have been working to 
revise Article 2 (Streets and Pedestrian Paths) and Article 3 (Driveways) to clarify 
procedures and to reflect accepted engineering practice.   Some new requirements 
have been added to the articles, but the changes are generally clarifications.  The 
changes are detailed in the executive summary that is included in the staff report 
materials.   Also included is a redline which has deleted language shown as a 
strike-through and new language as a highlight.   
 
Devin Huston, Deputy Transportation Director will be attending and can answer 
any specific questions.   Staff will conduct a thorough presentation of all of the 
changes.    
 
The amendment is in approval form and at the Commission’s concurrence, it may 
be referred to Council for public hearing. 
 



1 
 

                                                                                                        Staff Report             
 Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
DATE:   April 6, 2022 
 
CASE: Executive Summary for Technical Standards Manual (TSM) 

Articles 2 and 3 
 
PREPARED BY: Devin Huston, Deputy Transportation Director 
  
 
BACKGROUND 
This memorandum is intended to serve as a general summary to describe the 
proposed revisions to the Concord Technical Standards Manual (TSM) which are 
supplementary to the Concord Development Ordinance (CDO).  The reader should 
consult the proposed Ordinance and the proposed strike-through Articles II and III 
of the TSM (and related appendices) for more specific details.  
 
Article II of the TSM sets forth minimum requirements for Streets and Pedestrian 
Paths and Article III addresses Driveways.  These changes are a culmination of 
revisions that have been drafted based upon historical administration of 
requirements and developer feedback.    
 
Revisions to the TSM generally involve clarifications of existing practice and not 
new requirements, but there are some changes and those are noted below.  
Revisions are based upon accepted engineering practice and design standards.  
Additionally, all technical standard drawings are proposed to be removed from the 
individual articles and moved to a Manual of Standard details.   
 
ARTICLE II STREETS AND PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 
Functional classifications:   The amendment clarifies the way proposed streets are 
classified.   In the current version, typical Average Daily Traffic (ADT) thresholds 
were given as a predominant factor.   Historically, layout and location have also 
been used as determinants regardless of the ADT, in accordance with accepted 
professional practice.   While ADT will still potentially play a role in a proposed 
street classification, this change removes those ADT thresholds to help avoid 
confusion.    
 
Rolling terrain:  Under the proposed change, the documentation required for staff 
to consider a request to permit design of streets under the rolling terrain standards 
in lieu of the default level terrain standards is defined.   The current regulations 
require a request to be made, but do not specify the procedure and submission 
requirements for consideration.  This change is necessary now as the relative 
scarcity of land means that steeper slopes are being proposed for development.   
 



2 
 

Design speeds:   This change eliminates a specified engineering design speed for 
freeways/expressways and reduces the design speed from 40 to 30 mph for local 
streets.   
 
Right-of-way widths:  Adjustments are proposed to modernize minimum r/w widths 
to coincide with current minimum utility and infrastructure requirements.  These 
adjustments include some right-of-way increases and some reductions, which are 
a result of narrower minimum travel lanes in street cross-sections.   
 
Construction materials:  Language is proposed to specify subgrade and shoulder 
requirements for new streets, and to clarify inspection procedures.  This section 
also serves to detail the developer’s responsibilities in new construction of streets.     
 
Cul-de-sacs:  New language has been added to prohibit hammer head 
turnarounds. 
 
Sight triangles:  This section is rewritten to clarify the differences in the 
classifications of sight triangles.   The requirements are not new and this change 
is proposed for clarity. 
 
Street acceptance:  A new section relative to accepting new public streets is 
proposed to replace the current section 15.0.   This section sets forth minimum 
criteria for acceptance and specifies the procedures for both newly constructed 
streets and existing private streets that are proposed for dedication and 
acceptance for maintenance.    
 
Cluster mailbox requirements:  Per Postal Service policy, new neighborhoods are 
required to provide numerous mailboxes in common areas as opposed to one 
mailbox on each individual lot.  The City has been administering the cluster mailbox 
requirements for several years since their adoption by USPS, and this section 
merely codifies those requirements. 
 
Intersection Site Distance: These requirements in Section 7.6 are based upon 
accepted engineering practice on highway design (AASHTO) and have historically 
been utilized by staff. 
 
Roundabout review language:  The CDO allows the use of roundabouts or traffic 
circles as traffic calming measures and this section states that their review is on a 
case-by-case basis, which has historically been the policy for these features.   
 
Traffic Island size:  This section has been slightly revised to clarify the depth of the 
island relative to stem length (distance from the intersection) and to state that any 
island within an NCDOT right-of-way requires their approval.   These items are 
reflections of current policy, which have been in effect for some time.   
 
Sidewalk language:  This proposed revision clarifies when sidewalks are required 
in the subdivision and development process.   The change also specifies the 
location within the street section and details the easement process in the event 



3 
 

that the sidewalk cannot be placed within the right-of-way.   This section clarifies 
administration of the sidewalk requirements as they have been historically 
interpreted.    
 
Curb inlet language – Language added to clarify Roll-over frame and grate inlets 
are not permitted. These have historically not been allowed for use in drainage 
designs. 
 
ARTICLE III DRIVEWAYS 
 
Applicability:  Section 2.0 of the TSM specifies that all access points and driveways 
that connect to a public street are subject to the provisions of Article III.  This 
section is proposed to be amended to clarify that land that is internal to an existing 
neighborhood may be subject to Article III if the development is considered a 
neighborhood expansion.   The determination is made on a case-by-case basis 
and is intended to prohibit the circumvention of the driveway permit requirements 
and associated street improvements.   
 
Driveway Permits and NCDOT Coordination:  Section 3.0 has been substantially 
expanded to clarify the applicability of the permit process particularly as it relates 
to coordination with NCDOT and connections to State maintained streets and 
roads.   These revisions merely restate the historical administration of the driveway 
permit process, simplify the language, and do not introduce any new regulations.   
 
Driveway Standards:  Section 4.0 has been amended to reduce the minimum width 
of a single family attached (townhome) driveway from 12 feet to 10 feet.  This 
change is proposed in coordination with the CDO changes for townhomes, which 
are underway.     
 
Driveway Separation:  Section 5.0 has been rewritten to clarify how driveway 
separation, particularly stem length, is calculated.  Stem length is the distance from 
the street right-of-way or private street to the first point of conflict.   Stem lengths 
are intended to provide enough distance for vehicles to safely exit the intersecting 
street without abruptly encountering an obstacle minimizing traffic backups and 
potential collisions on the street. Appropriate driveway separation provides a driver 
with an obstacle free line of sight to identify oncoming vehicles, pedestrians, and 
bicyclists while exiting their driveway.  This section includes minor changes to the 
driveway separation requirements on local streets (based on land use) to provide 
slightly more distance for nonresidential and multifamily and less distance for 
single family.  The minimum stem lengths have been amended to reduce the 
requirements on major thoroughfares and minor collectors, which are important in 
order to foster redevelopment and infill.        
 
STANDARD DETAILS 
Standard details in Article II and III are proposed to be replaced with new 
drawings that reflect the proposed changes, and moved to a Manual of Standard 
Details for quick reference by designers. 
 



4 
 

SUMMARY 
 
In summary, the proposed TSM changes will serve to modernize both Article II and 
III, ensuring that they are compliant with historical administration, are consistent 
with the provisions of the CDO and reflect accepted engineering and design 
practice.          



STREET - 1 - STANDARDS 
 

 
 
 

City of Concord 
Technical Standards Manual 
 
 
 
 
 
Article II 
Streets & Pedestrian Paths 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS  1.0   
 

i 
 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
Article II 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Article II 

1.0 PURPOSE ...........................................................................................................................1 
2.0 BASIC DESIGN CONSIDERATIONS............................................................................1 

2.2 – Traffic Volumes ..........................................................................................................1 
2.3 – Functional Classifications ...........................................................................................1 

 2.4 – Service Classifications ................................................................................................2 
2.5 – Terrain Classifications ................................................................................................3 

 2.6 – Design Speeds .............................................................................................................3 
3.0 CROSS-SECTION STANDARDS ...................................................................................4 

3.1 – Widths .........................................................................................................................4 
3.2 – Materials .....................................................................................................................5 

4.0 CUL-DE-SAC STANDARDS ...........................................................................................9 
4.2 – Design Standard Exceptions .......................................................................................9 

5.0 SLOPE STANDARDS .....................................................................................................10 
5.1 – Longitudinal Grade ...................................................................................................10 
5.2 – Transverse Grade ......................................................................................................10 

6.0 CURVE STANDARDS ....................................................................................................11 
6.1 – Horizontal Centerline Curve Radius .........................................................................11 
6.2 – Tangent Between Reverse Curves ............................................................................12 

 6.3 – Vertical Centerline Curves ........................................................................................12 
7.0 INTERSECTION STANDARDS ...................................................................................13 

7.1 – Angles of Intersection ...............................................................................................13 
7.2 – Corners ......................................................................................................................13 

 7.3 – Backs of Curbs ..........................................................................................................13 
7.4 – Distances Between Intersections ...............................................................................14 
7.5 – Sight Triangle Easements .........................................................................................15 
7.6 – Sight Distance ...........................................................................................................17 
7.7 – Roundabouts/Traffic Circles .....................................................................................18 

8.0 MEDIAN AND ISLAND STANDARDS ........................................................................19 
8.1 – Where Required ........................................................................................................19 
8.2 – Size ............................................................................................................................19 

 8.3 – Contents ....................................................................................................................19 
8.4 – Specifications ............................................................................................................19 

9.0 DRAINAGE STANDARDS ............................................................................................19 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS  1.0   
 

ii 
 

9.1 – Curbs and Gutters .....................................................................................................19 
9.2 – Catch Basins ..............................................................................................................20 

 9.3 – Pipes ..........................................................................................................................20 
10.0 SIDEWALK STANDARDS ............................................................................................21 

10.1 – Locations .................................................................................................................21 
10.2 – Specifications ..........................................................................................................21 

 10.3 – Transitions to Street Grade .....................................................................................22 
11.0 CURB AND GUTTER, AND SIDEWALK EXCEPTIONS ........................................22 
12.0 GUARDRAILS .................................................................................................................22 

12.1 – Applicability ...........................................................................................................22 
13.0 STREET AND SUBDIVISION NAMING STANDARDS ...........................................22 

13.1 – Uniqueness ..............................................................................................................22 
13.2 – Labels ......................................................................................................................22 

14.0 SIGN STANDARDS ........................................................................................................23 
14.1 – Signage Plan............................................................................................................23 
14.2 – Standard Signs ........................................................................................................23 
14.3 – Decorative Sign Treatments ....................................................................................23 

15.0 PUBLIC STREET ACCEPTANCE ...............................................................................24 
15.1 – Minimum Requirements .........................................................................................24 
15.2 – Newly Constructed Streets Platted for City Maintenance ......................................24 

 15.3 – Existing Private Streets ...........................................................................................25 
15.4 – Dedication of Public Streets on a Final Plat ...........................................................25 

 15.5 – City Council Acceptance ........................................................................................26 
16.0 UNOPENED, DEDICATED STREET STANDARDS .................................................26 
17.0 CLUSTER MAILBOX UNIT STANDARDS ................................................................27 

17.1 – Arrangement ...........................................................................................................27 
17.2 – Location ..................................................................................................................28 

 17.3 – Signs and Markings ................................................................................................28 
17.4 – Lighting ...................................................................................................................28 

 17.5 – Maintenance ............................................................................................................28 
 17.6 – Signs on CBUs ........................................................................................................28 

17.7 – Construction of CBUs .............................................................................................29 
 17.9 – CBU Parking Requirements ....................................................................................29 
18.0 REFERENCES .................................................................................................................30 
 

TABLES AND FIGURES 
TABLES 

2-1 – Functional Classifications ...........................................................................................2 
2-2 – Minimum Design Speeds............................................................................................3 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS  1.0   
 

iii 
 

3-1 – Minimum Right-of-Way Widths ................................................................................4 
 3-2 – Minimum Pavement Widths .......................................................................................4 

3-3 – Base, Intermediate, and Surface Courses ...................................................................7 
 4-2 – Maximum Lengths for Cul-de-Sacs ...........................................................................9 
 5-1 – Maximum Longitudinal Grades................................................................................10 

5-2 – Maximum Superelevation Transverse Slope for Minimum CL Radii .....................11 
 6-1 – Minimum Horizontal Centerline Curve Radii ..........................................................11 

6-2 – Minimum Tangent Between Reverse Curves ...........................................................12 
6-3 – Rate of Vertical Curvature (K) .................................................................................12 

 7-1 – Min. & Max. R/W Curve Radii at Intersections .......................................................13 
7-2 – Minimum Corner Radii for Backs of Curbs at Intersections ....................................14 
7-3 – Sight Triangle Leg Length Along R/W ....................................................................15 
7-6 – Minimum Intersection Sight Distance ......................................................................18 
17-1 – CBU Parking Requirements ...................................................................................29 

FIGURES 
 7-1 – Two Streets Intersecting the Same Street .................................................................14 
 7-2 – Type 1 & 2 Sight Triangle Sample Illustration ........................................................16 

7-3 – Type 3 Sight Triangle Sample Illustration ...............................................................17 
 7-6 – Intersection Sight Distance .......................................................................................18 

 
APPENDICIES 

 APPENDIX A – Application for New Street Maintenance Acceptance 
 APPENDIX B – PE Certification for Subdivisions and Streets 
 APPENDIX C – Private Street Maintenance Acceptance Petition 
 
 

 
 
II-1 Purpose 

II-2 Basic Design Considerations ...............................................................................................4 

  Traffic Volumes 

  Functional Classifications 

  Terrain Classifications 

  Design Speeds 

II-3 Cross-Section Standards ......................................................................................................6 

  Widths 

  Materials 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS  1.0   
 

iv 
 

II-4 Cul-de-Sac Design Standards ..........................................................................................187 

  Service Limits 

  Lengths 

  Connectivity Provisions 

  Termini 

II-5 Slope Standards ................................................................................................................198 

  Longitudinal Grades 

  Transverse Grades (Superelevation) 

II-6 Curve Standards .............................................................................................................2019 

  Horizontal Centerline Curve Radius 

  Tangent between Reverse Curves 

II-7 Intersection Standards ......................................................................................................221 

  Angles of Intersection 

  Corners 

  Backs-of-Curb 

  Distances between Intersections 

  Sight Triangle Easements 

II-8 Median and Island Standards ...........................................................................................276 

  Size 

  Contents 

  Where Required 

  Specifications 

II-9 Drainage Standards ..........................................................................................................276 

  Curbs and Gutters 

  Catch Basins 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS 
 1.0  1.0 Purpose 
 

v 
 

  Drop Inlets 

  Junction Boxes 

  Pipes 

  Graded Channels 

II-10 Sidewalk Standards ..........................................................................................................298 

  Locations 

  Specifications 

II-11 Curb and Gutter, Sidewalk Exemptions .........................................................................3029 

  Applicability 

  Conditions for Exemptions 

  Processes 

II-12 Guardrails .......................................................................................................................3029 

II-13 Street Naming Standards................................................................................................3129 

  Uniqueness 

  Labels 

II-14 Sign Standards .................................................................................................................310 

  Standard Signs 

  Custom Signs 

II-15 Unopened, Dedicated Street Standards ............................................................................321 

II-16 Alley Standard  ..................................................................................................................32 

II-17 Mixed Use Development Street Standards ......................................................................343 

 

 

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

1 
 

1.0 1.0 Purpose 
The purpose of this Article is to protect the safety of the traveling public in the City and to create 
a quality street network that will not require pre-mature maintenance.  All public streets inside the 
municipal limits of the City must be constructed in conformance with City standards and 
specifications.  If any conflicts arise between a City and North Carolina State Highway 
Commission standard, the more restrictive standard will apply. 

 The Director of Transportation, in consultation with other City departments and state 
agencies, may allow modifications to the design criteria.  Modifications to the design 
criteria: 
a. Must be based on sound engineering principles and practices, 
b. Must not create an unsafe or hazardous situation, 
c. Must be equivalent to the efficiency, functionality, durability, structural integrity, and 

long-term maintenance of the minimum criteria in this Article. 
d. Classifications must be in conformance with the current City of Concord 

Transportation Plan. 
 The Director of Transportation is authorized to require studies or other pertinent 

information to help support or justify the modification. 

2.0 Basic Design Considerations 
Streets must be designed to accommodate the volume and type of traffic they are intended to serve 
and the geometry of the landscape on which they will be located. 

A selection of standard details is provided in the City of Concord Manual of Standard 
Details to be used in conjunction with this Article. In the event of a conflict between the 
standard details and the provisions of this Article, the strictest standard will apply 

 Traffic Volumes.  The Average Daily Traffic (ADT) volume is a measurement of the 
users’ demand for a street.  ADT is defined as the total volume during a given time period 
(in whole days), greater than 1 day and less than 1 year, divided by the number of days in 
that time period.  The current ADT volume for a street can be readily determined when 
continuous traffic counts are available.  When only periodic counts are taken, the ADT 
volume can be estimated by adjusting the periodic counts according to such factors as the 
season, month, or day of the week.  If the ADT of a street is unknown, traffic count studies 
may be required to determine the design volume.  

  Traffic Volumes.  The Average Daily Traffic (ADT) volume is a measurement of the 
users’ demand for a street.  ADT is defined as the total volume during a given time period 
(in whole days), greater than 1 day and less than 1 year, divided by the number of days in 
that time period.  The current ADT volume for a street can be readily determined when 
continuous traffic counts are available.  When only periodic counts are taken, the ADT 
volume can be estimated by adjusting the periodic counts according to such factors as the 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

2 
 

season, month, or day of the week.  If the ADT of a street is unknown, traffic count studies 
may be required to determine the design volume.   
Functional Classifications.  Individual streets do not serve travel independently of one 
another.  Most vehicular travel involves movement through a network of streets.  
Therefore, the functional classification of a street must be determined before design criteria 
can be established for any proposed improvement.  Functional classifications are based on 
the nature of the services streets are intended to provide, combined with the proposed 
layout and location of new streets. Known or estimated Average Daily Traffic (ADT) may 
be used to determine whether a street needs a higher classification than that based solely 
on function. and the average daily traffic (ADT) typically served. Table 2-1 identifies some 
general characteristics of each street classification along with the ADT volume thresholds 
for classification of new streets. To verify the functional classification of existing streets 
in the City’s transportation service area, please refer to the City’s Transportation Plan. For 
the purposes of the City’s ordinances and these technical standards, the highest 
classification for the same street between that of the City or the NCDOT shall be used to 
determine the appropriate standards which apply. Functional classifications for proposed 
streets must be approved by the Director of Transportation prior to the final design of 
roadway layouts and preliminary plats. 

 Functional Classifications.  Individual streets do not serve travel 
independently of one another.  Most vehicular travel involves movement 
through a network of streets.  Therefore, the functional classification of a street 
must be determined before design criteria can be established for any proposed 
improvement.  Functional classifications are based on the nature of the services 
streets are intended to provide and the minimum average daily traffic (ADT) 
typically served.  Table 2-1 identifies each area street classification.  To verify 
the functional classification of existing streets in City’s transportation service 
area, please refer to the City’s Transportation Plan.  Functional classifications 
for proposed streets must be approved by the Director of Transportation prior 
to the design of roadway layouts and preliminary plats. 

 
Table 2-1:  Functional Classifications. 

 
Classification Function 

Freeway or Expressway 

Serves substantial statewide or interstate 
travel and exists solely to serve vehicular 
traffic; does not serve pedestrian and 
bicycle traffic 

Major Thoroughfare          
(Includes Boulevard) 

Provides for expeditious movement of 
high volumes of traffic within and 
through urban areas 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

3 
 

Minor Thoroughfare 

Collects traffic from local streets and 
collectors and carries it to the major 
thoroughfare system; supplements the 
major thoroughfare system by facilitating 
minor thru traffic movements; and 
sometimes serves adjacent property 

Major Collector 
Serves intra-county travel corridors and 
traffic generators and provides access to 
the thoroughfare system 

Minor Collector 

Provides service to small local 
communities and traffic generators and 
provides access to the major collector 
system 

Local Street Provides access to adjacent property over 
relatively short distances 

Alley 

Provides access to adjacent property, 
typically to the rear of the structures 
located on the property served, and 
usually serves as a route for utilities, 
garbage collection, and garage access in 
residential areas 

*Classification of Minor Collectors and lower will be based on the proposed street network layouts. 
 

Service Classifications.  Major collectors, minor collectors, local streets, and alleys may 
also be categorized as residential or non-residential. 

Residential Streets.  Residential streets serve residential property.  In general, 50% or 
more of the properties fronting a residential street are zoned for residential purposes.  
 

a. Non-Residential Streets.  When less than 50% of the street frontage is 
adjacent to residential property, the street is considered a non-residential street. 

 
 

Terrain Classifications.  Two terrain classifications are applicable to the Concord area.  
These classifications affect street design criteria.  All streets should be designed in 
accordance with the level terrain classification unless the necessary supporting data is 
presented and approved by the Director of Transportation for each street section designed 
using rolling terrain classification.  The term “slope” in this subsection includes the rise 
and fall of the existing topography measured both parallel and perpendicular to the 
centerline of the proposed street. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

4 
 

a. Level.  Slopes in a level terrain range from 0% to 8%.  In level terrain, horizontal and 
vertical street sight distances are generally long or can be designed to be so without 
construction difficulties or major expense. 

b. Rolling.  Slopes in a rolling terrain range from 8.1% to 15%.  Natural slopes 
consistently rise above and fall below the street grade line, and occasional steep slopes 
offer some restriction to normal highway horizontal and vertical alignment. 

 Rolling Terrain Classification Request 
1. Memo with reasoning for request that indicates the section of the proposed 

classification by the range of stations for each street included in the request. 
2. Plan view showing the horizontal alignment with appropriate stationing, existing 

topography, and other pertinent plan view elements. 
3. Profile view showing existing and proposed vertical alignment with the grades 

appropriately labeled and stationing corresponding with the plan view. 
 
b.  
Design Speeds.  Designers should use the highest design speed that is practical to attain 
the best possible degree of safety, mobility, and efficiency.  The design speed of a city 
street should be a minimum of five (5) miles per hour (mph) above the anticipated posted 
speed.  Geometric design features should be consistent with the selected design speed.  
Minimum dDesign speeds for each functional classification are provided in Table 2-2. 

 
Table 2-2:  Minimum Design Speeds. 

 
 
Classification 

Minimum Design Speed (mph) 
Level Terrain Rolling Terrain 

Freeway or Expressway 70* *65 
Major Thoroughfare 60 55 
Minor Thoroughfare 50 45 
Major Collector 50 50 
Minor Collector 40 40 
Local Street 4030 4030 
Alley 20 15 

*Reference NCDOT Guidelines 
 
 
 
 
 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

5 
 

 
 
3.0 Cross-Section Standards 

 Widths. 
a. Rights-of-Way.  Right-of-way widths are based on the street typeclassification.  Rights-

of-way must be at least as wide as the minimum widths provided in Table 3-1the table 
below. Rights-of-way must be platted and dedicated in the location and at the width 
shown on the approved plans. 

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

6 
 

Table 3-1:  Minimum Right-of-Way Widths. 
 

 
 
Classification 

 Minimum 
Right-of-Way 
Width (feet) 

Major Thoroughfare All 100-120 
Minor Thoroughfare All 80-100 
 Residential 6065 

Minor Collector Non-Residential 8071 
Residential  60656063 

Local Street All 50 
Alley* All 20 

Cul-de-Sac 
Non-Residential 80 

67.570-foot radius 

Residential 60 
60-foot radius 

*Alleys may be either R/W or Access Easement.  Alleys will not be accepted by the City of Concord for maintenance. 

b. Pavement.  Pavement widths are based on the street classifications and locations. Fire, 
or other City codes may dictate different widths, the minimum width that satisfies all 
standards will apply. The width from the edge of pavement perpendicularly to the edge 
of pavement must be asat least as wide as the minimum widths provided in Table 3-
2below: 

 
Table 3-2:  Minimum Pavement Widths. 

 

 
Classification  

Minimum 
Pavement Width 

(feet) 

Major Thoroughfare All 24 for each of two 
divided sections 

Minor Thoroughfare All 
24 for each of two 
divided sections or 

36’ non-divided 
 Residential 3424 

Minor Collector 
Non-Residential 3630 
Residential with On-Street Parallel Parking 34 
Residential without On-Street Parking 2422 

Local Street All 2420 
Alley All 16 

Cul-de-Sac Non-Residential 4648-foot radius 
Residential 38.5-foot radius 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

7 
 

 
 

 Materials.  All work and materials shall conform to the latest edition of the NCDOT 
Standard Specifications for Roads and Structures unless otherwise specified. The following 
material standards and thicknesses represent the minimum acceptable standards of the City.  
Pavement designs must consider existing soil types and geotechnical conditions.  The 
Engineering Department will review pavement designs. Failure to meet the following 
requirements may result in the delay or prevention of street acceptance by the City of 
Concord or NCDOT. 

 All applicable compaction, soils, concrete, or other required tests will be performed 
at no cost to the City and by an inspector sufficiently certified to perform such tests. Results 
from all applicable tests, all pavement and concrete mix designs, and all other material 
specifications shall be provided to the City inspector. The developer shall maintain their 
own records of all tests and inspections throughout the construction period. These records 
shall, at a minimum and as applicable, include information such as dates inspections are 
requested and performed, inspector’s name, results of inspections, re-inspections, dates and 
results of tests, and other applicable information as may be necessary.  
a. Subgrade. Shape the roadway to conform to the lines, grades and typical sections 

shown on the plans. Strip all existing vegetation from the ground surface wherever 
shaping of the roadway is to be done. Use all suitable surplus material in the 
construction of the roadway or stockpile for use in shoulder construction. Dispose of 
surplus material in excess of that needed for roadway or shoulder construction as waste. 
Remove all unsuitable material, boulders and all vegetative matter and replace with 
suitable material. Obtain suitable material, when not available from the shaping or fine 
grading operation, from roadway excavation or borrow sources. 
1. Preparation of Subgrade. Shape the subgrade to the lines, grades and typical 

sections shown on the plans.  
2. Compaction of Subgrade. Compact all material to a depth of 8 inches below the 

finished surface of the subgrade to a density equal to at least 100% of that obtained 
by compacting a sample of the material in accordance with AASHTO T 99 as 
modified by NCDOT. These modified testing procedures can be found in the 
NCDOT Conventional Density Operator’s Manual. Provide private lab soil 
compaction reports to the inspector for random subgrade tests every 200 LF, 3 
minimum per street, and 2 per cul-de-sac, or as directed by the inspector. Proof 
Rolls may be required in addition to density tests as directed by the City inspector. 

3. New densities may be required if it has been more than 7 days since the densities 
were performed or there has been a rain event greater than ½”. 

4. Contractor should perform a self-proofroll and repair deficiencies before calling for 
an inspection. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

8 
 

5. Subgrade should be neat, clean, trimmed, and rolled down. 
6. After all above items have been completed, then a subgrade proofroll can be 

scheduled and performed with the inspector. 
7. Base Course must be placed within 7 days or before any ½” or greater rain event or 

another proofroll may be required. 
 

a.b. Base Course.  Prior to the placement of the base course the subgrade shall 
be sufficiently compacted, inspected and accepted by the City inspector. The material 
for the base course of the street must be crusher-run stone with aggregates ranging from 
one and one-half (1½) inch diameter particles to dust and must meet the standards of 
tNCDOT’she latest edition NC DOT of Standard Specifications for Roads and 
Structures.  The City inspector shall be given a (24) twenty-four hourtwenty-four-hour 
notification to inspect the base course prior to the application of the intermediate 
course. All deficiency repairs are to be monitored by a City inspector and accepted 
prior to application of the intermediate course. 
1. The material should consist of tough durable aggregate, containing sufficient fines 

to ensure a well-bonded and uniform base after compaction.   
2. The aggregate must be free from an excess of flat, elongated, soft disintegrated 

pieces, and should not contain clay, silt, vegetative, or other objectionable matter.   
3. The mixing and shaping of the base course material must be performed with a 

power-driven motor grader, equipped with a blade not less than ten (10) feet long, 
and equal to or equivalent to a full sizefull-size motor grader with 125 horsepower 
or greater.   

3.4.All edges and manholes are to be trimmed to the proper depth.  Remove any loose 
stone. All manhole covers shall be adjusted to final pavement grade and slope. 

5. The base shall be compacted to 100% of the maximum density obtainable with the 
Modified Proctor Test (AASHTO-T180) by rolling with ring or temping roller or 
and with pneumatic tired roller with a minimum weight of ten tons. When 
completed, the base course must be smooth, hard, dense, unyielding and well 
bonded. The procedures for the Modified AASHTO-T180 test can be found in the 
NCDOT Conventional Density Operator’s Manual. Provide private lab stone base 
compaction reports to the inspector. 

6. New densities may be required if it has been more than 7 days since the densities 
were performed or there has been a rain event greater than ½”. 

7. Contractor shall perform a self-proofroll and repair deficiencies before calling for 
an inspection. 

8. After all above items have been completed then a proofroll can be scheduled and 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

9 
 

performed with the inspector. 
9. Intermediate Course must be placed within 7 days or before any ½” or greater rain 

event or another proofroll may be required. 
  

4.c. Prime Coat. If application of the intermediate course is not completed within seven 
(7) days following stone base approval, a prime coat shall be applied. The material for 
the prime coat must be consistent with NCDOT Standard Specifications for Roads and 
Structures. 

d. Intermediate Course.  The material for the binderintermediate course of the street 
must be consistent with NC DOT’s Superpave ManualStandard Specifications for 
Roads and Structures.  Asphalt plants providing the material for the binderintermediate 
course must be certified by NC DOT. The City inspector shall be given a (24) twenty-
four hourtwenty-four-hour notification to inspect the intermediate course prior to the 
application of the first lift of the surface course. All deficiency repairs are to be 
monitored by a City inspector and accepted prior to application of the first lift of the 
surface course. 
1. Compaction must meet NCDOT requirements. The contractor shall perform quality 

control on asphalt by performing random density tests every 200 LF, 3 minimum 
per street, and 2 in each cul-de-sac, or as directed by inspector. Superpave mixes 
are to be compacted 90.0% of the maximum specific gravity. Provide results to 
inspector the following day. 

b.  
e. Surface Course.  The material for the surface course of the street must be consistent 

with NC DOT’s Superpave ManualStandard Specifications for Roads and Structures.  
Asphalt plants providing the material for the surface course must be certified by NC 
DOT. The City inspector shall be given a (72) seventy-two hourseventy-two-hour 
notification to inspect the initial surface course lift prior to the application of the final 
lift. All deficiency repairs are to be monitored by a City inspector and accepted prior 
to the application of the final lift of asphalt surface course. 

 
1. The surface lift should be installed in 2 separate lifts a minimum of 1” thick for 

Local Streets, and 1.5” thick for higher classifications.  The first lift should be 
applied directlyimmediately following the application, inspection, and acceptance 
of the intermediate course, and the second lift is to be installed after all other 
requirements for City acceptance have been met. All known base failures shall be 
repaired prior to the application of the final lift of asphalt surface course. 

2. Compaction must meet NCDOT requirements. The contractor shall perform quality 
control on asphalt by performing random density tests every 200 LF, 3 minimum 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

10 
 

per street, and 2 in each cul-de-sac, or as directed by inspector. Superpave mixes 
are to be compacted 90.0% of the maximum specific gravity. Provide results to 
inspector the following day. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Table 3-3:  Base, Intermediate, and Surface Courses 

 

.* Pavement sections must be designed on a case by case basis with the residential 
specifications being the minimum requirements.  

f. Tack Coat.  The material for tack coats must be consistent with NCDOT Standard 
Specifications for Roads and Structures.  Asphalt plants providing the material for tack 
coats must be certified by NC DOT. 
c. Tack coats must be applied between each layer of asphalt to be placed.  

 
 

Classification
Base

Course
Intermediate

Course
Surface
Course

Major Thoroughfare All * * *
Minor Thoroughfare All * * *

Non-Residential * * *

Residential
10” CABC or
5" B-25.0C 2.25” I-19.0C 3.0” S 9.5B

Non-Residential * * *

Residential
10” CABC or
5" B-25.0C 2.25” I-19.0C 3.0” S 9.5B

Non-Residential * * *
Residential 8” CABC or 4” B-25.0C 2.25” I-19.0C 2.5” S 9.5B

Alley All 8”CABC 1.5” S 9.5B

Major Collector

Local Street

Minor Collector



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

11 
 

Table 3-3:  Base, Intermediate, and Surface Courses. 
 
 
Classification 

 Base 
Course 

Intermediate 
Course 

Surface 
Course 

Major Thoroughfare All * * * 
Minor Thoroughfare All * * * 
Major Collector Non-Residential * * * 
 Residential 10” CABC or 

5” B-25.0X 
2.25” I-19.0X 23.0” SF 

9.5X 
Minor Collector Non-Residential * * * 
 Residential 10” CABC or 

5” B-25.0X 
2.25” I-19.0X 23.0” SF 

9.5X 
Local Street Non-Residential * * * 
 Residential 8” CABC or 

4” B-25.0X 
2.25” I-19.0X 12.5” SF 

9.5X 
Alley All 8”CABC  1.5” SF 

9.5X 
 * Pavement cross sections must be designed on a case by case basis. 
  
  
  

d.g. Street Shoulder.  Fill embankments must be formed of suitable materials 
placed in successive layers of not more than six (6) inches in depth for the full width 
of the cross section, including the width of the slope area.  All materials for fill 
embankments must be consistent with NCDOT Standard Specifications for Roads and 
Structures. 
1. No stumps, trees, brush, rubbish or other unsuitable materials or substances shall 

be placed in the embankments within any right-of-way or easement.   
2. Each successive six-inch layer shall be thoroughly compacted by a sheepsfoot 

tamping roller, ten-ton, three-wheel  power roller, pneumatic-tired roller or other 
method approved by the Director of Engineering.  Embankments over and around 
all pipes and culverts shall be of select material, placed and thoroughly tamped and 
compacted as directed by the Director of Engineering or theirhis/her representative. 
Any soft spots or pumping areas must be removed and replaced in the manner stated 
above until satisfactory compaction is achieved.  

h. Concrete. ALL concrete used for streets, curb and gutter, sidewalks and drainage 
structures multi-use paths, etc. shall have a minimum compressive strength of 3600 PSI 
at 28 days.  This requirement shall be provided regardless of any lesser compressive 
strength specified in the NCDOT Standard Specifications for Roads and Structures. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

12 
 

The contractor shall prepare concrete test cylinders in accordance with section 1000 of 
the NCDOT Standard Specifications for Roads and Structures at the direction of the 
project inspector.  All equipment and cylinder molds shall be furnished by the 
contractor.  It shall be the responsibility of the contractor to protect the cylinders until 
such time as they are transported for testing.  Testing for projects shall be performed 
by an independent testing lab sufficiently certified to perform such tests, at no cost to 
the City.  The contractor shall provide equipment and perform tests on concrete for a 
maximum slump and air content as defined in Section 1000 of the NCDOT Standard 
Specifications for Roads and Structures.  These tests shall be performed at a frequency 
established by the inspector.  Materials failing to meet the specifications shall be 
removed by the contractor. 
1. All concrete shall be cured with 100% Resin Base, white pigmented curing 

compound which meets ASTM Specifications C-309, Type 1, applied at a uniform 
rate of one (1) gallon to 400 square feet within 24 hours of placement of concrete. 

i. Backfill. All backfill shall be non-plastic in nature, free from roots, vegetative matter, 
waste, construction material or other objectionable material.  Said material shall be 
capable of being compacted by mechanical means and the material shall have no 
tendency to flow or behave in a plastic manner under the tamping blows or proof 
rolling.  
1. Materials deemed by the inspector as unsuitable for backfill purposes shall be 

removed and replaced with select backfill material. 
j. Concrete or asphalt shall not be placed until the air temperature measured at the 

location of the paving operation is at 35 degrees F and rising by 10:00 a.m. Concrete 
or paving operations should be suspended when the air temperature is 40 degrees F and 
descending. The contractor shall protect freshly placed concrete or asphalt in 
accordance with Sections 420 (Concrete Structures), 600 (Asphalt Bases And 
Pavements), and 700 (Concrete Pavements And Shoulders) of the NCDOT Standard 
Specifications for Roads and Structures when the air temperature is at or below 35 
degrees F and the concrete has not obtained an age of 72 hours. 

  
3. Any soft spots or pumping areas must be removed and replaced in the manner stated above 

until satisfactory compaction is achieved. 
  
   



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

13 
 

 
 

4.0 Cul-de- Sac Design Standards 
4.0  

 Where a turn-around is required on a public or private street, a properly dimensioned cul-
de-sac should be provided. “Hammer-head” designs will not be permitted. 
Design Standard Exceptions.  Cul-de-sacs are subject to the same design guidelines as 
those given for the appropriate local strestreet et classification, with the exception of the 
following design standards that are specific to cul-de-sacs. 
a. Service Limits.  A cul-de-sac can serve no more than twenty (20) residential units.  
 Lengths.  Cul-de-sacs must not exceed the lengths provided in Table 4-12.  Length is 

measured from the center of the terminus to the centerline of the closest intersecting 
street providing access to the cul-de-sac. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 4-12:  Maximum Lengths for Cul-de-Sacs. 
 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

14 
 

Zoning 
District 

Maximum Length 
(feet) 

AG 1,000 
B-1 500 
C-1 500 
C-2 500 
CC 300 
CD 1,500 
I-1 1,500 
I-2 1,500 
O-I 500 

PUD 500 
RC 300 

RE/RL 1,000 
RL 1,000 

RM-1 800 
RM-2 800 
RU 300 
RV 600 

 
 

 
Zoning District 

Maximum Length 
(feet) 

AG 1,000 
B-1 500 
C-1 500 
C-2 500 
CC 300 
CD 1,500 
I-1 1,500 
I-2 1,500 
O-I 500 

PUD 500 
RC 300 
RE 1,000 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

15 
 

RL 1,000 
RM-1 800 
RM-2 800 
RU 300 
RV 800600 

 
b. Connectivity Provisions.  If the cul-de-sac is located along a corridor included in the 

City of Concord’s Transportation Plan or if the cul-de-sac is located along a corridor 
that will serve as a future thru street in accordance with a recorded subdivision plat or 
site plan, preliminary and final engineering plans must show a stub (extension of the 
street right-of-way) from the terminus of the cul-de-sac to the edge of the area being 
developed.  Prior to final plat Tthe stub must be duly signed in the field as to the 
potential for future extension. 

 
 
c. Termini.  The terminus of the cul-de-sac must be designed to allow vehicles to turn 

around and exit to the adjoining street. 
1. Radii.  The radius for the terminus (bulb or turnaround) must not be less than forty 

(40) feet to the face of curb as shown on the detail drawings. 
2. Islands.  An island may be locatedproposed or required in the center of the terminus 

of the cul-de-sac.  Islands  will be reviewed on a case-by-case-basismust meet the 
design standards provided in Section 7.6. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

16 
 

5.0 Slope Standards 
 

 Longitudinal Grade.  Longitudinal grades may range between one percent (1.0%) and 
twelve percent (12%).  Table 5-1 identifies the maximum longitudinal grade for each 
functional classification. 

 
Table 5-1:  Maximum Longitudinal Grades. 

 
 
Classification 

Conditions (Terrain or  
Proximity to Intersection) 

Maximum 
Grade 

Freeway or Expressway  * 
Major Thoroughfare  * 
Minor Thoroughfare  * 

Major Collector 
Level Terrain 
Rolling Terrain 
Intersection in ≤ 100 feet 

6% 
9% 
3% 

Minor Collector 
Level Terrain 
Rolling Terrain 
Intersection in ≤ 100 feet 

6% 
9% 
5% 

Local Street 
Level Terrain 
Rolling Terrain 
Intersection in ≤ 100 feet 

9% 
12% 
5% 

Alley 
Level Terrain 
Rolling Terrain 
Intersection in ≤ 100 feet 

9% 
12% 
5% 

* Consult the latest edition of AASHTO’s The Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets. 
 

 Transverse Grade.  
a. Street Surface.  Transverse grades on the street surface must have a one-fourth           ( 

¼ ) inch rise to one (1) foot run slope.  Superelevation rates, minimum runoff lengths, 
and methods of distribution should be designed in accordance with AASHTO 
guidelines. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

17 
 

Table 5-2:  Maximum Superelevation Transverse Slope for Minimum Centerline Radius. 
 

Classification Maximum Superelevation  
Transverse Slope (feet/feet) 

 Level Terrain Rolling Terrain 
Freeway or Expressway * * 
Major Thoroughfare * * 
Minor Thoroughfare * * 
Major Collector 0.04 0.04 
Minor Collector 0.04 0.04 
Local Street normal crown normal crown 
Alley N/A N/A 

* Consult the latest edition of AASHTO’s The Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets. 
 

b. Street Shoulder. 
1. Minimum width.  The minimum shoulder width shall be 6 feet wide measured from 

the edge of pavement.  The transverse grade for street shoulders shall be ¼” per 
foot. 

 Fill/Cut Slopes.  The maximum transverse grade for fill street shoulders slopes is a 
one (1) foot rise to threetwo (23) foot run slope., and one (1) foot rise to two (2) 
foot run for cut slopes. 

 
6.0 Curve Standards 
 

 Horizontal Centerline Curve Radius.  Table 6-1 provides the minimum horizontal 
centerline curve radii for each functional classification. 

 
Table 6-1:  Minimum Horizontal Centerline Curve Radii. 

 
Classification Minimum Horizontal Centerline Curve Radii (feet) 
 Level Terrain Rolling Terrain 
Freeway or Expressway * * 
Major Thoroughfare * * 
Minor Thoroughfare * * 
Major Collector 310 230 
Minor Collector 310 230 
Local Street 230 150 
Alley 90 90 
* Consult the latest edition of AASHTO’s The Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

18 
 

 
 
 

 Tangent Between Reverse Curves.  Table 6-2 provides the minimum tangent between 
reverse curves for each functional classification. 

Table 6-2:  Minimum Tangent Between Reverse Curves. 
 

 
Classification 

Minimum Tangent Between 
Reverse Curves (feet) 

Freeway or Expressway * 
Major Thoroughfare * 
Minor Thoroughfare * 
Major Collector 200 
Minor Collector 200 
Local Street 100 
Alley 0 

* Consult the latest edition of AASHTO’s The Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets. 

 Vertical Centerline Curves. Table 6-3 provides the minimum Rates of Vertical Curvature 
(K) for each functional and terrain classification. 

  

Table 6-2:  Minimum Tangent Between Reverse Curves. 
 

 
Classification 

Minimum Tangent Between 
Reverse Curves (feet) 

Freeway or Expressway * 
Major Thoroughfare * 
Minor Thoroughfare * 
Major Collector 200 
Minor Collector 200 
Local Street 100 
Alley 0 

* Consult the latest edition of AASHTO’s The Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

19 
 

Table 6-3:  Rate of Vertical Curvature (K)**. 
Classification  Level Terrain Rolling Terrain 

Freeway or Expressway 
Crest * * 
Sag * * 
Stop * * 

Major Thoroughfare 
Crest * * 
Sag * * 
Stop * * 

Minor Thoroughfare 
Crest * * 
Sag * * 
Stop * * 

Major Collector 
Crest 45 30 
Sag 45 30 
Stop 20 14 

Minor Collector 
Crest 45 30 
Sag 45 30 
Stop 20 14 

Local Street 
Crest 30 20 
Sag 30 20 
Stop 14 9 

Alley 
Crest 30 20 
Sag 30 20 
Stop 14 9 

* Consult the latest edition of AASHTO’s The Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets. 
** K = (Length of the Vertical Curve in Feet) ÷ (Percent Algebraic Difference in the Grades Before and After the 

Vertical) 
 
 
 
 
 
7.0 Intersection Standards 
 

 Angles of Intersection.  When practical, streets must intersect at an angle of ninety (90) 
degrees.  The centerlines of the intersecting streets should remain straight for a minimum 
of fifty (50) feet from the point of intersection of the two streets edge of travel way of the 
intersecting street.  In no case should the angle of intersection be less than seventy (70) 
degrees. 

 Corners. 
a. Quantity.  Intersections shall not have more than four (4) corners. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

20 
 

b. Right-of-Way.  Property lines at intersections must be established so that the distance 
from the edge of pavement at the street turnout to the property line is at least as great 
as the distance from the edge of pavement to the property line along the intersecting 
streets.   
1. This property line can be established as a radius or as a sight triangle.   
2. Minimum and maximum street right-of-way curve radii are provided in Table 7-1. 

 
Table 7-1:  Minimum and Maximum Right-of-Way Curve Radii at Intersections. 

 

Zoning District 
Minimum Radii 

(feet) 
Maximum Radii 

(feet) 
AG 30 N/A 
B-1 30 45 
C-1 30 N/A 
C-2 30 N/A 
CC 30 45 
CD 30 N/A 
I-1 30 N/A 
I-2 30 N/A 
O-I 30 45 

PUD 30 45 
RC 30 45 
RE 30 N/A 
RL 30 N/A 

RM-1 30 N/A 
RM-2 30 N/A 
RU 30 N/A 
RV 30 45 

 
 Backs-of-Curb.  Curbs must be rounded at the corners of intersections to facilitate the 

movement of traffic.  The minimum corner radii for backs-of-curb at street intersections 
are provided in Table 7-2. 

 
 

 

 

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

21 
 

Table 7-2:  Minimum Corner Radii for Backs-of-Curb at Intersections. 
 

Classification Minimum Corner Radii (feet) 
Freeway or Expressway * 
Major Thoroughfare * 
Minor Thoroughfare * 
Major Collector 30 
Minor Collector 30 
Local Street 30 
Alley 20 

* Consult the N.C. Department of Transportation Division of Highways’ Transportation Plan. 

 
Distances between Intersections.  Proposed streets that intersect opposite sides of the 
same street (either existing or proposed) should be designed to intersect directly opposite 
one another as shown in Figure 7-1a.   
a. Minimum lengths for Local Streets and Minor Collectors. 

1. A minimum length of 200 feet between street centerlines must separate proposed 
streets that cannot be aligned to create a shared intersection as shown in Figure 7-
1b.   

2. A minimum length of 400 feet between centerlines must separate streets with 
opposing left-hand turns as shown in Figure 7-1c.  

b. Minimum lengths for higher street classifications.   Minimum lengths for higher street 
classifications must be reviewed and approved by the Director of Transportation, but 
in no case can the distance be less than 400 feet. 

a.  
1. A minimum length of 200 feet between street centerlines must separate proposed 

streets that cannot be aligned to create a shared intersection as shown in Figure 7-
1b.   

2.1.A minimum length of 400 feet between centerlines must separate streets with 
opposing left-hand turns as shown in Figure 7-1c.  

b. Minimum lengths for higher street classifications.   Minimum lengths for higher street 
classifications must be reviewed and approved by the Director of Transportation, but 
in no case can the distance be less than 400 feet.  
  



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

22 
 

                         a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b.  b.                                         c. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 7-1:  Two Streets Intersecting the Same Street. 
 

 Sight Triangle Easements.  Sight triangle easements are required in every zoning district 
of the City except for the CC District.  Sight triangle easements must be shown on all plans 
and recorded on a final plat.  NCDOT may have separate and/or additional requirements 
regarding Sight Triangles, the strictest standard that satisfies all requirements will apply. 
Dimensions given in this section are the minimums, evaluation of sight distance may 
require larger sight triangle easements. 
A. Type 1 

a. Type 1 sight triangles must be maintained on property located at intersections of: 
1. Two streets of any classification 
2. A street and a railroad 
3. A street and a non-residential driveway 

b. Size and Measurement - A sample illustration is provided in Figure 7-2.   
1. The lengths of the Type 1 sight triangle legs are based on the widths of the 

intersecting rights-of-way of the where the intersection occurs. 

200 feet 
400 feet 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

23 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 7-3:  Sight Triangle Leg Length along a Right-of-Way  
Measured from the Point of Intersection 

 
 

Right-of-Way Width* 
(feet) 

 

Length (F or G) 
(feet) 

≤50 25 
60 30 
70 35 
80 40 
90 45 

≥100 50 
*Or pavement width where no R/W exists. 

 

2. Type 1 Sight triangles are measured from the following three points as shown 
on Figure 7-2: 
a. Point 1.  The point of intersection of two right-of-way lines or driveway 

pavement edge., 
b. Point 2.  The point along right-of-way one (1) a distance from Point 1 as 

determined by the width of right-of-way one (1) in accordance with Table 
7-3, and 

c. Point 3.  The point along right-of-way two (2) a distance from Point 1 as 
determined by the width of right-of-way two (2) in accordance with Table 
7-3. 

B. Type 2 
1a. In addition to Type 1 sight triangles, Type 2 sight triangles must be maintained on 
 property located at intersections of: 

1. Any street with a street classified as a collector or higher. 
2. Any non-residential driveway with a street classified as a collector or higher. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

24 
 

 
2b. Size and Measurement - A sample illustration is provided in Figure 7-2.   

1. Type 2 Sight triangles are measured from the following three points as shown 
on Figure 7-2: 
a. Point A.  The point of intersection of two right-of-way lines or R/W and 

driveway pavement edge., 
b. Point B.  The point along right-of-way one (1) a distance of 10 feet from 

Point A, and 
c. Point C.  The point along right-of-way two (2) a distance of 70 feet from 

Point A. 
 
 
 
 

Figure 7-2:  Type 1 & 2 Sight Triangle Sample Illustration 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

C. Type 3 
a. Type 3 Sight Triangles must be maintained on property located at intersections of: 

1 2 A C
 

B
 

 

3 

70’ 
10’ 

F 

G 

          Right-of-Way 2 
(Highest Classification) 

 

  Right-of-Way 1 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

25 
 

a1. Residential driveways and streets 
b. Size and Measurement - A sample illustration is provided in Figure 7-3. 

1.  Sight triangles are measured from the following three points: 
1a..  Point 1.  The point of intersection of the street right-of-way line and 

the edge of the driveway pavement, 
2b. Point 2.  The point along the street right-of-way a distance of ten (10) feet 

from Point 1, and 
3c.  Point 3.  The point along the edge of the driveway pavement a distance of 

ten (10) feet from Point 1 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 7-3:  Type 3 Sight Triangle Sample Illustration 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 
2 

 

3 

10’ 

10’ 

 

G 

          Right-of-Way  
 

 

Driveway 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

26 
 

D. Objects Not Allowed within Sight Triangles.  Objects within sight triangles must be 
restricted to give the users of the street or driveway an unobstructed view of oncoming 
vehicles and pedestrians.  No structures, berms, vegetation, or other visual obstruction 
with a height equal to or greater than two (2) feet above the street surface elevation is 
allowed within the sight triangle, except those listed in the following subsection. The 
dimensions given represent the dimensions of the Sight Triangle Easements as 
measured at the R/W. 
 

E. Objects Allowed within Sight Triangles.  The following objects are allowed within 
sight triangles: 
1. Public utility poles, 
2. Official warning signs or signals, 
3. Supporting members or appurtenances to permanent buildings lawfully existing 

prior to April 11, 1996. 
4. Other signs that meet all of the following criteria: 

a. Conform to the City’s sign ordinance, and 
b. Are mounted at a height equal to or greater than ten (10) feet above the street 

surface, and 
c. Have supports that do not obscure the view of oncoming vehicles and 

pedestrians. 
 
Supporting members or appurtenances to permanent buildings lawfully existing 
prior to April 11, 1996. 

 
 Sight Triangle Easements.  Sight triangle easements are required in every 

zoning district of the City except for the CC District.  Sight triangle easements 
must be shown on all plans and recorded on a final plat.   

a. Locations.  Sight triangles must be maintained on property located at the 
intersection of: 

1. Two streets of any classification, 
2. A street and a railroad, and 
3. A street and a driveway. 

b. Size and Measurement. A sample illustration is provided in Figure 7-2.   
c. Intersections of Two Streets or Streets and Railroads.  The lengths of the 

legs of a site triangle are based on the widths of the intersecting rights-of-
way and the functional classification of the streets where the intersection 
occurs. 

d. Sight Triangle Measurements. Based on Width of Right-of-Way.  Sight 
triangles are measured from the following three points: 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

27 
 

1. Point 1.  The point of intersection of two right-of-way lines, 
2. Point 2.  The point along right-of-way one a distance from Point 1 as 

determined by the width of right-of-way one in accordance with Table 7-
3, and 

3. Point 3.  The point along right-of-way two a distance from Point 1 as 
determined by the width of right-of-way two in accordance with Table 7-
3. 

Table 7-3:  Sight Triangle Leg Length along a Right-of-Way  
Measured from the Point of Intersection 

 
Right-of-Way Width 

(feet) 
Length 
(feet) 

50 25 
60 30 
70 35 
80 40 
90 45 

≥100 50 
 
e. Functional Classification.  Additional site triangle easements are needed at the 

intersection of two streets if at least one of the streets has the following functional 
classification:   

1. freeway or expressway;  
2. major thoroughfare;  
3. minor thoroughfare, major collector; or  
4. minor collector.   
f. Measuring.  Site triangles are measured from the following three points: 
1. Point A.  The point of intersection of the two street right-of-way lines, 
2. Point B.  The point along the right-of-way of the street with the highest functional 

classification (highest ADT) a distance of 70 feet from Point 1, and 
3. Point C.  The point along right-of-way of the intersecting street a distance of 10 feet 

from Point 1. 
Figure 7-2:  Sight Triangle Sample Illustration 

 
 
 
 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

28 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
g. Intersections of Streets and Residential Driveways.  Sight triangles are measured 

from the following three points: 
1. Point 1.  The point of intersection of the street right-of-way line and the edge of the 

driveway pavement, 
2. Point 2.  The point along the street right-of-way a distance of ten (10) feet from Point 

1, and 
3. Point 3.  The point along the edge of the driveway pavement a distance of ten (10) feet 

from Point 1. 
h. Intersections of Streets and Non-Residential Driveways.  Site triangle requirements 

are addressed during the driveway permitting process. 
i. Objects Not Allowed within Sight Triangles.  Objects within sight triangles must be 

restricted to give the users of the street or driveway an unobstructed view of oncoming 
vehicles and pedestrians.  No structures, berms, vegetation, or other visual 
obstruction with a height equal to or greater than two (2) feet above the street surface 
elevation is allowed within the sight triangle, except those listed in the following 
subsection. 

j. Objects Allowed within Sight Triangles.  The following objects are allowed within 
sight triangles: 

1 2 A B 

C 

Major Collector 

3 

70’ 
10’ 

40’ 

30’ 

80’ Right-of-Way 

Local 
Street 

60’ Right-of-Way 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

29 
 

1. Public utility poles, 
2. Official warning signs or signals, 
3. Other signs that meet all of the following criteria: 
(a) Conform to the City’s sign ordinance, and 
(b) Are mounted at a height equal to or greater than ten (10) feet above the street surface, 

and 
(c) Have supports that do not obscure the view of oncoming vehicles and pedestrians. 
4. Supporting members or appurtenances to permanent buildings lawfully existing 

prior to April 11, 1996. 
 Roundabouts/Traffic Circles.  Roundabout/traffic circle designs must be reviewed 

and approved by the Director of Transportation based on current engineering 
standards.  Sight Distance. Sight distance shall be measured at a height of 3.5’ above the 
ground with a minimum of 1’ vertical separation between the highest obstruction at ground 
level and the sight line, and 5’ between the sight line and the bottom of tree canopies, or 
objects above the surface. Table 7-6 gives the sight distance for stop controlledMinimum 
Sight Distance should be provided as outlined in Article VIII, Appendix E of the TSM 
intersections.  

 

Table 7-6 

Design Speed 
(mph) 

Minimum Intersection Sight Distance (ISD)* 
Passenger 

Cars 
(ft.) 

Left / Right 

Single Unit 
Trucks 

(ft.) 
Left / Right 

Combination Trucks 
(ft.) 

Left / Right 

20 225 / 195 279 / 250 337 / 310 
25 280 / 240 348 / 315 422 / 385 
30 335 / 290 418 / 375 506 / 465 
35 390 / 335 488 / 440 590 / 540 
40 445 / 385 557 / 500 675 / 620 
45 500 / 430 627 / 565 759 / 695 
50 555 / 480 697 / 625 843 / 770 
55 610 / 530 766 / 685 927 / 850 

*Values are based on case B1 and B2 from AASHTO Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and 
Streets with base condition of two-lane highway with no median and grades <=3%. For conditions 
outside of the base conditions appropriate adjustments should be made in accordance with AASHTO 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

30 
 

Policy. 

 

 

Figure 7-6 

 

  
 Roundabouts/Traffic Circles. Roundabouts may be required at certain intersections 

within developments proposing a new network of public streets to provide traffic calming 
and help create a safe environment for drivers and pedestrians. Locations of Roundabouts 
will be determined by the Planning and Transportation Departments. Designs must be 
reviewed and approved by the Director of Transportation or theirhis/her representative. 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

31 
 

8.0 Median and Island Standards 
 

 Where Required.  Entrance roads shall include a median in conformance with the City’s 
development ordinances, except that the Director of Transportation may waive this 
requirement if the Director determines that such a median is not practicalpractical, or such 
installation would create a hazard. 

 Size.  Islands must be a minimum of 75 square feet and entrance medians must be a 
minimum of one half the required stem length of the intersecting street(s)of 75 square feet 
in size and at least minimum of 4 feet wide. Lengths of non-entrance medians are to be 
approved by the Transportation Director.  Where median widths are specified, a median of 
not less than the designated width must be provided. 

 Contents.  Structures, permanent materials or plantings within the island or median should 
not obscure the visibility of cars entering a cross street for a distance of 20 feet back from 
the curb face of the cross street, unless a larger setback is needed due to inadequate sight 
distance created by horizontal or vertical curve alignment.  Islands and medians mustshould 
be landscaped at a density equivalent to a Class “A” buffer as set forth in the Landscaping 
Standards of in the City’s development ordinances.  

 Specifications.  The nose of the median must be at least 6 feet from edge of the 
perpendicular thru lane.  Standard 2’-6” curb and guttering should be used unless 1’-6” is 
approved must be used.  A minimum 14-foot travelwaytravel way must be provided on 
each side of the median/island. Medians and islands which encroach into NCDOT R/W 
must be approved by NCDOT. 

 
9.0 Drainage Standards 
  A drainage system must be provided that adequately facilitates the movement of stormwater off 
and under streets.  This drainage system may include curbs and gutters, catch basins, stormwater 
pipes, and graded channels.  Each component of the drainage system should be designed by a 
registered professional engineer and installed in accordance to City construction specifications and 
standards.  Please refer to Article 1 Section 3 of these Technical Standards. 
 

 Curbs and Gutters.  
a. Required Locations.  Concrete curbs and gutters must be included on all new streets, 

on and all existing streets which the property to be subdivided or developed fronts, and 
on all streets that provide access to a new development or subdivision, except those 
listed in the following subsection. 

b. Exemptions.  Concrete curbs and gutters are not required along the following streets: 
1. Interstate highways, 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

32 
 

2. Numbered State highways with topography that does not allow for reasonable or 
practical installation, and 

3. Numbered State highways where the N.C. Department of Transportation has not 
determined the ultimate right-of-way width stipulates no curb and gutter should be 
installed. 

c. Specifications.   
 

Figure 9-1:  Curb and Gutter Detail. 
 
1. Curbs and gutters must be built in accordance with City of Concord Standards and 

NCDOT Standards.  NCDOT Standard 846.01 forStandard 2’-6” curb and gutter is 
to be used on all major and minor collector streets streets.  Valley curb is allowed 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

33 
 

only on local streets and alleys. 
2. All excess concrete on the front edge (lip) of gutter shall be removed when curb 

and gutter is poured with a machine. 
1.3.All curb and gutter shall be backfilled with soil approved by the inspector within 

48 hours after construction to prevent erosion. 
 Catch Basins.   

a. Required Locations.  Catch basins shall be located: 
1. Aas outlined in Article 1 Section 3 of these Technical Standards, and 
2. On both sides of the street at low points. 

b. Specifications. 
1. Catch basin frames and grates must be in accordance with NCDOT Standards.  

Improvised grates will not be acceptable. 
2. Catch basin frames must be cast with the following statement: “Dump No Waste 

Drains to Stream” or a comparable statement as approved by the Director of 
Environmental Services Engineering. 

3. Catch basins must be built in accordance with NCDOT Standards. 
4. Catch basins walls must be built straight with inside joints struck smooth.  Precast 

catch basins may be acceptable with the approval of the Director of Engineering. 
4.5.Roll-over frame and grate inlets are not permitted within driveways. 

 
 

 Pipes. 
a. Stormwater. 

1. Required Locations.  Stormwater pipes should be placed at all low points in the 
street grade to transmit storm water transversely across the street.  Additionally, 
stormwater pipes should be parallel to the street, but not under the street, when 
necessary to unless transmitting stormwater from one catch basin to another on the 
opposite side of the street.. 

2. Size.  The minimum pipe diameter shall be fifteen (15) inches, regardless of the size 
of the drainage area. 

3. Depth.  The minimum cover for all pipe shall be two (2) feet, or as otherwise 
approved for Class IV and V RCP in accordance with NCDOT Standards.. 

4. Material.  All pipe must be concrete conforming to the N.C. DOT Standard 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

34 
 

Specifications of Road and Structures.  For special conditions, alternative pipe 
materials recommended by the manufacturer for the type of installation involved, 
andinvolved and approved by the Director of Engineering will be considered.  Any 
concrete pipe laid between the concrete curbs shall be reinforced. 

b. Construction.  All pipe must be laid with the bell or groove upgrade and joint entirely 
interlocking. 

c. Groundwater.  Subdrainage must be provided where the groundwater table is within 
two (2) feet of the subgrade.  Subdrainage design must be approved by the Director of 
Engineering. 

d. Graded Channels.  Ditches proposed within the street rights-of-way will need to be 
approved on a case to case basis.  Ditches should be a minimum of thirty-six (36) inches 
deep and two (2) feet in width. Ditches, swales, or other drainage features shall not be 
designed or allowed to dischargeconcentrate water flow onto or across sidewalks. 

 
10.0 Sidewalk Standards 

 Locations.  Sidewalks should be provided for the safe movement of pedestrians, separate 
from the movement of vehicular traffic, through residential, commercial, and industrial 
areas, as well as public places.  Sidewalks must be constructed along both sides of all new 
streets in a subdivision, and along any street  that which the property to be subdivided 
fronts and any street which provides access to the subdivision.   Multi-Family and Non-
Residential developments shall provide sidewalk along the frontage of existing streets 
regardless of whether the site property is being subdivided. Sidewalks maywill not be 
required along interstate highways (not designed for curb and gutter). Where identified in 
adopted City plans, Multi-Use paths will replace sidewalk where required. 
a. Except in unusual circumstances, sidewalk must be located a minimum of (8) eight feet 

from the back of the curb or at the back of the right-of-way.  A recorded public sidewalk 
easement is required for all sidewalk located outside the public right-of-way, the width 
shall be equal to the distance from the right-of-way line to the back of the sidewalk plus 
a minimum of two feet or to the face of building, whichever is less.  The sidewalk 
easement must be recorded with the Cabarrus County Register of Deeds prior to 
issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the corresponding building(s). 

b. Along NCDOT highways where curb and gutter is not recommended or approved by 
NCDOT, the minimum clear zone for sidewalks and multi-use paths is 24’ as measured 
from the edge of the closest parallel travel lane subject to approval by NCDOT. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

35 
 

  
 Specifications.  Sidewalks must: 

a. Have a minimum five (5) foot width; 
b. Be constructed of not less than three thousand six hundred (3,0600) pound-per-square-

footinch concrete,;  
c. Be a minimum of four (4) inches thick when adjacent to standard 30” curb and gutter, 

the sidewalk must be six (6) inches thick when placed adjacent to  valley curb and 
gutter and no planting strip is present,,  

c.d.Be a minimum of six (6) inches thick at driveway crossings 
d.e.Be constructed on a n adequately compacted and properly graded base with subgrade 

compacted to 95% of the maximum density obtainable with the Standard Proctor Test, 
e.f. Have a lateral slope of one-quarter (1/4) inch per foot toward the street, 
f.g. Be steel-trowelledtroweled and light broom finished and cured properly, 
g.h. Have tooled joints at intervals of not more than five (5) feet and expansion 

joints at intervals of not more than forty (40) feet,  
h. Be separated from the back-of-curb by a six-foot planting strip, and 
i. Meet all current Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) standards, and. 
j. Meet NCDOT specifications for concrete sidewalks, stricter of any sapecification 

applies,. 
i.k. Be designed and located so as to prevent transmission of drainage water from swales, 

ditches or other graded channels across the surface. 
 
10.3. Transitions to Street Grade.  Access ramps must meet current ADA and NC DOT 

standards and be constructed with materials that are approved by the Director of 
Transportation. Truncated dome mats at all access ramps shall be red in color. 

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

36 
 

11.0 Curb and Gutter, and Sidewalk Exemptions 
Applicability.  Refer to Article 10 of the UDO. 
 
12.0 Guardrails 

 Applicability.   
a. Guardrails must be provided in all areas required in accordance with the NC DOT 

Roadway Design Manual.   
b. Additionally, guardrails must be provided along all areas, regardless of the design speed, where 

an eight-foot or greater drop in elevation exists between the edge of pavement and the area 
extending 40 feet beyond the edge of pavement, unless: 

1. Greater than or equal to 13 feet of flat, unobstructed area exists beyond the edge of pavement, 
and 

2. A 3:1 or flatter unobstructed slope exists beyond the flat area, and 
3. At least 8 feet of flat, unobstructed area exists beyond the toe of the slope. 
 
 
 
 

13.0 Street and Subdivision Naming Standards 
 

 Uniqueness.   
a. Proposed street and subdivision names must not duplicate nor too closely approximate 

phonetically the name of any street within Cabarrus County.   
b. Where proposed streets are extensions of existing streets, the existing street names shall 

be used except where a new name can reasonably be used to facilitate proper house 
numbering or to avoid further street name duplication. 

 Labels.  In addition to names to identify new streets, the following labels must be included: 
a. A street oriented in a general north-south direction must be labeled a “Street;” 
b. A street oriented in a general east-west direction must be labeled an “Avenue;” 
c. A street that changes direction may be labeled a “Drive,” “Lane,” or “Road;” 
d. A street that forms a loop where both ends intersect with the same street may labeled a 

“Circle;” and 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

37 
 

e. A cul-de-sac or street terminating in a similar dead-end must be labeled a “Place” if 
oriented in a north-south direction and a “Court” if oriented in an east-west direction.    
e.  

 
14.0 Sign Standards 
 

 Standard Signs.  In all subdivisions that include public streets, except as provided below, 
standard street signs should be installed by the City of Concord. The developer must 
reimburse the City for the full cost of the installation.  Costs associated with signs requiring 
reinstallation due to damage or removal prior to City acceptance of the streets are the 
responsibility of the developer. The performance of installation, maintenance, and 
replacement of signs on public streets after the streets have been accepted by the City are 
the responsibility of the City.Signage Plan. A separate signage plan should be included 
with the site plan showing the locations of all signs (stop, speed limit, street blades, no-
parking, etc.). Signs should be indicated as standard or decorative. 

 Standard Signs.  In all subdivisions that include public streets, except as 
provided below, standard street signs should be installed by the City of Concord. The 
developer must reimburse the City for the full cost of the installation.  Costs associated 
with signs requiring reinstallation due to damage or removal prior to City acceptance of 
the streets are the responsibility of the developer. The performance of installation, 
maintenance, and replacement of signs on public streets after the streets have been accepted 
by the City are the responsibility of the City. 

 DecorativeCustom Signs Treatments.  [Encroachment process.]  In 
subdivisions with architectural standards, restrictive covenants, and a property owner's 
association, decorative custom street sign treatments s mayshallmay be installed by the 
developer with all costs of installation, maintenance, and replacement paid by the 
developer. Sign panels themselves shall be procured from the City of Concord for 
installation on the custom sign treatments. An encroachment agreement for the custom sign 
treatmentss must be completed prior to the installationapproval of a site plan containing 
decorative signage.. 
a. Specifications.   

 DecorativeCustom street  signs treatments  must comply with the Manual 
on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) published by the U.S. Department of 
Transportation and City of Concord standards.may be installed only after written 
approval by the City Director of Transportation.    Submission requirements for 
consideration of custom streetdecorative  signs treatments shall include detailed color 
drawings, plans and specifications of the proposed street signs, signage plan showing 
locations, and a written statement describing funding for installation, maintenance, and 
replacement. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

38 
 

 b. Replacement.   
1.  1. Regulatory and Warning Signs.  Replacement of lost or damaged 

regulatory or warning signs, as defined by the Uniform ManualMUTCD, must be 
accomplished immediately within mandated time periods by the City using 
standard street signs until the developer or property owner's association installs 
replacement customdecorative street sign treatmentss.  If the developer or property 
owner's association fails to install replacement custom street decorative signs 
treatments for regulatory and warning signs within ninety (90) days, the 
replacement by the City shall be considered permanent and the full cost must be 
paid by the developer or property owner's association. 

2. Guide Signs.  Replacement of lost or damaged guide signs, as defined by the 
MUTCD, on decorative sign treatments must be accomplished by the developer or 
property owner's association within ninety (90) days or the City shall install 
standard street signs with full costs paid by the developer or property owner's 
association. 

  
 2. Guide Signs.  Replacement of lost or damaged guide signs, as defined by the Uniform 

Manual MUTCD, on decorative sign treatments must be accomplished by the developer or 
property owner's association within ninety (90) days or the City must install standard street 
signs with full costs paid by the developer or property owner's association. 

  

  

. 
 
15.0 Public Street Acceptance 
The City of Concord may consider the acceptance of streets/roads for maintenance upon written 
request. The City reserves the right to refuse acceptance of maintenance of streets which are not 
built to the standards outlined in the Technical Standards Manual or, upon inspection, are found to 
require redesign or extensive repair work to bring the street(s) up to current standards. Alleys will 
not be accepted by the City for maintenance. 
15.1 A street must meet the following minimum requirements to be considered for public 

maintenance: 
a. Must be within City of Concord City limits, 
b. Shall be contiguous to streets currently maintained by the City or NCDOT. Streets 

which do not directly connect to an existing public street maintained by the City or 
NCDOT will not be accepted. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

39 
 

c. Must meet current standards as outlined in the City of Concord Technical Standards. 
d. Must be platted with at least minimum Right-of-Way (R/W) required for the designated 

classification.  
e. The Owner(s)/Applicant(s) must not otherwise be in default of any other obligation to 

the City of Concord. 
15.2 Newly Constructed Streets Platted for City Maintenance 

To initiate the acceptance procedure for newly constructed streets platted for City 
maintenance, the following information shall be submitted to the City Engineer: 
a. An Application for Street Maintenance Acceptance (Appendix A). The street(s) shall 

not have had the final surface lift of asphalt laid for more than 12 months. 
b. One (1) PE Certification for Subdivisions and Streets (Appendix B), including 

applicable reports and inspection data. 
c. One (1) Pavement Core Results Report.  The report will include a cover letter, table of 

contents, project scope, data collection methodology, description of project limits, a 
map at a legible scale of the project limits containing street names, lengths, cross 
sections, and the location of the pavement core samples. The report will also include a 
core results table with street name, applicable City of Concord Technical Standards 
Manual Typical Section, core result material and thickness (in inches), and a statement 
of whether or not the core result meets the current minimum design standard per the 
applicable typical section. Pavement core samples shall be taken at 500’ intervals 
(minimum of 1 core per street block), and no more than 4.0’ from the centerline of the 
road. This report must be signed, dated, and stamped by a North Carolina registered 
professional engineer. The City may acquire its own pavement core samples as a 
quality control  

d. Copies of all soils, compaction, concrete, and other applicable inspection data and 
records for all streets included in the acceptance request. 

e. Upon receipt of the request, the City will perform an inspection of the subject street(s), 
and a review of all submitted materials. The City shall notify the owning entity of all 
construction deficiencies required to be corrected. Upon satisfactory inspection and/or 
completion of corrective measures, re-inspection, and final approval by the City 
Engineer, the street acceptance request will be presented to City Council for approval. 

f. All additional requirements of Section 5.7.8 thru 5.7.10 of the City of Concord 
Development Ordinance apply to street acceptance. 

15.3 Existing Private Streets 
To initiate the acceptance procedure for existing private streets for City maintenance the 
following information shall be submitted to the City Engineer by the Applicant(s): 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

40 
 

a. Private Street Maintenance Acceptance Petition (Appendix C), representing a 
minimum of 75% of the linear frontage of property owners (one per parcel) within the 
request area in favor of the request. 

b. One (1) map of the area with the subject streets identified. 
c. Copies of plats for all parcels with frontage along the subject street. 
d. Encroachment request information sheet for all non-city utilities. 
e. Upon receipt of the petition, the City Engineer or their representative will perform an 

inspection of the subject street(s), and review all submitted materials. The City shall 
notify the Applicant(s) of all deficiencies required to be corrected, and the Right-of-
Way (R/W) that will be required to be dedicated for the subject street(s). 

f. Once the Applicant(s) receives notification of deficiencies and R/W requirements they 
should inform the City Engineer within one-hundred and twenty (120) days if they wish 
to continue the acceptance request. 

g. If the Applicant(s) wish to continue the request they will be responsible for correcting 
any identified deficiencies using a licensed contractor where applicable and ensuring 
the street(s) and related infrastructure meet current standards as outlined in the 
Technical Standards Manual (TSM). Where necessary, designs for the required work 
shall be prepared by a licensed professional engineer. 

h. If R/W is required for acceptance, the Applicant(s) will be responsible for having a 
Plat(s) prepared by a licensed professional land surveyor showing dedication of the 
required R/W. The Plat(s) should be accompanied by appropriate documentation from 
100% of the landowners where the proposed R/W encroaches upon their property. The 
City of Concord will not provide compensation for any property dedicated as R/W as 
part of a voluntary request for acceptance of a private street for City maintenance.   

i. Upon satisfactory inspection and/or completion of corrective measures, re-inspection, 
approval of R/W dedication Plat(s), and final approval by the City Engineer, the street 
acceptance request will be presented to City Council for approval. 

15.4 Dedication of Public Streets on a Final Plat 
a. When a street is dedicated in connection with a subdivision, the approval of a 

final plat shall not be deemed to constitute or effect the acceptance by the City of 
Concord of any street shown on the final plat. All streets proposed for public 
dedication are subject to acceptance for maintenance in accordance with Section 15 of 
this Article. 

15.5 City Council Street Acceptance 
Street acceptance requests must be approved by City Council during a regular council 
meeting.  It is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure the City Engineer has all 
documentation necessary for the request to be placed on the Council Agenda. No requests 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

41 
 

for street acceptance will be considered during the June council meeting.  
  

 .   

  

15.016.0 Unopened, Dedicated Street Standards 
Streets for which right-of-way has been dedicated by subdivision plat or deed to the North Carolina 
Department of Transportation or the City of Concord and recorded with the Cabarrus County 
Register of Deeds,, but have never been constructed or accepted for public maintenance, will not 
be constructed or maintained by the City until the following conditions have been met: 
 

 Rights-of-way sufficiently wide for the street and utilities, as determined by the 
Director of Engineering, have been dedicated, and surveyed if necessary, sufficiently wide 
for the street and utilities, as determined by the Director of Engineering. 

 Right-of-way has been cleared and graded to meet City standards for slope and 
drainage. 

 Roadway shall be constructed or improved to the standards set forth in this 
Article of tthe Technical Standards Manual.with a surface of crusher-run stone to a depth 
of not less than eight (8) inches, two and a quarter (2.25) inches of intermediate course, 
and two (2) inches of surface course. Width of roadway shall be not less than eighteen (18) 
feet. 

 The Director of Engineering or theirhis/her authorized representative has 
inspected all work. 

 The Director of Engineering or theirhis/her authorized representative has issued a 
certificate of completion for the required improvements. 

 City Council has approved the acceptance of the street(s) for public maintenance and the 
warranty period has passed. 

  

16.0 Alley Standard 

 For developments utilizing alleys in their design, the following standard shall be used.  
Alleys are private streets which will not be accepted by and the City does not accept for 
maintenance.   

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

42 
 

 

  
17.0 Cluster MailBbox Unit RequirementStandardss 
It is the responsibility of the Aapplicant to ensure that the appropriate method of mail delivery and 
locations are coordinated and approved with local USPS representatives for all proposed 
developments. 
17.1 Site Plan Approval 

A site plan will be required for review prior to approval of Cluster Mailbox Units (CBUs) 
associated with any subdivision or development application. If for any reason after 
approval of a site plan the location and other details pertaining to CBUs is altered, a revised 
site plan will be required to be submitted for review and compliance to all pertinent 
technical standards.  

17.2 18.1 Arrangement 
a.  a. The location of CBU(s) is preferred to shall be located outside the 

public right-of-way    and located in a centralized common area(s) 
of the development. Sufficient parking should be provided to serve the location(s). 

b. CBUs or combinations with 16 or less mail receptacles may be located along a local 
residential street outside of the R/W, provided all the following are met: 
1. Posted speed limit on street is 25 mph or less. 
2. Sidewalk must be located on the same side of the street as the CBU. 
3. Access to the mailbox by users must be from the non- street side of the CBU. 
4. The structure is located so that no conflicts with utilities, above or underground, 

exist. 
5. At least one dedicated accessible parking space, on or off-street, is provided. 

 CBUs or combinations of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located along a local or 
residential collector street provided all of the following are met: 

a.c.  
1.   1. Posted speed limit on the street is 35 mph or less. 
2.   2. Sidewalk must be located on the same side of street as the CBU. 
3.   3. Access to the mailbox by users must be from the non-street side of 

the CBU. 
4. The structure(s) is located so that no conflicts with utilities, above or underground, 

exist. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

43 
 

5.   4. AA separatededicated on or off street pull-off or parallel parking 
area is provided with an appropriate    amount of parking spaces. 

d. CBUs or combinations of 33 or more mail receptacles require a separate lot with street 
type driveway access containing an appropriate number of dedicated parking spots. 

e. CBUs or combinations of any number for non-residential or multi-family developments 
and/or subdivisions require a separate lot with street type driveway access containing 
an appropriate number of dedicated parking spots. 
 

17.3 Location 
All cluster mailbox units and associated on-street parking must be erected: 
a. No closer than 100 feet measured from the curb-line of intersecting streets.  
b. Away from any location whereby reason of the position of, shape or color, it may 

interfere with or obstruct the view of, or be confused with any authorized traffic sign, 
signal or device. 

c. So as not to obstruct sight distance along the roadway and at intersecting streets, 
driveways, greenways, or trail facilities. 

d. No closer than 10 feet away from a residential driveway serving a detached, semi-
attached, or townhome dwelling. 

e. In common areas or near property lines rather than directly in front of a residence. 
f. Outside of public or private utility easements, public or private storm drainage 

easements, and at least 10 feet away from water meters and cleanouts. 
g. No closer than 500 feet, measured along the street, from another CBU. 

17.4 Signs & Markings  
In areas where parking is provided for CBU(s), permissible parking signs shall be installed 
on both ends of the defined parking area and designated specifically for mail parking. Signs 
R7-21a, shall be used that states "MAIL PARKING, 15 MINUTE LIMIT.". Reserved 
accessible spaces shall be clearly marked with an international accessibility symbol marked 
on the pavement and signs R7-8 and R7-8a installed. All pavement markings and signs 
shall be in accordance with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD). 

17.5 Lighting 
Suitable and sufficient lighting to illuminate the CBU and associated parking areas (where 
applicable) should be provided for all CBU locations. 

17.6 Maintenance 
a. The City does not have any responsibility for mail delivery; therefore, the city does not 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

44 
 

own or maintain CBUs.  
b. The City will not be responsible for clearing snow and accumulations from the 

sidewalk, designated parking areas (if applicable), and pad around the CBU. In 
addition, the area around the CBUs is to be kept clean from trash and debris and clear 
from any obstacles that could impede mail delivery or retrieval. 

c. These responsibilities must be provided by mailbox users or a legally responsible 
organization (i.e.  homeowner's association, other legally recognized association, etc.) 
as acceptable to the Administrator. Documents to assure private responsibility of 
maintenance and repair by a homeowner’s association or other legally recognized entity 
shall be approved as to form by the City Attorney. 

17.7 Signs on CBUs 
Signage affixed to CBUs located along streets is prohibited. 

17.8 Construction of CBUs 
Materials and specifications for the installation of CBUs and concrete pads are to be in 
accordance with USPS requirements and their approved manufacturer list. 

17.9 CBU Parking Requirements 
  

a. CBUs, or combinations of CBUs, require designated parking spots per Table 17-1. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS & PEDESTRIAN PATHS 
 0  c.CBU units or combination of 32 or less mail receptacles may be located 
along a   
 street, other than a thoroughfare, provided a separate pull-off area is provided 
and   
 all of the following are met: 
 

45 
 

Table 187-1: CBU Parking Requirements. 

CBU  Parking Requirements 

Number of Mail  
Receptacles 

Accessible Parking  
Spaces*ots 

Regular Parking  
Spacesots 

0-16 -1 - 
17-3248 1 -1  

33-48 1 1 
49-64 1 2 
65-80 1 3 
81-96 1 4 

97-112 1 5 
>112 ** ** 

*Where only 1 accessible space is provided, it must be van accessible. 

**Requirements to be determined on a case by case basis. 

 

18.0 ReferencesReferences 
The following are publications, documents, models, etc. that were used as guidance or direct 
reference for developing this Article.  They are provided for citation and further review by the user 
of the contents of this article. Later editions and/or revisions of these references may be created in 
the future and shall be considered part of the standards in this manual where applicable. 
 
North Carolina department of Transportation Standard Specifications for Roads and Structures, 
latest edition January 2018. 
North Carolina Department of Transportation, Roadway Standards Drawings,  2018. 
City of Concord Technical Standards Manual, Article 1, Stormwater. 
American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, A Policy on Geometric 
Design of Highways and Streets, 7th edition. 
North Carolina Department of Transportation, Roadway Design Manual, 2021. 
North Carolina Department of Environment and Natural Resources, Erosion and Sediment Control 
Planning and Design Manual, 2013. 
NCDENR, Storm Water Best Management Practices, 2020. 
Federal Highway Administration, Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD),  2009. 
 
 



 
 
 
 

City of Concord 
Technical Standards Manual 
 
 
 
 
 
Article III 
DrivewaysDriveways & Street 
Connections 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 



 

Driveway- ii - Standards 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Article III 

1.0 PURPOSE ...........................................................................................................................1 
2.0 APPLICABILITY ..............................................................................................................1 
3.0 DRIVEWAY PERMITS ....................................................................................................2 
4.0 DRIVEWAY APPROACH STANDARDS ......................................................................3 

4.1 – Widths ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

4.2 – Location ................................................................................................................................... 4 

4.3 – Materials ................................................................................................................................. 4 

5.0 DRIVEWAY SEPARATION ............................................................................................4 
5.1 – Minimum Driveway Separation .............................................................................................. 4 

5.2 – Stem Lengths ........................................................................................................................... 4 

5.3 – Side Clearance ......................................................................................................................... 6 

5.4 – Shared Access Points ............................................................................................................... 6 

5.5 – Corner Clearance ..................................................................................................................... 6 

5.6 – Corner Lots .............................................................................................................................. 6 

6.0 MEDIAN AND ISLAND STANDARDS FOR DRIVEWAYS ......................................6 
6.1 – Applicability ............................................................................................................................. 6 

6.2 – Location ................................................................................................................................... 6 

6.3 – Size .......................................................................................................................................... 6 

7.0 ALIGNMENT AND GRADES .........................................................................................6 
7.1 – Sidewalk Crossings .................................................................................................................. 6 

7.2 – Angle ....................................................................................................................................... 6 

7.3 – Directional Restrictions ........................................................................................................... 7 

7.4 – Near Traffic and Utility Structures .......................................................................................... 7 

8.0 TURN LANES ....................................................................................................................7 
9.0 ONE-WAY ACCESS POINT STANDARDS ..................................................................8 

9.1 – Signage .................................................................................................................................... 8 

10.0 ROADSIDE DRAINAGE ..................................................................................................9 
10.1 – Drainage System ................................................................................................................... 9 

10.2 – Modifications ........................................................................................................................ 9 

10.3 – Piping Existing Ditches .......................................................................................................... 9 

10.4 – Pipe Construction Options .................................................................................................. 10 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS1.0   To provide maximum safety and protection to the public through the regulation of vehicles 
entering and exiting public streets, andPurpose 
 

 D-iii  

10.5 – Acceptable Piping Materials ............................................................................................... 10 

10.6 – Acceptable Grates and Frames ........................................................................................... 10 

11.0 INSPECTIONS ................................................................................................................10 
12.0 STREET AND UTILITY REPAIRS ..............................................................................10 
13.0 USE AND PROTECTION OF PROPERTY .................................................................11 

13.1 – Rights-of-Way ...................................................................................................................... 11 

13.2 – Raised Curbing .................................................................................................................... 11 

13.3 – Parking Areas and Loading Areas ........................................................................................ 11 

14.0 PROTECTING THE PUBLIC FROM INJURY ..........................................................12 
15.0 PARKING AND LOADING ...........................................................................................12 

15.1 – Parking Aisle and Space Dimensions ................................................................................... 12 

15.2 – Overhang Protection ........................................................................................................... 13 

15.3 – Striping Required ................................................................................................................ 13 
 

TABLES AND FIGURES 
TABLES 

4-1 – Minimum and Maximum Access Widths ................................................................................ 3 

5-1 – Minimum Driveway Separations............................................................................................. 5 

5-2 – Minimum Stem Lengths .......................................................................................................... 5 

5-3 – Minimum Side Clearance ........................................................................................................ 6 

15-1 – Parking Area Dimensional Standards .................................................................................. 13 

FIGURES 
2.4-1 – Existing Development Expansion Example .......................................................................... 2 

 

APPENDICIES 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Article III 
 
II-1 Purpose 

II-2 Applicability ........................................................................................................................4
 .......................................................................................................................................... 

II-3 Driveway Permits.................................................................................................................5
 .......................................................................................................................................... 



 

Driveway- iv - Standards 

II-4 Driveway Approach Standards ............................................................................................5 

  Widths 

  Location 

  Materials 

II-5 Driveway Separation ............................................................................................................7 

 Minimum Driveway Separation 

 Non-Residential Stem Lengths 

II-6 Median and Island Standards for Driveways .......................................................................7 

  Applicability 

  Location 

  Size 

II-7 Alignment and Grades .........................................................................................................8 

  Side Clearance 

  Corner Clearance 

  Corner Lots 

  Sidewalk Crossings 

  Angle 

  Directional Restrictions 

  Near Traffic and Utility Structures 

  Shared Access Points 

II-8 Turn Lanes ...........................................................................................................................9
 .......................................................................................................................................... 

II-9 One-Way Access Point Standards .....................................................................................10 

  Signage 

II-10 Roadside Drainage .............................................................................................................11 

  Drainage System 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS1.0   To provide maximum safety and protection to the public through the regulation of vehicles 
entering and exiting public streets, andPurpose 
 

 D-v  

  Modifications 

  Piping Existing Ditches 

  Pipe Construction Options 

  Acceptable Piping Materials 

  Acceptable Grates and Frames 

II-11 Inspections .........................................................................................................................13
 .......................................................................................................................................... 

II-12 Street and Utility Repairs ...................................................................................................13 

II-13 Use and Protection of Property ..........................................................................................14 

 Rights-of-Way 

 Raised Curbing 

 Parking areas and loading areas 

II-14 Protecting the public from injury .......................................................................................15
 .......................................................................................................................................... 

II-15 Standard Details .................................................................................................................16 

  Single-Family Residential Driveway with Ribbon Pavement 

  Typical Driveway Approach with Sidewalk Crossing 

  Concrete Curb and Gutter Driveway Cut 

  Ditch Piping for Ribbon Pavement Streets 

  Single-Family Residential Driveway with Ribbon Pavement Street 

  Typical Driveway with an Island 

  Non-Residential Driveway Spacing 

II-16 Non-Residential and Multi-Family Development .............................................................23 

  Parking Aisle and Space Dimensions 

  Overhang Protection 



 

Driveway- vi - Standards 

  Striping Required 

  Sight Triangles 

   

  

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-7  

1.0 Purpose 

The safety and efficiency of streets are impacted by the amount and type of interference 
experienced by the vehicles traveling on it.  The purpose of this Article is to minimize interference 
with traffic flow and accidents and promote the best overall utilization of the street by controlling 
vehicles entering, leaving, and crossing the street at intersections and driveways.  The City 
recognizes the right of abutting property owners to access their property from the street; however, 
the rights of other users of the street to travel with relative safety and freedom from interference 
must also be considered.  These standards have been established: 
 
The requirements contained within this article will serve as the rules and regulations to permit connections 
to public streets per Article IV, Section 50-121 of the City Code of Ordinances and have been established: 

 
 

 To provide maximum safety and protection to the public through the regulation of vehicles 
entering and exiting public streets, and 

 To provide uniform standards for the design, location, operation, and construction of 
driveways and street connections throughout the City, and 

 To provide owners of abutting property with the maximum service feasible, consistent with 
the safe and efficient use of City streets. 

 
 
2.0 Applicability 
 

 This article includes the standards for all access points and driveways planned to connect 
to a publicly-maintainedpublicly maintained street within the corporate limits and 
extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City of Concord.  Standard details are provided in the 
Concord Manual of Standard Details to be used in conjunction with this article. In the event of a 
conflict between the standard details and the provisions in this Article, the stricter standards will 
apply. These provisions apply to that portion of the private driveway from the point where it 
connects to the edge of the public right-of-way. 

 These provisions apply to that portion of the private driveway from the point where it 
connects to the edge of the public right-of-way.   

Standards for private driveways on private property are included in Article 10 of the 
Development Ordinance.   

 Existing driveway approaches  or street connections may not be relocated, altered, or 
reconstructed without a permit approving the relocation, alteration, or reconstruction; such 
driveway approaches are subject to the provisions of this article. 

 Where proposed accesses connect to an existing public or private neighborhood/development street 
network with no more than two (2) non-gated entrances/outlets, the proposed development may be 



 CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL
  
1.0     DRIVEWAYS 
 

Driveway- 8 - Standards 

considered an expansion of the existing neighborhood/development and the existing entrances may 
be considered direct access entrances serving the proposed development and may be subject to 
current standards as they would apply to the proposed development. See figure 2.4-1 for an 
example. 

 

Figure 2.4-1: Existing Development Expansion Example 

 

 

  

 Changes in property use, property ownership or traffic volumes that will affect existing 
driveway approaches are subject to the provisions of this article.  

a. Where NCDOT stipulates a new/revised driveway permit is required if access is 
taken on a state-maintained street. 

   

 

 

 
 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-9  

3.0 Driveway Permits 
 

 A driveway permit must be received prior to the creation of any access point subject to this 
article.   

 A new driveway permit will be required for non-residential change of use development plans if 
they meet any of the following criteria: 

a. A new driveway permit will be required for non-residential change of use 
development plans if they meet any of the following criteria. Current driveway is in 
disrepair and does not meet City minimum design 

b. When a change of use results in an additional 20 daily trips per day above the existing 
use. 

c. In cases where the existing driveway does not meet ADA accessibility requirements. 
d. When there are significant changes to the on-site parking layout and circulation 

pattern. 
  

 If not completed as part of a previous application process, an approved Traffic Impact 
Analysis (TIA) and subsequent Transportation Mitigation Agreement (TMA) is required 
prior to the approval of Driveway Permits for all proposed non-residential and mixed-use 
developments, all multi-family and single-family attached residential developments, and 
all other residential developments with 6 or more total dwelling units. Refer to the 
Technical Standards Manual (TSM), Article VIII, Traffic Impact Analysis, for TIA 
requirements. 

The application process and requirements for issuance of this permit are provided in Article 
6.   

 The North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT) is required to review all 
connections to state system streets., unless   This includes both driveway and street 
connections, with the exception of single-family residential drives, which are exempt from 
state review requirements.  The Applicant is responsible for ensuring all NCDOT Driveway 
Permit materials are submitted to NCDOT as applicable. The City will not accept nor 
handle money associated with any NCDOT fees. 

 All connections to City maintained streets which will potentially add traffic or otherwise impact an 
existing City to State system connection will be reviewed by NCDOT to determine the potential 
for, and extent of improvements to State facilities to ensure the overall transportation infrastructure 
is adequate to serve proposed developments.  

When determined that improvements are needed on NCDOT maintained streets and a NCDOT 
driveway permit is not required for the proposed access(s), an encroachment agreement between 
the Applicant and the NCDOT will be required for any work to be done within NCDOT right-of-
way in accordance with NCDOT guidelines. 



 CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL
  
1.0     DRIVEWAYS 
 

Driveway- 10 - Standards 

State system streets are those streets within the city for which the state retains the ultimate 
responsibility. The more restrictive driveway standards (NCDOT or City of Concord) 
apply.   

Driveway permits on state system streets, within the municipal limits of Concord, must 
also be submitted to the City for the initial review.   

 Upon the City’s approval, the site plans and NCDOT driveway permit forms will 
be forwarded to NCDOT for their approval.  When a NCDOT Driveway Permit or 
Encroachment Agreement is required, concurrent review is allowed however, the City 
cannot approve a development Site Plan until such time as final approval of the NCDOT 
Driveway Permit Encroachment Agreement application and plans approved by NCDOT 
are provided.  

 The maximum number of driveways allowed for any parcel prior to the subdivision of 
property is three. 

 Approval of a City Driveway Permit is contingent on the determination by the City and/or 
NCDOT that the overall existing transportation infrastructure, or planned improvements, is 
adequate to serve proposed accesses. 

4.0 Driveway Approach Standards 
 

 Widths.   

a. All driveway approach widths are measured at the street right-of-way line and the 
width of any driveway shall not increase within the right-of-way except at properly 
designated radii and curb returns.   

b. The width from the edge of pavement perpendicularly to the edge of pavement must 
be greater than the minimum widths and smaller than the maximum widths provided 
below: 

Table 4-1:  Minimum and Maximum Access Widths. 

 
Driveway Types 

Driveway Width 
(feet) 

Flare/Radius 
(feet) 

Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum 
Residential Single Family 
(Detached) 

12 20 1 3 

Residential Single Family 
(Attached) 

10 20 1 3 

Residential Multi-Family 24 36 5 10 
Commercial/Industrial Two-Way 24 36 10 30 
Commercial/Industrial One-Way 15 20 10 30 
Private Street Entrance 24 48 10* 30* 
Street Type Driveway 24 36 10* 30* 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-11  

* Radius only. 
 

c. Ramp type driveway approaches may use either a standard drop curb opening or curb 
radius from the street curb to the inside sidewalk line.  If a curb radius is used, the 
top elevation of the curb radius must be held level with the elevation of the street 
curb, and the driveway approach must be raised to meet the elevation of the 
curblinecurb line at the inside sidewalk line. 

 
 Location.   

a. The driveway approach must be installed to the right-of-way line, or at least ten feet 
from the edge of the street and/or back-of-curb, or at least 5’ from the edge of 
sidewalk furthest from the edge of the street. The greatest distance will apply.  

b. No portion of a driveway may be located within a sight triangle. 
c. Driveways accessing Major or Minor Thoroughfares,  
Boulevards, or Major Collectors must provide on-site turnaround to prevent backing 
into the street from the driveway.   

 Materials. 

a. Types. 
1. Portland Cement Concrete.  All driveway approaches must be Portland cement 
concrete (30600 psi min.) apron sections (“ramp” type), unless specifically listed in 
the asphaltic concrete section. 
2. Asphaltic Concrete.  Asphalt paving is not allowed on any driveway apron 
connecting to a public street with granite curbing or concrete curb and gutter.  Asphalt 
may be allowed if the pavement design is approved by the Director of Transportation 
and only for the following situations: 

(a) Street type driveway entrances, which may be required for public or private 
developments that have parking spaces for two hundred (200) or more 
vehicles; 

(b) Driveways connecting to unpaved public streets; 
(c) Driveways connecting to stone surface public streets; or 
(d) Driveways connecting to public streets constructed of asphalt ribbon 

pavement. 
 
 

5.0 Driveway Separation 
5.1 Minimum Driveway Separation.  Driveways must be spaced as outlined in Table 5-1., 

provided all other requirements of this article are met.  Single-family and duplex 
developments on individual lots of record are exempt from the spacing standards; 



 CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL
  
1.0     DRIVEWAYS 
 

Driveway- 12 - Standards 

however, dDriveways associated with these uses cannot be located within sight triangles 
and driveways. fFor corner lots, driveways should be located as far as possible from the 
intersection.  

Table 5-1:  Minimum Driveway Separations 
Functional Classification Separation between 

Driveways1 
Separation between 

Driveway and Public Street2 
Major Thoroughfare 400 feet 250 feet 
Minor Thoroughfare 400 feet 250 feet 
Major Collector 120 feet 120 feet 
Minor Collector3  50 feet 60 feet 

Non-Residential & 
Multi-Family 

50 feet 60 feet 

Single-Family Detached 30 feet 30 feet 
Local Street (Inc. Alleys) 40 feet 60 feet 

Non-Residential & 
Multi-Family 

50 feet 60 feet 

Single-Family Detached 30 feet 30 feet 
Single-Family Attached 15 feet 30 feet 

1 Distance is measured from closest edge to closest edge. 
2 Distance is measured from closest edge of the driveway the closest parallel edge of the street 

right-of-way. Minimum stem lengths apply to all entrances to proposed developments from 
intersecting streets, the greatest distance will apply.  Minimum separation between Driveways 
and Streets should be equal to the number shown in the table, the minimum distance required to 
ensure no portion of a driveway falls within a sight triangle, or the minimum stem length required 
along entrances to proposed developments. The greatest distance will apply.  

 
5.2 Stem Lengths. The stem length shall be measured from the parallel edge of right-of-

way of the intersecting street to the first point of conflict, such as parking areas or 
intersections.  Where no right-of-way is dedicated along a private street, the stem 
length shall be measured from the closest edge of the intersecting street. Stem lengths 
for non-residential and multi-family driveways shall be established by raised curb and gutter 
or other acceptable physical barrier to prevent vehicles from entering and exiting the driveway 
within the required length.  Minimum stem lengths are listed in Table 5-2.  

a. Residential Stem Lengths. Minimum stem lengths for single-family residential 
developments will be required along all proposed entrances to the proposed 
development from intersecting streets.  

 b. Non-Residential Stem Lengths.  Minimum stem lengths for non-residential 
and multi-family uses will be required along all streets. The stem length shall be 
measured from the perpendicular travel lane to the first point of conflict, such as 
parking areas or intersections.  Minimum stem lengths are listed in Table 5-2. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-13  

c. Gated Driveways. In order to ensure that no part of any vehicle using a driveway remains 
in or overhangs the R/W, sidewalk, or street while waiting on the gate to operate, 
proposed gates for all detached and attached residential driveways shall be located a 
minimum of 24 feet from the R/W, and proposed gates for all non-residential and multi-
family driveways shall be located a minimum distance per the stem lengths shown in 
Table 5-2, or further if design vehicle is longer than the minimum stem length. 

 

Table 5-2:  Minimum Stem Lengths. 
Functional Classification Minimum Stem 

Length (feet) 
Major Thoroughfare 12550 feet 
Minor Thoroughfare 100 feet 
Major Collector 75 feet 
Minor Collector 75 feet 

Non-Residential &  
Multi-Family 

70 feet 

Single-Family Residential 60 feet 
Local Street (Inc. Alleys) 50 feet 

 

Side Clearance.  All driveway approaches must have a minimum side clearance from 
property line as specified in Table 5-3.  Additional side clearance may be needed to 
accommodate required turn lanes, deceleration lanes and/or tapers. 

Table 5-3:  Minimum Side Clearance. 
 

Land Use Minimum Side 
Clearance 

Single-Family 
Residential Uses 

5 feet 

All Other Uses 10 feet 
 

Shared Access Points.  Landowners of adjacent property, may, by written mutual agreement, 
construct a joint driveway to service both properties provided that all other requirements of this 
article are met apart from the side clearance restriction along the property line where the access is 
located. Minimum separation of shared accesses shall follow Table 5-1 with the exception that the 
minimum separation for shared access points for Single-Family Attached from adjacent driveways 
shall be 30 feet. A shared access is treated as a single driveway for the purposes of allowed widths. 

Corner Clearance.  All driveway approaches must have a minimum clearance of sixty 
(60) feet from the edge of parallel public rights-of-way (street intersections) to the nearest 
edge of the driveway approach as indicated by the minimum separations and/or stem 
lengths shown in Tables 5-1 and 5-2. 

Corner Lots.  Driveways associated with corner lots should be located on the street with 



 CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL
  
1.0     DRIVEWAYS 
 

Driveway- 14 - Standards 

the lower street functional classification (i.e., the lowest traffic volume). 

 

6.0 Median and Island Standards for Driveways 

 Applicability.   Medians and islands may only be allowed in street-type driveways.  
Medians and islands are not permitted for ramp-type driveways. 

 Location.  Raised medians and islands must be constructed on private property outside of 
the public right-of-way, unless required as an approved access management device. 

 

 

 Size.   

1. The minimum width of the island (excluding the nose) as measured nearest the 
public right-of-way must be four (4) feet or six (6) feet for a planted median.   

2. The minimum length must be fifty (50) feet.   
3. For street type driveways with a median or island, the combined width of 

pavement of the separated driveway segments shall not exceed forty-eight (48) 
feet. 

4. High volume street-type driveways with medians will be reviewed and approved 
on a case by case basis. 

5. Minimum travel width on either side of medians and islands is 14’. 
4.  

7.0 Alignment and Grades 

 Side Clearance.  All driveway approaches must have a minimum side clearance as 
specified in Table 7-1.  Additional side clearance may be needed to accommodate required 
turn lanes, deceleration lanes and/or tapers. 

 
Table 7-1:  Minimum Side Clearance. 

 
Land Use Minimum  Side 

Clearance 
Single-Family 
Residential Uses 

5 feet 

All Other Uses 10 feet 
 

Corner Clearance.  All driveway approaches must have a minimum clearance of sixty 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-15  

(60) feet from the edge of parallel public rights-of-way (street intersections) to the nearest 
edge of the driveway approach, as measured along the edge of the perpendicular public 
right-of-wayas indicated by the minimum separations and/or stem lengths shown in Tables 
5-1 and 5-2..  This requirement is not applicable to a residential subdivision with a lot width 
less than 85’. 

  

Corner Lots.  Driveways associated with corner lots should be located on the street with 
the lower street functional classification (i.e., the lowest traffic volume). 

 7.1 – 7.3 moved to 5.3 – 5.5 

Sidewalk Crossings.  Driveway approaches must cross the sidewalk area at the existing 
or proposed sidewalk grade.  The sidewalk must be constructed separately from the 
driveway apron. Sidewalk should be a minimum of 6” thick at driveway crossings.   

 Angle.  The driveway angle (the angle between the driveway centerline and the 
curblinecurb line) must be ninety (90) degrees, unless engineering considerations dictate 
otherwise, as and approved by the Director of Transportation. 

  

Directional Restrictions.   

a. Where special pedestrian or vehicular hazards may be encountered, driveway 
approaches may be restricted to one-way operation.   

b. Such driveways shall be clearly signed and marked as one-way driveways using 
pavement arrows and directional signs.   

c. Failure to erect and maintain such signs or the failure to use these driveways in 
accordance with the signing and marking shall be considered a violation of this 
article. 

Near Traffic and Utility Structures.   

a. No driveway approach shall be permitted to encompass any municipal facility, 
including but not limited to: 
1. traffic signal standardselements,  
2. catch basins,  
3. fire hydrants,  
4. crosswalks,  
3.5.curb ramps, 
6. loading zones, 
4.7. utility poles,  



 CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL
  
1.0     DRIVEWAYS 
 

Driveway- 16 - Standards 

5.8.fire alarm supports,  
6.9.meter boxes, and/or  
7.10. sewer cleanouts.    

b. The driveway approach must be located a minimum of 3 feet from any such 
facilityies. 

 Shared Access Points.  Landowners of adjacent property, may, by written mutual 
agreement, construct a joint driveway to service both properties provided that all other 
requirements of this article are met with the exception ofapart from the side clearance 
restriction along the property line where the shared access is located. Minimum separation 
of shared access points shall follow Table 5-1 with the exception that the minimum 
separation for shared access points for Single-Family Attached shall be 30 feet. Moved to 
5.4 

  

 
 
 
 
 

8.0 Turn Lanes 
 
8.1 Dedication and construction of turn lanes may be needed to serve one or more entrances 
into a development.  Turn lanes must be provided for conditional uses, special uses, driveway 
permits, or subdivision approvals for developments proposing direct or indirect (i.e. adding 
accesses to existing dead end or limited access neighborhood/development street networks) 
adjacent access to two-lane public streets with average daily traffic (ADT) exceeding four 
thousand (4000) vehicles per day, or four-lane or larger public streets with ADT exceeding teneight 
thousand (8,000) vehicles per day, if any one of the following conditions are also present: 
 

 a. Fifty (50) or more off-street parking spaces are required; 

 b. More than (100) trips during the peak hours of 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 a.m., 11:00 a.m. 
and 1:00 p.m., and 4:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m. are generated.  Data shall be based on the latest edition 
of the Institute of Transportation Engineers Manual titled “Trip Generation” and based upon the 
highest land use permitted by the zoning classification considering any restrictions imposed by 
any conditional use permit, special use permit, or other legally enforceable restriction; 

 c More than twenty-five (25) truck (more than 13,000 G.V.W.)  trips per day through 
a single driveway are expected; 

 d. Special safety or traffic conditions exist due to limited sight distance and/or posted 
speeds in excess of thirty-five (35) miles per hour along the adjacent public street; or 

 e. At least fifty (50) attached or detached residential dwelling units are served by the 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-17  

access point. 

8.2 In addition to the criteria listed above, Tables C-1 and C-2 in Appendix C, Article VIII of 
the TSM, offers further guidance to warrant the installation of dedicated left or right turn 
lanes on streets throughout Concord.  

 
8.3 NCDOT publishes a chart (pg. 80) in the NCDOT Policy On Street and Driveway Access 

that recommends storage lengths for left and right turn lanes based on the number of turns 
versus the opposing volume of traffic. This chart should be used as a basis for determining 
the storage length required for turn lanes into a site. The chart is included in Appendix C, 
Article VIII of the TSM. The typical minimum length is 100’ for tapers, and 100’ for 
storage. Storage and taper lengths less than 100’ will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. 

 
8.4 Turn lanes should be designed per NCDOT recommendations. Two charts (pages 78 and 

79) outlining NCDOT recommended treatments for turn lanes, included in the NCDOT 
Driveway Permit Manual, are provided in Appendix C, Article VIII of the TSM for general 
reference. 

 
Note: Dual right- or left-turn lanes should be considered when the turning volume exceeds 300 

vehicles per hour. 

8.5 Where turn lanes are determined to be needed based on the above criteria, they will be considered 
necessary improvements for the transportation infrastructure to be considered adequate to safely 
and efficiently serve proposed accesses. 

 

9.0 One-Way Access Point Standards 
9.0  
 Signage. 

a. Location.   
1. At a minimum, one double-faced sign must be located on private property at least 

ten feet from the back of the curb to the right of each driveway approach.   
2. Additional signs may be placed on the opposite side of the approach.  
3. The sign should not be blocked from view by vegetation or other obstacles. 

b. Size.   
1. The area of the sign cannot be less than three square feet or more than six square 

feet.  
2. Business logos may be used but shall not exceed one-third of the sign area. 

c. Content.  Only the words “Enter” and “Exit” or “In” and “Out” with the appropriate 
arrow shall be used. 

d. Lettering Standards.  



 CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL
  
1.0     DRIVEWAYS 
 

Driveway- 18 - Standards 

1. Uppercase letters must be at least six inches tall; however, eight-inch letters are 
preferred;  

2. Lowercase letters must be at least four inches tall; however, six-inch letters are 
preferred; 

3. The first letter of each word must be uppercase; and 
4. Letters must be black or white on a reflectorized or illuminated background of 

contrasting color.  
e. Arrow Standards. 

1. Arrow dimensions must be at least six inches long with a shaft width of at least 
two inches. 

2. The head of the arrow must be at least twice as wide as the shaft. 
3. Arrows must be comprised of thermoplastic material.   

f. Pavement Arrows. 
1. Location.  A sufficient number of pavement arrows designating the appropriate 

direction of traffic must be installed in the driveway approach and driveway so 
that they are clearly visible to oncoming traffic. 

2. Size.  Pavement arrows must be a minimum of eight feet in length and shall 
conform in size and proportion to the standards set forth in the Manual on 
Uniform Traffic Control Devices. 

10.0 Roadside Drainage 

A well-functioning roadside drainage system is important to maintaining the structural integrity of 
the street and providing a safe driving surface during storm events. 
 

 Drainage System.  Roadside drainage is accomplished using ditches, driveway pipes, curb 
and gutter, or some combination of both systems.   

 Modifications to existing drainage systems must be evaluated and approved by the City 
prior to construction, and are reviewed and permitted as a part of the site plan or subdivision 
construction plan approval process. 

 Piping Existing Ditches 
 

a. The design and cost for piping existing roadside ditches is the responsibility of the 
property owner unless it is included as part of a neighborhood capital improvement 
project funded by the City of Concord.   

b. Piping ditches will only be allowed if the following criteria are achieved: 
1. The hydraulic capacity of the existing ditch system will not be reduced or 

diminished. 
2. The culvert pipe shall be of size adequate to carry the anticipated flow in the ditch 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-19  

as determined by the City of Concord and shall not be smaller than 15-inches 
inside diameter. 

3. The flow from and to adjacent properties will not be inhibited. 
4. All pipe materials and installation meet City of Concord and NCDOT standards.  

No pipe with broken joints or other defects is allowed. 
5. A swale must be maintained over the pipe to prohibit sheet flow of water from 

the property onto the road surface, and adequate inlet grates are included in the 
design and installation.  In no case shall the construction cause water to flow 
across the pavement, or to pond on the shoulders or in the ditch, or result in 
erosion within the right-of-way. 

6. A minimum cover of 8-inches must be maintained over the top of the pipe.  If 
vehicular traffic will cross the pipe, a minimum cover of 24-inches must be 
maintained, or Class IV reinforced concrete pipe must be utilized. 

7. Pipe installation must be inspected by the City prior to back-filling the pipe and 
inlet boxes. 

8. All grates and frames shall meet NCDOT standards for traffic bearing, and must 
be pre-approved by the City of Concord. 

9. Drainage collected by ditches, gutters, or pipes on private property shall not be 
discharged into the road drainage system unless expressly approved by the City 
of Concord.  The applicant may be required to submit a drainage study to the City 
justifying the drainage system proposed and the pipe or sewer sizes to be used.  
Natural drainage laws and practices must be observed. 

 Pipe Construction Options 

a. All commercial or industrial sites are responsible for the design, construction and 
cost associated with all drainage improvements in accordance with these regulations.   

b. All residents have two options for construction of the ditch pipe, once a permit has 
been issued:   
1. The City will contract with a licensed contractor following payment of all 

estimated costs associated with the project to the City by the owner.  The project 
will then be completed based upon the Contractor’s schedule.   

2. The resident will hire a licensed contractor who will complete the project 
according to the submitted plans.  The contractor will be responsible to schedule 
inspection by the City prior to placing any backfill into the excavation, so that all 
pipe joints, bedding, and inlet construction can be inspected.   

c. Failure to obtain the proper permit and/or inspection may result in the pipe being 
removed at the owner’s expense. 

 
 Acceptable Piping Materials 

a. All pipe located within the street right-of-way must be reinforced concrete pipe or 
other acceptable material approved on a case-by-case basis.high density polyethylene 



 CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL
  
1.0     DRIVEWAYS 
 

Driveway- 20 - Standards 

plastic pipe, double-walled corrugated pipe with a smooth interior, meeting ASHTO 
M294 Type S (smooth interior – corrugated exterior) that has been approved by the 
NCDOT for use in secondary and subdivision road systems.   

b. No corrugated metal pipe is allowed.   
c. Approved HDPE pipe includes the following, but documentation on other 

manufactures will be reviewed for consideration: 
1. Advanced Drainage System (ADS) N-12 HDPE pipe 
2. Hancor Hi-Q HDPE pipe 

 
 Acceptable Grates and Frames 

a. All grates and frames must be cast iron and must meet City of Concord and NCDOT 
standards.   

b. Each casting shall be permanently imprinted with the image of a fish and the 
following statement: “Dump No Waste! Drains to Streams.” 

b.c. Roll-over grates are not acceptable within driveways. 
 

11.0 Inspections 
11.0  

11.1 Once the permit is duly issued, the supervisor on the driveway construction site shall keep 
the permit available for on-the-job inspection by authorized personnel of the city. 

11.2 The applicant shall request an inspection by the Director of Transportation a city inspector 
24 hours in advance of any concrete pouring. The Director of Transportation or histhier 
authorized representative shall have the authority to require the immediate stoppage of 
work not performed under the requirements of this article. 

11.3 In the event of failure to comply with the provisions of this article or the term of the permit 
or in the case of faulty workmanship or materials, the permit may be revoked and the property 
owner will be required to remove or correct the city may remove the non-complying driveway at 
the property owner’s expense. 
 

12.0 Street and Utility Repairs  

 Operations requiring the cutting and removal of roadway and sidewalk surfaces, or 
operations interfering with the normal flow of vehicular or pedestrian traffic shall be 
subject to the guidelines set forth in Part VI of the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices. 

 Prior to cutting of the street, sidewalk or curb and gutter, a street cut permit is required to 
be obtained from the Director of Transportation or their designee. No street cut permits 
will be issued for streets that have been resurfaced within the last two years, unless there 
is an emergency situation or other physical constraints and approved by the Director of 
Transportation. 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-21  

 Cost of replacing the asphalt, concrete or other materials and other related costs such as 
street cleaning, sidewalk cleaning, etc. as a result of the above described work will be paid 
by the permit holder.    

 A copy of the permit must be kept at the job location. 

 Street cuts and sidewalks should be completely repaired in an expedient manner.    

a. Cuts must be filled with stable material (asphalt, concrete or approved equal) to 
within 1 ½ inches of finished grade within 3 days of initial work.    

b. Finished roadway surfaces, sidewalks and curbs must be restored within 30 days of 
initial work. 

 If circumstances justify, the Director of Transportation may grant an extension of these 
time requirements. 

 
13.0 Use and Protection of Property  

 Rights-or-Way. 

a. Rights-of-way of streets may not be used for private or commercial purposes without 
an approved encroachment agreement. approved by City Council.  

b. The area to which the driveway provides access shall be sufficiently large to store 
any vehicles using the driveway completely off the right-of-way and must be of 
sufficient size to allow the necessary function to be carried out completely on private 
property. This includes vehicle queues from drive-through and curb side services. 

 Raised Curbing. 

a. Except for driveway approaches to single family residences, a six (6) inch raised curb 
shall be constructed a minimum distance of three (3) feet behind the street right-of-
way line in the vicinity of: 
1. street corners,  
2. sidewalk safety zones,  
3. entrance driveways and other points. 

b.  Construction of curbing should be completed in such a manner as to: 
1. prevent vehicles from crossing sidewalks other than by means of a driveway as 

herein prescribed,  
2. prevent vehicular overhang on the right-of-way and  
3. provide for proper drainage and control of water on private property. 

 Parking areas and loading areas. 

a. Parking and loading areas shall be constructed, marked, signed, and properly curbed 



 CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL
  
1.0     DRIVEWAYS 
 

Driveway- 22 - Standards 

so that all movements to park and un-park, and load and unload will take place back 
of or within property lines.   

b. In the central business area, the Director of Transportation is hereby granted the 
authority to waive requirements set forth in this subsection after all engineering 
investigation and provided the following conditions are present: 
1. The area is within the parking exempt area of the city; 
2. The waiver requested arises from peculiar physical conditions not ordinarily 

existing in other areas of the city; 
3. Due to the nature or operation of the business on the applicant’s property the 

requirements of the above causes unnecessary hardship; 
4. The waiver requested is not against the public interest, safety, convenience, and 

general welfare; and 
5. The granting of the waiver will not adversely affect the rights of adjacent property 

owners. 
 Except as may be provided for under the Concord City Code, Part II, Chapter 580, Traffic 

and VehiclesStreets, Sidewalks, and Other Public Places, no part of the right-of-way or the 
area between the curb or edge of pavement and the property line shall be used to place 
private signs, fences, wall post lights, or any other item.  All such items shall be placed on 
private property in such a manner as not to interfere with vehicular or pedestrian traffic or 
visibility. 

14.0 Protecting the public from injury 

 Whenever any person or firm shall do or undertake any of the items set forth in this article 
it shall be the duty of such person(s) to protect from harm and damage all persons or 
vehicles which may be using any street, sidewalk, right-of-way or other public area where 
such work is in progress.  

 All persons or firms shall erect and maintain suitable barricades, signs, lights, flares and 
other appropriate warning devices at the proper locations where such work is in progress 
in accordance with the current policy and regulations for street construction and 
maintenance operations within the City of Concord, as established by the Director of 
Streets and Traffic Engineering and in accordance with the Manual on Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices. 

 Permits for driveway construction can only be issued to persons who are properly licensed 
and bonded to work within the street or highway right-of-way. 

 The city’s intent is to further increase safety and decrease congestion along specified major 
thoroughfares.  In order to accomplish these objectives, certain goals have been identified.  
These goals are: 

a. To prohibit driveways within a certain distance of intersecting streets unless alternate 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-23  

access is not available, 
b. To decrease the number of driveways along major thoroughfares, and 
c. To increase the distance between adjacent driveways along major thoroughfares. 
 

16.0 15.0 Non-Residential and Multi-family Development 
 
 
156.1 Parking Aisle and Space Dimensions  
 

Minimum dimensions of standard parking spaces (other than compact car spaces and 
handicap spaces) and maneuvering area shall be as set forth in 10.3-1 below. 
(a)Handicapped Spaces  
a. AccessibleHandicapped parking spaces shall be a minimum of 13 feet by 18 feet 

for a single non-van space  (8 feet in width in addition to a 5 foot access aisle); a 
minimum of 16 feet by 18 feet for a single van space  (8eight feet in width in 
addition to an 8eight foot access aisle, or 11 feet in width in addition to a 5 foot 
access aisle); or 24 feet by 18 feet for a double van space, or a non-van and van 
double space (8eight feet in width for each space with an eight foot access aisle 
between spaces).  Accessible Pparking spaces for handicapped or disabled persons 
shall comply with the N.C. Accessibility Code (do we have this to insert).  

(b)Compact Car Spaces  
b. Compact Car Spaces are only permitted in This section shall apply only to parking 

facilities provding 100 spaces or more. Not more than 20 percent of the off-street 
parking spaces required by this Section shall be designed as compact car parking 
spaces.  Each compact car parking space shall be a minimum of eight feet wide 
and 16 feet long.  Compact car parking spaces shall be clearly marked or posted 
for “Compact Cars Only.”  All other provisions of this Article relating to off-street 
parking requirements shall be met. 

 



 CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL
  
1.0     DRIVEWAYS 
 

Driveway- 24 - Standards 

 
  



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
DRIVEWAYS  1.0  Purpose 
 

 D-25  

16.2 Overhang Protection  
Wheel or bumper guards or curbing shall be provided, located and arranged so that no part 
of any parked vehicle will extend beyond the boundaries of the parking space and into a 
pedestrian crossing area. 
Except where a wall is constructed, a minimum six inch high vertical concrete curb (or 
individual bumper guard) shall be constructed or installed so that no part of a vehicle 
extends beyond the property line. 

16.3 Striping Required  
Off-street parking areas, as required by this Ordinance, shall be striped in accordance with 
the dimensions as set forth in this § 10.3. Standard DRV-121, and shall be 4” white paint. 

16.4 Sight Triangles  
Sight Triangles for intersections of driveways and public streets shall be regulated in 
accordance with Article 10 and the City’s Technical Standards Manual. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



williamsjm
Text Box





 
 

 

City of Concord 

Technical Standards Manual 

 

 

Article II  

Streets and Pedestrian Paths 

Appendix B 

 

 

PE Certification for Subdivisions and Streets 

 

  

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS AND PEDESTRIAN PATHS                                                                                               APPENDIX B 

1 
 

PE Certification for Subdivisions and Streets 
 

 
Subdivision:  Phase / Map:  

 
Street(s):  Length:  

  Length:  
  Length:  
  Length:  
  Length:  
  Length:  
  Length:  
  Length:  

 
 

A final inspection of the streets, and complete storm drainage system for the above referenced subdivision 
has been performed by ____________________________. I have reviewed the inspection data and have 
determined that all public infrastructure has been constructed in accordance with the design drawings 
approved by Cabarrus County and the City of Concord on _____________ and all subsequent revisions. 
My observations and testing indicate the subgrade, base, and pavement have been constructed in 
accordance with the guidelines established by the City of Concord, as verified by the attached test results. 

 

     

Signature 
 

 Print Name  Date 

     
NC PE #     

   
   
   
   
   
   
   
  Seal 

 

     

   

 

Received by City of Concord:  
 (initials) 
Date:   

 

PE Certification for Subdivisions and Streets – Checklist 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS AND PEDESTRIAN PATHS                                                                                               APPENDIX B 

2 
 

TYPICAL SECTION 

_____ - Roadway has been constructed in the center of the right of way. 
_____ - Normal crown and/or superelevation have been properly established. 
_____ - Curb & gutter and/or ditches have been constructed properly with no standing water. 
_____ - Backfill of all curb & gutter / sidewalk properly placed and compacted. 
_____ - All slopes have been properly graded. 
_____ - Street Trees have been installed in accordance with approved plan. 

ROADWAY CONSTRUCTION 

_____ - Subgrade density tested at minimum of every 200 LF, minimum of 3 tests per street, and 2 tests in each cul-
de-sac. First 8” of subgrade compacted to at least 100% of that obtained by compacting a sample of the 
material in accordance with AASHTO T 99 as modified by NCDOT indicated for each test as shown in 
attached soil compaction reports. 

_____ -  Subgrade has been proof rolled over the entire section. (pass/fail data & remarks included) 
_____ -  Stone depth verified at 1 location per station (data included). Minimum design depth must be 

achieved over the entire roadway section. 
_____ -  Stone density tested at minimum of every 200 LF, minimum of 3 tests per street, and 2 tests in each cul-de-

sac. Stone base compacted to at least 100% of maximum density obtainable with the Modified Proctor Test 
(AASHTO-T180) indicated for each test as shown in attached stone compaction reports. 

_____ -  Stone base has been proof rolled over the entire section. (Pass/fail data & remarks included) 
_____ -  Prime Coat applied when/where needed. 
_____ - Asphalt course(s) was inspected for failures and appropriate repairs made prior to placement of each 

successive course. 
_____ - Tack Coats were applied between each layer of asphalt. 

PAVEMENT PLACEMENT 

_____ - Asphalt placement temperatures & mix designs verified. 
_____ -  Each asphalt course was tested for density at a minimum of 90% of the maximum specific gravity per 

attached results reports.  
_____ - Pavement Core Results Report (attached) indicates the core results meet the current minimum design 

standards per the City of Concord Technical Standards. Core samples shall be taken at 500’ intervals 
(minimum of 1 core per street block), and no more than 4.0’ feet from the centerline of the street.  

DRAINAGE 

_____ - All materials are approved for use. (NCDOT stamp, etc.) 
_____ -  All grates/frames/hoods are free of damage and of domestic origin. 
_____ -  Masonry drainage structures have been properly constructed – steps installed, inverts poured, pipes 

cut and grouted, backfill compacted, and free of debris. 
_____ - All pipe inlets, outlets, and channels are properly stabilized and free of erosion. 
_____ - Pipes have been installed with proper cover and slope. 
_____ - Pipe sizes are correct. (per plans)  

TRAFFIC CONTROL 

_____ - All traffic control signs are installed in locations per approved plans and are free of damage. 
_____ -  All signs comply with MUTCD requirements. 
_____ -  Encroachment agreement has been approved for all signs with decorative treatments. 

 
 

    

Signature     

     
NC PE #     

    
Print Name   Seal 

 



 
 

 

City of Concord 

Technical Standards Manual 

 

 

Article II  

Streets and Pedestrian Paths 

Appendix A 

 

 

Application for New Street 
Maintenance Acceptance 

  

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS AND PEDESTRIAN PATHS                                                                                               APPENDIX A 

 
 

Application for Street Maintenance Acceptance 
 
I hereby certify, as the owner, that to the best of my knowledge the improvements in the 
______________________ subdivision have been constructed in accordance with approved 
plans and are shown on a record map filed in the Cabarrus County Register of Deeds office. Said 
map is recorded as Book # __________ Page(s)_____________.  All work conforms to the 
construction standards of the City of Concord development ordinance and technical standards. 

I, therefore, request that the City of Concord consider the following streets in the 
__________________________ subdivision for maintenance acceptance.  I understand that 
acceptance of said streets shall be made only by the City of Concord City Council in accordance 
with the City’s street acceptance standards. 

Subdivision:  Phase / 
Map: 

 

 
Street To From Length 

    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

Attach additional sheets as needed 
 

The Final Surface Lift of asphalt was installed on: _______________________ 
        Date 

PE Certification (Appendix B), Pavement Core Results Report, and applicable materials testing, 
and inspection data are attached. 

     

Signature 
 

 Print Name  Date 

     
  Phone Number   
   

Address   
   
 Received by City of 
Concord: 

 

 (initials) 
Date:   

 



 
 

 

City of Concord 

Technical Standards Manual 

 

 

Article II  

Streets and Pedestrian Paths 

Appendix C 

 

 

Private Street Maintenance 
Acceptance Petition 

  

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS AND PEDESTRIAN PATHS                                                                                               APPENDIX C 

 
 

Private Street Maintenance Acceptance Petition 
 
I _______________________________, being a property owner along the identified street 
segment(s), agree to be the main contact to the City in regards to this Petition.  

There are a total of ___________ properties along the street segment(s) listed on the Private 
Street Maintenance Acceptance Form.  There are ________ valid signatures on the petition form, 
which represent __________ % of the properties along the identified street segment(s). 

I certify, to the best of my knowledge, the signatures on the petition form are those of the 
property owners of record, that they are valid, and that only one signature per property has been 
considered in the above percentage. 

 

Number of petition sheets attached: ___________ 

 

___________________________ 

Print Name 

_____________________________   

_____________________________   

Address 

_____________________________ 

Phone Number 

_____________________________ 

Email Address 

 

___________________________  Date: ____________________ 

Signature of Applicant 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CONCORD TECHNICAL STANDARDS MANUAL  
STREETS AND PEDESTRIAN PATHS                                                                                               APPENDIX C 

 
 

Private Street Maintenance Acceptance Petition 
 
We the undersigned, petition the City of Concord to accept the below identified street segment(s) 
for City maintenance. 
 
STREET   FROM    TO      
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
________________________________________________________________________ 

Support from 75% of the property owners (one per property) along each street segment is required 
for the street acceptance request to move forward in the approval process. 

By signing below I certify that I support the request for the above street segment(s) to 
be accepted into the City’s public street network, and that I have read and 

understand Section 15, Article II of the City’s Technical Standards Manual in 
regards to Public Street Acceptance. 

 
PROPERTY OWNER 

PRINTED NAME & SIGNATURE 

 
ADDRESS 

 
TELEPHONE # 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

This sheet may be duplicated as needed. 



CITY OF CONCORD
MANUAL OF STANDARD DETAILS

MARCH 2022





MINIMUM DRIVEWAY SEPARATION

CORRESPONDING DIST. FROM DETAIL SHEETS

D C

FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION
(STREET A)

SEPARATION BETWEEN
DRIVEWAYS1 (FEET)

SEPARATION BETWEEN
DRIVEWAY & STREET2 (FEET)

Major Thoroughfare

Non-Res. & Multi-Family 400 250

Single-Family Detached 150 250

Minor Thoroughfare

Non-Res. & Multi-Family 400 250

Single-Family Detached 150 250

Major Collector

Non-Res. & Multi-Family 120 120

Single-Family Detached 120 120

Minor Collector

Non-Res. & Multi-Family 50 60

Single-Family Detached 30 30

Local Street (Inc. Alleys)

Non-Res. & Multi-Family 50 60

Single-Family Detached 30 30

Single-Family Attached 10 30

1 Distance is measured from the closest edge to the closest edge.

2 Distance is measured from closest edge of the driveway to the closest parallel edge of the street
right-of-way. Minimum separation between Driveways and Streets should be equal to the number shown in
the table, the minimum distance required to ensure no portion of a driveway falls within a sight triangle, or
the minimum stem length required along entrances to proposed developments. The greatest distance will
apply.

MINIMUM STEM LENGTHS

CLASSIFICATION OF
PERPENDICULAR STREET

L - MINIMUM STEM
LENGTH (FEET)

MAJOR THROUGHFARE 125

MINOR THROUGHFARE 100

MAJOR COLLECTOR 75

MINOR COLLECTOR

Non-Residential
& Multi-Family 70

Single Family
Residential

60

LOCAL STREET (INC. ALLEYS) 50

MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM ACCESS WIDTHS

DRIVEWAY TYPES

W - DRIVEWAY WIDTH
(FEET)

F - FLARE / R-RADIUS
(FEET)

MIN. MAX. MIN. MAX.

Res. Single-Family (Detached) 12 20 1 3

Res. Multi-Family 24 36 5 10

Comm./Industrial (two-way) 24 36 10 30

Comm./Industrial (one-way) 15 20 10 30

Private Street Entrance 24 48 10* 30*

Street Type Driveway 24 36 10* 30*

*Radius only

SIDE CLEARANCE

LAND USE
S

MINIMUM SIDE CLEARANCE

Single-Family
Residential Uses

5 Feet

All Other Uses 10 Feet









































































KEY

D R r
0'-2.9' 10'-0" 4'-0"

3'-7.9' 25'-0" 19'-0"

8'+ 50'-0" 44'-0"





GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SPECIFICATIONS

TYPICAL TEST
TENSILE STRENGTH 200 ASTM D4632-86

ELONGATION AT Break, % 15 ASTM D4632

PUNCTURE STENGTH, LBS.
100 ASTM D0751

MULLEN BURST, PSI 400 ASTM D0751/3786

TRAPEZOID TEAR, LBS. 75 ASTM D4533































FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
WILL EXTEND
THIS STREET







   
 
 

                                                                                                        Staff Report             
 Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
DATE:   April 19, 2022 
 
CASE: TA-05-22 Text Amendment (8.1.8 Use Table) 
 
PREPARED BY: Kevin Ashley, AICP –Deputy Planning Director 
  
BACKGROUND 
 
Staff is proposing two minor revisions to the permitted use table in the Concord 
Development Ordinance (8.1.8).   These changes are summarized below. 
 

1.  Distribution and Warehouse Uses in Light Industrial (I-1):  City Council, 
after working with Cabarrus County Economic Development and based on 
concerns expressed by industrial developers, recently changed the sewer 
allocation policy to allow speculative industrial uses of less than 75,000 
square feet to request allocation if they use less than 7,500 gallons per day.   
This 75,000 sf threshold does not traditionally support large scale 
distribution.  

 
This amendment allows warehouse/distribution less than 75,000 square 
feet in Light Industrial (I-1) with specific standards (PS) as shown in F. 
below, but a special use permit would not be required.   For 
warehouse/distribution greater than 75,000 of floor area, a special use 
permit and compliance with the standards (SS) would still be required. 
 
Buildings less than 75,000 sf are usually occupied by small to medium size 
companies that provide jobs as well as support to larger industries.      

 



   
 
 

 

 
The use “electronic shopping, mail order house” is proposed to be removed from 
the use table as a matter of eliminating confusion. 
 

2. Water Treatment Plants in O-I, C-1 and I-1:  The City has been planning 
an expansion of the Hillgrove Water Treatment plant at 55 Palaside Drive 
NE for several years.   The plant is zoned O-I Office Institutional.  While 
researching the acquisition of an adjacent parcel on Arbor Street (which is 
zoned C-1 Neighborhood Business) it was discovered that such facilities 
are not permissible in either district (nor in I-1). 
 
A review of the previous zoning ordinance (prior to 2000) indicates that 
Hillgrove and similar facilities were permitted under the broad category of 
“public utility substations” in the O-I and B-2 (predecessor to C-1) zoning 
districts.   It appears that when the current version of the CDO was adopted 
in the early 2000s, “water treatment plants” and other utilities were 
separated from the “public utility substation” category and omitted from the 
use chart in O-I, C-1 and I-1.   O-I and C-1 zoning permits a natural gas 
distribution facility, so it appears reasonable to allow the use in O-I and C-1 
(as well as I-1).   This corrective change would make the treatment plant a 
conforming use and would allow the plant expansion to occur in a 
conforming manner.  
 



   
 
 

The proposed change is illustrated in the chart below. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The amendment is in approval form and at the Commission’s concurrence, it may 
be referred to Council for public hearing. 
 


	Agenda
	Z(CD)-34-21 (A)
	Z(CD)-07-21
	TA-12-21
	TA-03-22
	TA-05-22



